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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)

Chen

Wei (Vice President)

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Tak Chun
Xu Jinghong

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady)
Wong Tak Chun
Xu Jinghong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady)
Wong Tak Chun
Xu Jinghong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Li Yi Feng (Chairman)
Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Tak Chun

Xu Jinghong

Notes:
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With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Ma Jun has resigned as an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, and ceased to
act an authorized representative of the Company.

With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Li Vi Feng has been re-designated as an
executive Director and has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer and an authorized representative of the Company.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Dr. Wang Yucan has resigned as a non-
executive Director.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David has resigned
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Board.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Wong Tak Chun has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Board, in replacement of Mr. Chau Shing Yim David.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Li Yi Feng
Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin

AUDITORS
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Bermuda Law
Appleby

As to Hong Kong Law
lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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©) With effect from 1 April 2019, Mr. Cheung Ting Kin has resigned as the  (6)
company secretary and has ceased to act as an authorized representative of the
Company.

MEERER - T-NFOA-BEZER
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(7)  With effect from 1 April 2019, Mr. Ho Kin Cheong Kelvin has been appointed  (7)
as the chief financial officer, the company secretary and an authorized
representative of the Company.
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REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suite 506, ICBC Tower
3 Garden Road, Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation
China Merchants Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Bank of China

Bank of Changsha

Bank of Communications

China Minsheng Bank

Huarong Xiangjiang Bank

Bank of QinHuangDao

Postal Savings Bank of China

Ningxia Helan Huishang Village Town Bank Co., Ltd*
Agricultural Bank of China

WEBSITE

www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com

STOCK CODE
313

* For identification purposes only
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Property Portfolio

IESE IS

DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES -
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

BRRREVE-FEEZYX

Gross
Floor Area
Attributable ~ Site Area (included  Expected
Number Item Name Location Type of Property  Portion Interest  (Total Site Area) underground) ~ Completion Date Lease Term
(sq.m)
BEEE BEER R
R HEER HEME nEER - EfhEE (BHEEER) (B#T) RHEH HEHR
(FAX)
1 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 483.65 mu 386,923 Medium-term
RORKE District, Tengfei Village, ~ %% BEE (322,435.9 sq.m) 8
Magjaohe Village, 483,658
Dongma (322,435.9F 5 3)
ROZHERAN
BRIN REAE
11 Commercial North Portion 84,782 Completed
AEE BRI
1.2 Commercial South Portion 302,141 June 2020
AXEE “TCTERA
2 Changsha Outlets Changsha, Wangcheng Residential, Residential Portion 100% 1,104.18 mu 1,191,751 N/A
RORE District, Tengfei Village, Commercial RZE (736,117.1 sq.m) TER
Magjiaohe Village, iz HE 1,104.188
Dongma (736,171 5K)
ROEHERRR
2.1 Residential Phase 1 100,161 Completed and delivered
TE-5 BRIFRA
22 Residential Phase 2 402,779 Partially completed and
FE-H delivered
PARIERM
2.3 Residential Phase 3 294,898 June 2020
(including the required “Z-%%5AR
education facilties)
GE=5
(BERHERIE)
24 Residential Phase 4 393,913 September 2022
FEm “ZZZENR
3 Yinchuan Project West of China National Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 80.95 mu 90,899 Medium-term
#JIER Highway 109, DeSheng &% HEE (53,967.0 sq.m) i
Industrial Park* (8 T 80.958
#EE), Yinchuan City, (53,967.0F A %)
Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region, the PRC
PEEEEREARERIT
EBTXER109EER
31 Commercial Phase 1 80,262  Completed
x4 BRI
3.2 Commercial Phase 2 - 10,637 Completed
Expansion project BRI
BE-H-BEIR
TE-NWFFR HHPEZRERAF 05



Number  Item Name

544

4.1

42

43

o

5.1

o

-

Location
BERER WENE
Yinchuan Project West of China National

#IEE Highway 109, DeSheng
Industrial Park* (R T
#EE), Yinchuan City,
Ningxia Hui Autonomous
Region, the PRC

FEHEERREREBR)IT
BEIXEE109EER

Qinhuangdao Project ~ Qinhuangdao Municipality,
28EEfF Beidaihe New District,
Changli County, Central
Golden Coast
ZEETLBIHESRA
EREED

Changchun Project

REER

Xingfu Village Sheling Street
Shuangyang District
Changchun City Jilin
Province the PRC

PEERERETERE
EREEREN

Huailai Wineries

BREH

Zhangjiakou, Huailai
County, Sangyuan Town,
Zhangguanying Village,
Xinxiang Ling Village
Northwest

REATHERGREE
REENTBHANAL

Type of Property

nEEY

Residential,
Commercial

£z BE

Residential,
Commercial

2 B

Residential,
Commercial

£z BE

Industrial (small
private wine
estate)

I%
(MEAAER)

Portion

bl

Residential Portion
fEE

Residential Phase 1
TE-H

Residential Phase 2
FE-H

Residential Phase 3
FE=8

Whole Portion
4]

Phase 1 (including the
Exhibit Center and
excluding D section)

—H(BRRPL
T&DR )

Whole Portion
4}

Phase 1
-8

Whole Portion
)

Gross

Floor Area
Attributable  Site Area (included
Interest  (Total Site Area) underground)
(sq.m)
BEEE BEER
EfER (SELER) (B%T)
(FAx)
100% 119.05 mu 221,118
(79,365.0 sg.m)
119.058
(79,365.0% 71 %)
33,672
45,788
141,658
100% 1,077 mu 500,899
(717,955 sq.m)
1,0778
(717,955% 75 K)
84,130
42% 4428 mu 573,504
(295,368 sq.m)
442,88
(295,368 3K
105,102
50% 156.06 mu 104,038
(104,038 sg.m)
156068
(104,038%F 5 3K)

Expected
Completion Date Lease Term
Bt
ZHEE HEHR
N/A
TER
Completed and delivered
in June 2019
BEIR
ZE-NERARM
Completed and delivered
in June 2019
BRIk
“F-NERARN
September 2021
“TZ-%5NR
Medium-term
ki
Main part completed
FETERT
Medium-term
H
September 2019
“E-NENR
To be confirmed Medium-term
HERR ki



The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Richly Field
China Development Limited (the “Company”) hereby present the audited
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Year”).

The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such as
tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus), development
of high-end residential properties as well as property management.

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue from sales of properties of
approximately HK$235,062,000, gross rental income of approximately
HK$28,743,000 and management fee income of approximately
HK$20,379,000, mainly attributable to the Changsha Outlets Project,
which is a comprehensive project comprising the “Globe Outlets”
(commercial) and “Outlets Town” (residential) developed by the Group in
Changsha, Hunan Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
and the JeShing European City Project which is a comprehensive project
comprising “BM1&", “RE®ZE” and “KF¥#H" (commercial) and Jin
Sheng Yue Jing (residential) developed by the Group in Yinchuan, Ningxia
Hui Autonomous Region, the PRC, together with the Qinhuangdao
Venice-the City of Water Outsets Project which is a comprehensive
project developed by the Group in BeiDaiHe new district, Qinhuangdao,
Hebei, the PRC, all together.

As for financing aspect, the Group entered into a loan agreement with
a related party, MR EERFEBREMSLEEEFR AT, in relation
to a loan facility in December 2016. With a total principal amount of
RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$349,740,000) for a
term of 3 years at interest rates ranging from of 8.5%-9.5% per annum
which was secured by pledging some of the Group’s assets (the “Other
Loan 1”). The Other Loan 1 had been fully utilised as at 31 March 2019.
During the Year, the Group had entered into an extension agreement to
extend the repayment date to December 2020.
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During the Year, the Group entered into a renewal loan agreement with
related parties, JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited* (& 8 &
¥KRESEAERRNF), EREF-REIREEFRALAE and IHE
#A AL A BR A 7] in relation to a loan facility in the total principal amount
of RMB301,800,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$351,838,000) for
a term of 21 months at an interest rate range of 5.7%-6.19% per annum
which was secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s assets (the
“Other Loan 2”), which had been fully utilised as at 31 March 2019. The
maturity dates of the Other Loan 2 has been extended to 31 December
2020.

In 2017, the Group entered into loan agreements with a bank and a
financial institution ZEFh (R EY) 12 & IR B R 2 ) in relation to the loan
facility in the total principal amount of RMB950,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,107,510,000) for a term of 5 years at an interest rate
range of 8%-10% per annum which was secured by the pledge of certain
of the Group’s assets (the “Other Loan 3”), which had been utilised
as at 31 March 2019. As at 31 March 2019, the Group breached the
repayment terms of which RMB95,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$110,751,000) was in default since December 2018. Pursuant to
the terms of the loan agreement, the bank had a discretionary right
to demand immediate full repayment of the outstanding principal of
RMB950,000,000 together with any unpaid interest. The Directors had
commenced negotiation of the repayment terms of the loan with the
relevant bank since then. Up to the date of this report, those negotiations
are still in progress and had not been concluded. However, the Group
had obtained an indication from the bank that the aggregate principal
and interest will be extended to June 2022. The Directors are confident
that their negotiations with the lender will ultimately reach a successful
conclusion.

During the Year, the Group entered into a revolving loan facility agreement
with JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited, in relation to an
unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,165,800,000) for a term of 21
months at an interest rate of 5% per annum (the “Other Loan 4”), and
RMB52,765,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$61,513,000) had been
utilised as at 31 March 2019. The maturity date of such revolving loan
facility has been extended to 31 December 2020.
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During the Year, the Group entered a supplemental loan agreement with
a financial institution, FEIZEgNE EERRMHD AR A RNMEE 5N F.
The outstanding principal amount of RMB270,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$314,766,000) for an extension of 2 years at an interest
rate range of 11%-11.5% per annum which was secured by the pledge
of certain of the Group’s assets (the “Other Loan 5”), had been utilised
as at 31 March 2019. Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a
supplemental agreement of further extension to June 2022 was obtained.

Subsequent to the expiry of conversion rights on 31 December 2017,
convertible notes previously issued to a former substantial shareholder
with the carrying amount of approximately HK$93,471,000 was still
outstanding as of 31 March 2019. During the year ended 31 March
2019, the Group have taken proactive actions to liaise with the notes
holder and his authorized representative in relation to the settlement of
the outstanding principal and accrued interest of notes payable. In July
2018, the Company proposed to the notes holder to extend the maturity
date to September 2018 but no formal replied was heard to confirm the
notes holder’s acceptance. On 15 August 2018, the Group has repaid
RMB3,000,000 to the notes holder in relation to the notes payable.
During December 2018, the Group was involved in another discussion
with the notes holder and his legal advisor in relation to a settlement
arrangement for the full settlement of the outstanding principal and
accrued interest of notes payable. However, such negotiation has not
been finalized and the Group is still endeavouring to reach a mutually
agreeable settlement arrangement with the notes holder and his legal
advisor.

These helped the Group to replenish cash flow.
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Changsha Outlets Project

As the first grand project of the Group, the Outlets Project, which is
located in Changsha Wangcheng National Economic and Technological
Development Zone, pioneered in launching the special “residential +
commercial” product mix, with an aim to build its market brand as a
featured real estate developer by providing comprehensive products
catering to every daily needs. The project covers an area of 1,500 mu,
which is planned to be developed into 500 mu of commercial space and
1,000 mu of residential space respectively. For the residential portion
“Outlets Town”, the Company makes a briliant move by capitalising on
the indigenous ecology of the wetland park where the project locates.
Specially designed as a high-class low-density residential community in
Spanish style, the project is surrounded with flowing water designed to
nourish residents’ minds with quality lifestyle.

Changsha Residential Project — Outlets Town and Outlets City
Properties of the project primarily include high-quality detached and
semi-detached houses, townhouses, bungalows and high-rise buildings
surrounded by verdant plants along with well-designed streams and
bridges, with a super-low plot ratio. After years of development, Outlets
Town has taken shape and is ready to rise as a grant community. It
outperforms other nearby property projects in terms of appearance,
quality, unit layout and comfort. In particular, the greenery and landscape
design is the highlight of the project, which offers five theme gardens
and a green space ratio of 40%, creating abundant oxygen by plenty of
plants.

During the Year, the Group commenced new round of development
of Qutlets Town under the brand-new promotion name of “Outlets
City”. The planned gross floor area of the new round of development is
approximately 240,000 sg.m., planned to be developed into 37 high-
quality 10/11-storey slab-type bungalows and one separate building for
a bilingual kindergarten. The Group successfully obtained the planning
permit for the new development on 30 May 2018, and obtained the
construction work commencement permit on 13 September 2018.
While handling the preconstruction procedures, the Group also propelled
construction progress of the project. On 20 December 2018, the Group
obtained pre-sale permits for the first five buildings, and obtained pre-
sale permit for another building on 15 February 2019. As at the date of
this report, the Group has successfully obtained pre-sale permits for four
more buildings on 12 June 2019. Meanwhile, the Group also made great
efforts to push forward the construction progress of other buildings to
achieve rolling development.
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Furthermore, Wangcheng Nanya School (BB 24 ) , a nine-year
compulsory education school that will settle in the project, has obtained
the construction work planning permit on 8 January 2019 and has
completed the review and filing procedures for the construction drawing
on 3 April 2019. Currently, the Group is coordinating with the competent
government authorities to carry out quality and safety inspection, so as to
push ahead the construction progress, aiming to realise official enrollment
in September 2019. Meanwhile, the marketing team is sparing no effort
in securing potential customers and sales, and maintaining constant and
sound cooperation with major media partners to push information about
the Company’s products on print media, outdoor media, radio stations
and We-Media platforms from time to time to ensure that customers stay
up-to-date with the Company’s latest marketing activities.

The properties for sale were sold out as soon as they were launched
through a pre-sale arrangement and received overwhelming response
from the market, which was attributable to the favourable advantages of
Outlets City: as to the geographical location, the project is located in the
district where Changsha West High-speed Railway Station is to be built
as proposed in the development plan of Changsha Wangcheng National
Economic and Technological Development Zone, which is viewed as
the new core development area of Changsha City and certainly means
great potential for development; on the transportation front, the “six-in-
one” transportation mode has formed a sound and efficient transportation
network, providing convenient traffic access; from the auxiliary facilities
perspective, the Globe Outlets with an area of 500 mu is located on the
north of the project, providing not only quality amenities and also offering
an opportunity for value appreciation driven by the commercial street; and
as to educational resources, Nanya School operated by Yale-China ( 7
), an education group with a history of one hundred years, provides
sophisticated education concept, outstanding team of teachers and
excellent school spirit, enabling children to receive first-class education
just at home. In addition, with unique geographical advantages, the
project is adjacent to the Magiaohe Wetland Park ( &#& 21 A E )
which takes a site area of 150,000 sg.m., offering the residents an
exclusive view of spectacular natural scenery. Five theme gardens are
planned to be developed within Outlets City which combines the strong
essence of the Rhine and the functionality of dwelling and living, creating
abundant oxygen by plenty of plants. The project offers bungalows at
the unit price of over RMB5,000 per square meter with the minimal down
payment of RMB128,000, which is very favourable in Changsha City and
caters to the needs of buyers with rigid demand. As the new supply of
properties is to be launched soon, and driven by the commencement of
operation of Changsha Metro Line 4, the project is expected to embrace
new development opportunities.
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Changsha Property Management Services

As a real estate developer with a strong sense of social responsibility,
and to further diversify and integrate the Group’s businesses, on 20 April
2011, the Company established Changsha Richly Field Outlets Property
Management Limited* (R #HRBEMEEIEBMRAF]) as a wholly-
owned subsidiary to provide professional property management services
for the Changsha Outlets Project which has been put in operation. In
order to ensure service quality and enhance service awareness of staff,
the Group organised professional training on manners and etiquette, fire
safety, operational safety, and engineering and maintenance from time
to time. As a result, employees are able to improve their professional
capabilities and service quality and help property owners solve their
problems on a timely basis to effectively eliminate the concerns of
owners and business partners. In addition, the Group intends to develop
professional and duplicable service teams through actual practice, with
an aim of applying effective property management models to other
project sectors of the Group that are about to be put into operation.
In May 2018, the Group established a property branch company in
Qinhuangdao to provide mature and reliable property services for
Qinhuangdao Project. The well-established community accompanied by
excellent property management service has strengthened the reputation
of the Group as an integrated property developer.

Changsha Commercial Properties

During the reporting period, Globe Outlets, the commercial complex in
the Changsha Outlets Project with a developed area of nearly 100,000
sg.m., has attracted numbers of loyal partners and customers by
providing European and American-style block-type shopping experience,
spacious green parks with perfect combination of greenery landscape
and natural scenery, a portfolio of domestic and internationally renowned
brands, sound amenities as well as favourable and flexible business
terms. Globe Outlets recorded increase in sales and achieved constant
improvement in operation management since the commencement
of operation in 2014, developing an increasingly strong business
atmosphere and establishing its own brand awareness. At the same
time, residential projects nearby have become more appealing to buyers
due to increase in commercial value, which in turn drove up sales of our
residential projects, and also increased popularity of the Group’s projects
and secured purchasing power.
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With respect to business development, the business development team
of the Group participated in external learning from time to time to study
the success of professional operation teams. Through learning other
operators’ strengths to enhance our own projects, the team customized
business development targets and strategies based on local conditions
suitable for our own demands, with the view of offering unique and
outstanding products. In addition, through effective market research and
systematic analysis on historical sales, the Group combined the spending
power analysis of the target customers of the Group to constantly adjust,
supplement and optimise the brand portfolio with an aim of maximizing
profit with the best brand portfolio. In particular, the Group placed great
importance to introducing strategic partners. It sought to attract key
brands with cooperative terms that brought mutual benefits, expecting to
boost overall sales by contribution of those key brands which was able
to secure steady visits. The Group also valued the cooperation after our
brand partners settled in. For example, it supported brand owners in staff
recruitment, venue leasing and event planning, so that they could launch
large-scale promotion campaign during major holidays and festivals or
in connection with social hot spots. Through such initiatives, the Group
not only established stable and healthy cooperation with brand owners,
but also garnered their trust and recommendation for future business
solicitation.
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Despite the challenges faced by the traditional retail industry with the
emergence of online shopping trend, the real economy is expected to
gain a foothold in the fierce e-commerce competition due to our social
attribute. In view of this, during the reporting period, Global Outlets
continued to give priority to the introduction of participation- and
experience-based offerings such as chain kindergartens, supermarkets,
gymnasium, temperature-controlled indoor swimming pool and children’s
water park to diversify the product portfolio instead of focusing greatly on
fashion retail segment and increase customers seeking for experience-
emphasized visits, so as to boost popularity of the mall. During the
reporting period, Global Outlets joined hands with the Tourism Bureau
under the government of Wangcheng District to create a demonstration
district with distinct tourism feature — Wangcheng Leifeng Tourism Spot
(“BH E 8 IR P2 B UL") by establishing the self-driving tour service
system, with an aim to develop Global Outlets into a tourism destination
of the district by leveraging on the government resources. Globe
Outlets, being the business segment that continuously replenishes
cash flow of the Group, is expected to drive the sales of commercial
and residential properties and Latitude through promotion activities,
thereby strengthening the brand feature of “residential + commercial” of
the Group. On the marketing front, the Group utilized the location and
geographical advantages that were incomparable to other commercial
projects in a flexible manner. Taking advantage of the unique geographical
location, openness and independence of Globe Outlets, the Group
organised a string of large-scale promotional cooperation activities
highlighting the special features of Globe Outlets such as “All-people
Marathon Race of Global Outlets (IR R &R B RALLE) ", “Children’s
Balance Car Parent-child Competition ( 52 & F # # # F+ Ph B &) 7,
“Light and Food Show (& AE X ERET) ", “Al-people Battleground
Mobile Game Contest (£ R# X F -2 X&) ", “Fourth Anniversary
of Globe Outlets (3R BRE MU EFJEE ) ”, “Joining Fuwa in the Lantern
Festival Carnival (JTE RER"BE) ", “3.15 Campaign on the Theme
of ‘Integrity and Win-win’ (3.15E B E X T X HmAKK')” and “Art
Performance Hosted by Children’s Art School (4R EK K &) ”, and,
through which, the Group offered a unique shopping experience only
available in Globe Outlets by the comprehensive integration of internal
and external marketing resources.
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Qinhuangdao Venice-City of Water Outlets Project

Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited* (2= £ & B 45 3 Hy
BEAR AT has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group as a result of the acquisition of King Future Limited. Developed by
the company and located in the core area of International Healthy City,
Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, the Qinhuangdao Venice-City of
Water Outlets Project is positioned as a large coastal shopping, tourism
and healthcare resort complex with outlets commerce as the major
operation, integrated with high-end hot spring resort hotels, high-end
hospitals, health preservation and elderly care, cultural and entertainment
activities, and recreational resorts (“Qinhuangdao Venice-City of Water
Outlets Project”).

The design of the Qinhuangdao Venice-City of Water Outlets Project is
in compliance with the general urban planning as determined for the
International Healthy City. The detailed regulatory plan and the detailed
construction plan for Phase 1 of the project have been reviewed and
authorised by the planning committee of the municipal government.
The construction work planning permit for Phase 1 (ABC sections)
has been obtained on 6 February 2018 while the construction work
commencement permit for Phase 1 (ABC sections) has been obtained
on 22 May 2018. Besides, the Company obtained the construction
work commencement permit for the exhibition center of Phase 1 on 15
November 2017. As the construction works continued to progress, the
Group obtained the pre-sale permits for the first 59 resort villas on 10
January 2019.
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Phase 1 of the Qinhuangdao Venice-City of Water Outlets Project
covers an area of approximately 230,000 sg.m., which is planned
to be developed into outlets business (including Latitude Space), a
health preservation hotel, resort villas and an exhibition center, along
with supporting landscape. During the reporting period, the exhibition
center has been put into operation, and pre-sale of the resort villas
of Phase 1 has commenced. The outlets business, which covers an
area of about 70,000 sg.m., is undergoing main-body construction
with the primary structure of 19 buildings capped and the remaining
12 buildings to be capped soon. Latitude Space, an indoor trampoline
park, is undergoing foundation construction, and the underground
structure was completed. In relation to the health preservation hotel,
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited has entered into an
indicative strategic cooperation agreement with Nanjing Jinling Hotel ( &
REBEEE)in 2017, and submitted to the competent authorities the
development plan in connection therewith in early October 2018 pending
for adjustment and approval. Construction of the hotel is expected to
commence in 2019. A total of 189 resort villas with designed courtyard
have been planned in one-storey, two-storey or three-storey duplexes,
among which, 129 villas are capped after completion of the main body
construction and undergoing onsite backfiling and construction of the
second structure. The design plan for the entrances and exits of the
project, clock tower and St. Mark’s Square has been approved by the
Planning Bureau of Beidaihe New District, and the construction work is in
progress.

Yinchuan Project

Yinchuan Residential Properties

Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Ltd* (EE S TR EE ¥
BBR A7) (“Ningxia Jinguan”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company whose entire equity interest was acquired by the Company
from a connected person in February 2018. Ningxia Jinguan is principally
engaged in property development and management and home
furnishing. It owns the property named “JeShing European City (& 5%
BUM) ", The JeShing European City comprises five parcels of land
with a total site area of approximately 133,300 sg.m. and a residential
and commercial complex which is currently being constructed thereon
(“Yinchuan Project”).
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In respect of residential portion, “Jin Sheng Yue Jing (&£ &)"
project is to be developed into slab-type residential properties delivering
distinctive scenery and educational resources in 3 phases with a site
area of approximately 120 mu and a planned gross floor area of 221,000
sqg.m. Leveraging on the surrounding resources such as banks, medical
institutes, educational institutions, department stores and supermarkets,
entertainment facilities and restaurants as well as its own lifestyle
amenities and building materials stores, the project ams to create a
comfortable and convenient living environment.

Phase 1 and 2 of Jin Sheng Yue Jing have entered the inspection stage
and are scheduled to be delivered on 30 June 2019. The planned gross
floor area of Phase 3 is approximately 140,000 sqg.m., which is planned
to be developed into 14 sophisticated 11/18-storey high-rise buildings.
During the reporting period, the Group obtained great support from the
local government in the development and construction of Jin Sheng Yue
Jing project, and has successfully completed the preliminary development
formalities for Phase 3 of the project. Ningxia Jinguan obtained the
construction work planning permit for Phase 3 on 15 May 2018, and
obtained the construction work commencement permit for 14 residential
buildings and underground car parking lot of Phase 3 on 28 April
2019. Currently, Phase 3 is undergoing foundation construction and fire
safety design filing, and the Group is preparing documents required for
application of the pre-sale permits.

Yinchuan Commercial Properties

In respect of commercial portion, with an occupation rate of 97%, the
high-end building materials stores with an area of 40,000 sg.m. and
premium furniture stores with an area of 30,000 sg.m. are principally
engaged in trading of building and decoration materials, such as
ceramics, sanitary ware, flooring, stairs, doors and windows, cupboards,
lamps, wall paper, bedroom, sofas, suites and other furniture. During the
reporting period, the company introduced a large-scale indoor trampoline
park and completed business investment of the blackwood furniture
store with an area of 3,000 sg.m., further enriching the existing product
portfolio of the commercial project.
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During the reporting period, the Group joined hands with brand partners
to host a number of large alliance marketing events, such as “Internal
Purchasing Fair of Zhujia Aliance (2£REEENEE ), “Linghang Alliance
Exhibition of Major Materials for Building and Decoration ( %8B B3 &
MEREEME)”, “Golden Night Dinner Party of Brand Alliance ( & h
BBES®RE)”, “JeShing 630 Massive Discount for Yinchuan (& 5%
630 o MMBXIR)I) ", “Jostle for the C Position among Big Decoration
Material Brands (Cfii FE & e KIEK/EFEE) ", and “JeShing Promotion
Campaign (581 23 e £ 5545 ) ”. These events attracted tremendous
attention to the mall, precisely targeted perspective customers, and
provided incentive for alliance stores to cooperate. Furthermore,
Yinchuan Project capitalized its brand recognition and influence to host
a large autumn job fair in active collaboration with the government.
The job fair provided over 1,000 jobs in total, fulfiling the Company’s
operating philosophy of “what comes from the people should be used
for the people” and making contribution to local poverty alleviation as a
responsible corporation.

During the Year, the projects managed by the associated companies of
the Company also achieved certain progress.

Huailai Project

The master plan, demonstration area design plan, chateau design plan
and environmental impact assessment of the characteristic villa residential
and winery project in Huailai of Hebei have been completed. The project
is developed by Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited* (2 K —#& &
EHEBEABR AR, a 50%-owned associated company of the Company.
In the demonstration area, access to roads, electricity and water supply
has been in place and certain works regarding landscaping, planting and
slope wall reconditioning have been completed. In addition, bidding for a
parcel of construction land of approximately 480 mu to be listed for sale
is under preparation.
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Changchun Project

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited (F M R4S AT R LB NBAE
RN A (“Jilin Company”), a 42%-owned associated company of the
Company, obtained land use rights for a piece of land with an area of
443 mu for commercial and residential purposes in Shuangyang District,
Changchun City, Jilin Province in April 2016. Upon extensive careful and
detailed market research, it is found that the local commercial complexes
are heavily homogeneous in the context of the overall weak economic
environment in Northeast China. As such, in order to seek differentiation,
Jilin Company plans to develop its project in Shuangyang District,
Changchun into an integrated project (“Jilin Project”) combining a theme
park and a cultural tourism town under the theme of cultural tourism and
the objective of building a livable place with elderly care.

Phase 1 of Jilin Project covers an area of approximately 443 mu. Jilin
Company intends to initially develop the C3 lot of the land, which covers
an area of approximately 74 mu with plot ratio of 1.49 and a green
rate of 30.81%, by planning and building it into a multi-storey high-end
residential community with planned gross floor area of approximately
105,000 sg.m. with hot spring directly accessible to individual unit. For
this purpose, Jilin Company actively completed various development
formalities, and obtained construction work planning permit in April 2018
and construction work commencement permit in October 2018.

During the reporting period, the groundbreaking ceremony of the initial
construction of Jilin Project has been completed, and the excavation and
piling test works are underway. Due to the special geographic condition
of Changchun, the effective working period ends in early November every
year. To ensure the project progress is advanced in an efficient manner,
Jilin Project is planned to complete the excavation work for the basement
(with 1.5 meters of frozen sail layer reserved) and 50% of 719 piles
construction before winter of 2018. As at 31 March 2019, Jilin Project
has completed the plan set at the beginning of the Year, and the 719 piles
construction has been completed in advance.
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During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$284,184,000
representing a 45.5% increase as compared to HK$195,338,000 in
the Corresponding Year. As set out in the financial statements, the
revenue of the Year was mainly attributable to the sales of the properties
of approximately HK$235,062,000 compared to HK$149,102,000
for the Corresponding Year. Gross rental income of approximately
HK$28,743,000 for the Year compared to HK$26,627,000 for the
Corresponding Year, from the leasing rental income. Management fee
income received of approximately HK$20,379,000 for the Year compared
to HK$19,609,000 for the Corresponding Year.

The loss attributable to equity holders amounted to HK$268,297,000
representing a 31.5% decrease as compared to HK$391,630,000 in the
Corresponding Year. The loss per share for the Year was HK$1.15 cents
as compared to HK$2.79 cents for the Corresponding Year.

As disclosed on pages 102 to 105 of this report, the disclaimer of
opinion was mainly the result of multiple uncertainties faced by the Group
relating to going concern assumption of the Group. Specifically, the
Company’s auditor (the “Auditor”) noted (i) the net loss of approximately
HK$268,297,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019, and (i) the net
current liabilities of approximately HK$831,156,000 as of 31 March 2019
which, if the creditors of certain bank borrowings and notes payable
involved demanded immediate repayment of the respective outstanding
amounts in their entirety, there may be, in the Auditor’s opinion, material
uncertainties on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Regarding the Other Loan 3, it is a 5-year secured loan with total
principal amount of RMB950,000,000 as explained in the business
review section above, which is having its long term portion amounted to
RMB760,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$886,008,000) being
re-classified from non-current liabilities to current liabilities as of 31 March
2019. Such incident was being one of the factors causing the reported
net current liabilities of approximately HK$831,156,000 as at 31 March
2019. Up to the date of this report, the Group has not yet entered into
any formal supplemental agreement with the relevant bank about the
change in repayment terms of the loan. However, the Group had obtained
indication from the relevant bank that upon the completion of the internal
approved process of the bank, it is likely such agreement will be entered
into within a reasonable timeframe, causing the Directors to believe that
such negotiation will ultimately reach a successful conclusion.
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Regarding the notes payable, having a carrying amount of
HK$93,471,000 as at 31 March 2019 as explained in the business
review section above, the negotiation with the notes holder for an
extension of the maturity date has not been finalized and the Group is still
endeavouring to reach a mutually agreeable settlement arrangement in
due course.

The Directors have carefully assessed the Auditor’s qualification and
concerns, as well as the Group’s financial situation, and are of the view
that, whilst there was a technical re-classification of the RMB760,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$886,008,000) long term portion of Other
Loan 3 from non-current liabilities to current liabilities, the re-classification
alone does not have any actual impact to the Group, other than having
net current liabilities of approximately HK$831,156,000 as of 31 March
2019 as reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
of the Group. As mentioned above, the Directors have been told by a
representative of the relevant bank that, pending completion of their
internal approval process, the supplemental agreement for the extension
of time for the repayment of Other Loan 3 is expected to be entered
into within a reasonable timeframe. As such, the Directors believed that
the bank will not exercise their discretionary right to demand immediate
full repayment and thus, the relevant reclassification will not create any
burden on the Group’s cash flows for the year ending 31 March 2020.
Further, the Directors believe that, based on their discussion with the
Auditor, should the supplemental agreement be signed, the Auditor would
agree with the Company’s accounting treatment to re-classify the long
term portion of Other Loan 3 as non-current liabilities in its consolidated
statement of financial position. Further, as at 31 March 2019, of the
RMB1 billion facilities granted by JeShing Real Estate Group Company
Limited (£ X BEREEBEGRAR]) (a related party of the Group), only
approximately RMB52.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$61.5
million) had been utilised by the Group. Moreover, in terms of materiality
of the notes payable, which was approximately HK$93.5 million as at 31
March 2019, it only formed approximately 3.1% of the current liabilities
of the Group as at 31 March 2019 (approximately HK$3 billion after the
re-classification of the long term portion of Other Loan 3 of HK$760
million to current liabilities as mentioned above), and approximately 4.3%
when compared to the current assets of the Group as at 31 March 2019
(approximately HK$2.2 billion).
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Based on the above, the Directors believe that, based on the financial
circumstances of the Group, the Group has sufficient resources to
immediately repay the notes payable if required.

Given the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern as
mentioned in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 102 to 105 of
this report, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
covering a period of twelve months from 31 March 2019 which have
taken into account a number of potential positive factors as set out in
Note 2.1 (Basis of Preparation) to the Consolidated Financial Statements
on pages 116 to 119 of this report.

The Directors have started to carry out measures to enhance those
potential positive factors aiming at improving the Group’s liquidity and
financial position. In addition, the Group has been in active negotiation
with the bank and notes holder for the renewal or extension of the
repayment terms of the outstanding principals and accrued interests.
Owing to the policy-directed market sentiments in the real estate
markets in China, the Group receives, on various occasions, potential
capital finance proposals or asset divestment proposals from various
independent parties from time to time. Having considered the upsurge
in costs of finance in recent years, the management would now be
taking more proactive attitude towards any potential proposals so as to
further strengthen its cash resources and to speed up the cash recovery
of its property development projects and to lower the financial burden
borne by the Group as a whole. Provided that all those potential positive
factors could achieve the respective targets, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to fuffill its financial obligations as and when they fall
due in the coming twelve months from 31 March 2019. Accordingly, the
Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

As disclosed on page 47 of this report, the audit committee of the
Company has reviewed with the management the Group’s consolidated
financial results for the year ended 31 March 2019, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, risk management and internal control, and financial reporting
matters. During the meeting of the audit committee held on 28 June
2019, members of the audit committee thoroughly reviewed the Auditor’s
qualification and the Group’s financial position, and agreed with the
management’s position that the Company was able to carry on as a
going concern.
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The Directors believe that, based on their discussion with the Auditor,
should the supplemental agreement for the extension of time for the
repayment of Other Loan 3 to year 2022 be approved and executed, the
Auditor would agree with the Company’s accounting treatment to classify
the Other Loan 3 as non-current liabilities for the financial year ending 31
March 2020. Furthermore, the Company expects that should the Group
be able to demonstrate, including but not limit to, () steady progress
from its property development projects to generate positive operating
cash flows to the Group, and (i) continuous financial support from banks,
financial institutions and related parties, the audit qualification would be
removed in next year’s Auditor’s report.

The Group did not have any significant investments during the Year.

The Group mainly finances its business operations mainly with its internal
resources and loan facilities from banks, financial institutions and related
parties. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had cash and bank balances
of HK$75,114,000 (2018: HK$14,848,000). The Group’s current ratio
(measured as total current assets to total current liabilities) was 0.72
times (2018: 1.31 times). The decrease in the current ratio was mainly
due to the decrease in prepayment, deposits and other receivables
and increase in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. As at
31 March 2019, the secured and unsecured interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and notes payable of the Group amounted to
HK$1,422,276,000 (2018: HK$1,522,560,000) and HK$50,335,000
(2018: HK$18,470,000) and HK$93,471,000 (2018: HK$88,114,000),
respectively. The gearing ratio, which is calculated as a percentage of net
debt to total equity, was 407% (2018: 240%). The increase was mainly
due to the decrease of prepayment, deposits and other receivables and
the increase of trade payables.
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As at 31 March 2019, property interest held by the Group with
net carrying amount of HK$2,316,791,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$1,922,292,000) were pledged to banks and a financial institution.

As the Group’s bank and other borrowings, bank and cash balances,
trade receivables, prepayments, deposits, other receivables, trade
payables, accruals, other payables, receipts in advance, contract liabilities
and amounts due to related parties were mainly denominated in RMB,
the Group had not experienced significant exposure to foreign currency
fluctuation.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s budgeted costs to completion of
its property projects classified as non-current assets amounted to
approximately HK$690,926,000 (31 March 2018: HK$760,698,000).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in respect of an other
borrowing with a carrying amount of RMB270,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$314,766,000) as at 31 March 2019, the Group
breached the repayment term of which RMB30,000,000 was in
default since April 2019. On 24 June 2019, the Group entered into a
supplementary agreement with the lender to extend the repayment term
of the entire outstanding principal of RMB270,000,000 as at 31 March
2019 and all relevant accrued interest to June 2022.
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As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed a total of 272 employees
(excluding Directors), as compared to 266 employees (excluding
Directors) as at 31 March 2018. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and prevailing market
parameters. Employee benefits include pension insurance fund, medical
insurance coverage, unemployment insurance fund, occupational injury
insurance fund, maternity insurance fund, housing provident fund and
mandatory provident fund (for Hong Kong employees).

In 2018, changes in the central government’s regulatory policies for the
real estate market demonstrated the shift from tightly-controlling to more
relaxed in three phases, including the policy of “houses are for people
to live in but is not for speculation”, the determination to “resolutely
curb the rise in housing prices” and the requirement of “stabilizing land
prices, housing prices and expectations”, which indicated the policy-
making level's resolution to fully implement housing market regulation,
to restore the purpose that housing is for people to live in and to curb
the growth in real estate investment without restraint. With the position
that “houses are for people to live in but is not for speculation” set by the
central government and under the city-targeted policies and category-
based regulations, local governments continued to escalate regulatory
measures with over 450 policy releases recorded during the Year, making
the Year the most intensive one in the history of property market in terms
of intensity of policy.

In terms of local government policies, the local governments were
determined to adhere to the objectives for regulating the real estate
market unwaveringly and consistently for the first three quarters, including
the continuous implementation of the “four tightening measures” (namely
restrictions on purchasing, pricing, re-selling and lending), regulation of
the property market and increase in the mortgage rate, etc., while there
were signals indicating the loosening of the regulatory policy in the fourth
quarter, with some cities including Guangzhou, Wuhan and Nanning
partially uplifting restrictions on pricing and many cities lowering the
increase in mortgage rate. In particular, Heze pioneered in loosening real
estate regulation in 2018. Looking ahead, we are expected to witness
a new round of regulation loosening in 2019. However, the main tone of
policy that “houses are for people to live in but is not for speculation” and
city-targeted policies will remain unchanged, and the majority of the third-
and fourth-tier cities will continue to focus on destocking.
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All of these policies indicate that the central government’s resolution to
curb the rising housing prices will remain unchanged. These regulatory
measures are not a faint show, and the position that “houses are for
people to live in but is not for speculation” is being further implemented
in all aspects. Against the backdrop of overall tightened regulation,
the measures tailored to different cities under the general real estate
policies become more precise. From the perspective of policy orientation,
differentiated regulation and assurance of the needs for reasonable house
purchases remain the essence of the real estate regulation in future. The
policy tools of local governments will be more diverse and integrated,
shifting from administrative measures currently in effect as the main
component towards integrated policy implementation to form a package
of policy tools comprising financing, land, finance and taxation, housing
security and market management, with the aim of stabilizing the land
prices, housing prices and expectations to maintain the smooth operation
of the real estate market.

While keeping the housing prices stabilized, the government will
accelerate the establishment of a sound housing security system across
cities and towns, provide support for the first- and second-tier cities as
well as other special cities with large population inflows, increase the
effective supply of housing for public tenancy or under common property
rights, and step up the housing security for qualified new residents. On
the other hand, the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development will
accelerate the establishment of a monitoring system for the real estate
market, improve the appraisal and assessment mechanism for the works
done by local governments in relation to real estate regulation, intensify
the supervision and hold accountable local governments that are not
effective at work, fail to prevent substantial market volatility and fail to
achieve regulatory objectives.
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In terms of market performance, although the market comes under
severe pressure in the short term, some property developers will continue
to launch price reduction promotions successively, step up destocking
and accelerate the recovery of funds. However, the overall real estate
sales will remain promising in the future primarily attributable to the
following factors: firstly, the offer of cash compensation to the residents
affected by the renovation of shanty towns in the third- and fourth-tier
cities will increase the purchase power of these residents; secondly,
house purchases for panic concerns or investment purposes will
increase as a result of rising housing prices; thirdly, the implementation
of plans for clusters of city will increase the location value of central
cities and peripheral cities, which will enhance the effect of population
agglomeration. As more policies are introduced by the local governments,
rise in housing prices is kept under control, and the progress in offer of
cash compensation for the residents affected by the renovation of shanty
towns slows down. Being affected by various factors, the real estate
market cools down as a whole and market sales return to a rational level.

The stringent policies for the housing market are more professionally
challenging to developers because it is impossible to establish a foothold
with a single product model. Unlike traditional real estate developers,
unigqueness is our most prominent feature. Whether “commercial +
residential”, “tourism + commercial”’, “real estate + healthcare” or
“wineries + residential” models, they have all indicated that the Group
is transforming its business aggressively and proceeding with a new
diversified industrial complex in a flexible way, vowing to create its own
brand features in the competitive housing market, to replace single
product supply with auxiliary services complex and to stick to the
development of high-end products to make sure its products are superior
and competitive.

Leveraging the geographical resources advantages in the places where
the projects are located and corresponding policy support, the Group
has devoted itself to making the above featured product portfolio and
increased product competitiveness and bargaining power by diversifying
complementary resources for the major products, making its products
distinguishable from many others. The diversified product portfolio
presents both a challenge and an opportunity to the professional
operating capability of the Group. The management believes that, by
capitalizing on the Group’s extensive industry experience accumulated
over the years, the industrial background and resources support of the
controlling group and the fit of products to market demand, the Group’s
featured residential products will definitely create a world of their own.
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The reporting year marked a year of significant development for the
Company. Blessed by the substantial land resources acquired in early
stage, the Group is able to create unique project products catering to
the needs of market in a flexible way. During the reporting period, the
Group proceeded with the development agenda intensively and carried
out an array of tasks that focused on sales and financing in order to
accelerate asset realization. In particular, regarding Changsha Outlets
Project, Qinhuangdao Outlets Project, Yinchuan Project and Changchun
Project, appropriate government approvals for project establishment,
planning permits, construction work commencement permits and pre-
sale permits were already obtained for a new round of development plans
for marketable products. The Group is also handling other preliminary
development formalities and project construction for these projects
simultaneously, striving to recover significant sales revenue during the
Year to assure cash flow for its business operations.

During the reporting period, the Group derived its operating income
mainly from the Changsha Outlets Project and Yinchuan Project. In
particular, the Changsha Outlets Project is situated in the core area of
Xiangjiang New District, Changsha, Hunan, which has enormous potential
and which is 8 kilometers away from the planned Changsha West High-
Speed Railway Station, a comprehensive transportation hub integrating
high-speed railway, subway, urban railway, tramcars, magnetically
supported trains and urban public transportation. The high-speed railway
station is expected to be completed and operate in 2022, which will
then definitely expand the effective population coverage of the project.
In addition, Changsha Metro Line 4 which is only 5 kilometers away
from the project has fully opened to traffic during the reporting period,
and a station along the planned extension of Line 4 will be established
800 meters away from the project, which no doubt are incredibly
good news for the Group. The project is surrounded by a host of large
enterprises, with over 500 domestic and foreign companies already
running businesses in this area, including China Minmetals, Suntown
Technology, Zoomlion Heavy Industry Science and Technology, Umicore
from Belgium, Liebherr from Germany, Want-Want Group from Taiwan
and Biostime Group. Supportive industry policies and well-established
business environment provide unlimited possibilities for cross-sector
alliance for the future development of the project as well as a stable and
large consumer base. In addition, in Changsha as an emerging first-tier
city, rapid growth draws a continuous inflow of people, and accordingly
the demand for housing increases steadily. However, the housing prices
remain relatively low amongst other provincial capital cities, suggesting
that residents in the city have enormous potential purchase power,
which provides assurance on the demand side for the Group’s future
development plans in the city.

ABREFERARAZABRFE -BaR
AEEFPHESABELHER HTRRA
BREAFICERMEBERLNFTECER-
BEHAN HEBTSOOHEERERRE
BIHE BEMRER—FIMEEIE MRE
EZRSK -Hp EPREFHRHTER &
ESRFREIER R)IBEERREFEE -
VERFT - GAEEMMAESNGHARE
ML IREA - REIFF A RS - i TRFAIRE
REEFAE TRSFHEELMEENE
FENMIREZRER NRKEAFEER
REHEOF SAKENXHELREH
REMRE -

BEHA AEELLERATERBEYD
RERFEAEMRNBEBE -Hp KPR
FTHREHBALERERENEANAER
DAHIHEZOLE BRETORLS
HOWNBRE ZeHuREESHE
BB AREE WBTY HHAXRAK
—BNSReERBELD BHHIRN_-F
T CFERBE ERERKEANLEAA
MBRABEITEE - b RBEHA -
PEEEAAENRDPHEAMNRERE 2
RABARE RIAPHOERERKTERE
NBKRERY  HRAKEMNS  BREE
REYFFBE - BB AR AR ERMNT - B
AMCABPERRE REME PBHER -
EAREXIH RENDEH 2EHHE
SE AETEBFHIIDES008K - 4
NHEEBRERF KANCEELRE
RABEBNARERBREZBENER
A FAETREMAERANEEEEA
Bemnih ROERF —BWT REER
THAARBERA EEFRMBEZFR
A EEEDBRESRmHRRESE B
BEBEANAAIRE RAEBREERDH
PG BIIRE B RARE -



Meanwhile, the Yinchuan Project, which was acquired at the end of
February 2018 as a well-developed “commercial + residential” complex,
has created its own brand appeal and has an extraordinary influence
in the local area. Unlike the principal products under the Changsha
Outlets Project, the Yinchuan Project features the combination of home
decoration materials retailing and high-quality residential properties, thus
having diversified the Group’s sources of revenue. During the reporting
period, the project continued to diversify brand partners and optimise
brand portfolio for the commercial portion thereof. Leveraging the
integrated and diversified business model of the commercial portion, it
boosted the sales in the residential sector and actively pushed forward
the progress in the development of Residential Phase 3, so as to seize
the opportunities for sales in the second- and third-tier cities.

As for the commercial sectors of Changsha Commercial South Portion,
Qinhuangdao and Changchun Projects which are to be developed
subsequently, the Group is confident that it can replicate the standardised
business models and business resources of Changsha Globe Outlets
according to the local conditions and accelerate its strategic planning
on a national scale. For the residential sector, the Group intends to
capitalize on the instant popularity of Changsha Outlets Town to build
up Richly Field’s superior reputation as a high-end brand developer,
thereby facilitating the development process for other projects with brand
influence as well as attracting potential consumers for the project.

Moreover, the Australia-originated trampoline park business, in which
the Group has made an equity investment, has commenced operation
in Beijing, Changsha, Nanjing and Shanghai, with a second branch store
opened in Beijing as well. In Qinhuangdao, property construction for
the trampoline park is underway in full swing, followed by the location
selection of new stores and business negotiations in Hangzhou and
Nanjing. The market responded enthusiastically, with sales revenues
surging repeatedly, which has diversified the Group’s sources of revenue
through multiple channels and improved the Group’s cash flow. In the
future, the Group is confident that this business will become bigger and
stronger, and will make itself different from similar products in the market
in terms of quality services and experience.
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In addition, there is an increasing demand of residents for healthcare
consumption as China currently has a rapidly aging population while the
healthcare real estate sector is still in the early stage of development.
The community healthcare market is taking shape gradually and the
integration of healthcare services with the provision for the aged is
becoming the future development trend. Healthcare service premises
will extend from traditional large general hospitals to grassroots and
residential communities, providing a broad platform as well as strong
support and momentum for the cross-industry development of the real
estate-based grand healthcare industry. The Company has a number of
high-quality residential projects as well as property projects for the care of
elderly people, which lays a solid foundation for the future model of “real
estate + grand healthcare”. Therefore, the Group will work out a plan for
the healthcare business by combining its own competitive advantages
so as to cater for customers’ needs and enhance the brand value of the
Group.

Meanwhile, the Group will monitor the latest market updates closely
so as to make the first strike to seize any feasible opportunities for the
acquisition of potential favourable projects. It will proactively adjust its
business model as well to diversify its streams of income for maximising
returns for shareholders.
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Report of the Directors

BEBBHRS

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 is
set out in the sections of Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
7 to 19.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
106.

There will not be a payment of a final dividend for the Year (31 March
2018: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on pages 109, 110 and 240, respectively.

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2019 (2018:
Nil).
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Report of the Directors
EE8HRS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was not more than 6% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year.

The percentage of purchases cost for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

37%
90%

- the largest supplier
- five largest suppliers combined

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 244. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Ma Jun' (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)

(resigned on 31 January 2019)

Li Yi Feng? (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)

(redesignated since 31 January 2019)

Chen Wei* (Vice President)

Wang Yucan® (resigned on 3 September 2018)
Li Yi Feng? (redesignated as executive Director on 31 January 2019)

Hsu Wai Man Helen

Chau Shing Yim David* (resigned on 3 September 2018)
Wong Tak Chun® (appointed on 3 September 2018)

Xu Jinghong

Pursuant to Bye-Law 99, Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”) and Mr.
Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”) will retire from office by rotation at the AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for reelection.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 102(B), Mr. Wong Tak Chun (“Mr. Wong”) will retire
from office at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Notes:

1.

With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Ma Jun has resigned as an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer.

With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Li Yi Feng has been re-designated as an
executive Director and has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Dr. Wang Yucan has resigned as a non-
executive Director.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David has resigned as
an independent non-executive Director.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Wong Tak Chun has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in replacement of Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 93 to 96.

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and the following confirmation
from the Directors, the changes in the information of the Directors are
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
are set out below:

With effect from 3 September 2018, Dr. Wang Yucan has resigned as a
non-executive Director.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David has
resigned as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Board.

With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Wong Tak Chun has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Board, in replacement of Mr. Chau Shing Yim David.

With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Ma has resigned from the position
of the executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the chief executive
officer, the chairman of the Nomination Committee, the member of the
Remuneration Committee, the authorised representative of the Company
for the purpose of the Listing Rules and all offices in the subsidiaries of
the Company.
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With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Li has been re-designated from
a non-executive Director to an executive Director and appointed as the
chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, the member of the Remuneration Committee, the
authorised representative of the Company.

On 1 April 2019, the remuneration committee and the Board held
meetings to review Mr. Li's annual remuneration package in view of the
increase of workload and hardship in vesting his roles in the Company.
Having considered the recommendation of remuneration committee, the
market rate, the background and experience of Mr. Li, his responsibilities
within the Company and its subsidiaries, the financial position of the
Company, the remuneration benchmark in the industry and the prevailing
market conditions, the Board has approved that his annual remuneration
be adjusted from HKD720,000 to HKD850,000 with effect from 1 April
2019. In addition, a one-time allowance of HKD21,667 were granted to
Mr. Li in this regard.
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As at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors, the Chief Executive of the
Company and their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies.

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of persons (other
than Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Under otherwise specified, the shareholding percentages disclosed
below are calculated based on the total of 23,336,687,255 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2019.
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Name of shareholder

BERMEEEB

Fine Bliss Limited (Note 1)
=RBRAT (MFET)

Complete Power International Limited (Note 1)

E2HBEBREBRAR (M)

Good Moral Enterprises Limited (Note 1)
ERPEARAR (1)

Stimulate High Investment Limited

REFIREBR DA

Wang Hua (Note 1 and 2)
T (a1 Kk2)

Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings Limited
(Note 3)
BRI EERAR A E (H53)

Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Note 3)
Sino Dynamics Investments Limited ( B 5E3)

Du Wei (Note 3)
I (PTFES)

Capacity

-4

Beneficial owner
EmEA A

Interest of controlled corporation
THEEER

Interest of controlled corporation
2HEEER

Beneficial owner

BEaEBA

Interest of controlled corporation
A E S

Interest of controlled corporation

ez e

Beneficial owner

BEmfEAA

Interest of controlled corporation
A E

Number of issued
ordinary shares
and underlying
shares held/
interested
®¥E/%®E
ERzE 1T
EERR
HERGHE

2,340,000,000

2,340,000,000

2,340,000,000

11,927,648,452

14,267,648,452

2,600,000,000

2,600,000,000

2,600,000,000

Approximate
percentage of the
issued share
capital of the
Company

EARRF

EBRITRA

BMAOBE D

10.03%

10.03%

10.03%

51.11%

61.14%

11.14%

11.14%

11.14%



Notes:

Save

Fine Bliss Limited is the registered holder of 2,340,000,000 shares of the
Company. Mr. Wang Hua owns the entire issued share capital of Complete
Power International Limited, and Complete Power International Limited owns the
entire issued share capital of Good Moral Enterprises Limited, and Good Moral
Enterprises Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Fine Bliss Limited.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Hua, Complete Power International Limited and
Good Moral Enterprises Limited is deemed to be interested in the 2,340,000,000
shares directly held by Fine Bliss Limited under the SFO.

Stimulate High Investment Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Hua.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang Hua is deemed to be interested in the 11,927,648,452
shares directly held by Stimulate High Investment Limited under the SFO.

Sino Dynamics Investments Limited is the registered holder of 2,600,000,000
shares of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Sino Dynamics
Investments Limited is directly owned by Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings
Limited. Mr. Du Wei owns the entire issued share capital of Galaxy Sharp
Investment Holdings Limited. Accordingly, each of Galaxy Sharp Investment
Holdings Limited and Mr. Du Wei is deemed to be interested in the
2,600,000,000 shares directly held by Sino Dynamics Investments Limited under
the SFO.

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, no person (other than

the Directors) had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

To the best knowledge of the Board, at no time during the Year were

rights

to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or

debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Having made all reasonable enquiries and based on the available
books and records, the Board is not aware of any material interest in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Shareholders
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Board is not aware of any contract during the Year entered into with
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, the Company and any of its subsidiaries did not
purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed shares.
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There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in respect of an other
borrowing with a carrying amount of RMB270,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$314,766,000) as at 31 March 2019, the Group
breached the repayment term of which RMB30,000,000 was in
default since April 2019. On 24 June 2019, the Group entered into a
supplementary agreement with the lender to extend the repayment term
of the entire outstanding principal of RMB270,000,000 as at 31 March
2019 and all relevant accrued interest to June 2022.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited had resigned as auditor of the
Company with effect from 30 March 2017, and SHINEWING (HK) CPA
LIMITED was appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 18
April 2017 to fill the causal vacancy.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year
have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED, Certified Public
Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint SHINEWING (HK) CPA LIMITED as auditor of the Company.
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The forthcoming annual general meeting (‘AGM”) will be held on
Wednesday, 28 August 2019.

To ascertain the Shareholders’ entitiement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
22 August 2019 to Wednesday, 28 August 2019, both days inclusive,
during which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant shares certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong by 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 August 2019.

On behalf of the Board

Li Yi Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Company has been making an effort to enhance the
corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to the code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During the
Year, the Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions
set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code provision
A2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, the Company had deviated from code provision A.2.1
because the roles of Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company had been vested in the same persons, namely,
Mr. Ma Jun until 31 January 2019 and Mr. Li Yi Feng since 31 January
2019. The reason for this deviation was that the Board believes that
at the current development of the Group, vesting of the two roles in
the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilities the planning and execution of the Group’s
business strategies. The Board will review this structure periodically
and will consider steps to separate dual roles of chairman and chief
executive as and when appropriate taking into account the prevailing
circumstances.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of five Directors
including two Executive Directors, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic
decisions and performance. In addition, the Board has delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees. Further details of these board
committees are set out in this annual report.
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The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company will
also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Ma Jun' (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 31 January 2019)

Li Yi Feng? (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
(redesignated since 31 January 2019)

Chen Wei* (Vice President)

Wang Yucan® (resigned on 3 September 2018)
Li Yi Feng? (redesignated as executive Director on 31 January 2019)

Hsu Wai Man Helen

Chau Shing Yim David* (resigned on 3 September 2018)
Wong Tak Chun® (appointed on 3 September 2018)

Xu Jinghong

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical information of the
Directors is set out on pages 93 to 96.

Notes:

1. With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Ma Jun has resigned as an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer.

2. With effect from 31 January 2019, Mr. Li Yi Feng has been re-designated as an
executive Director and has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer.

3. With effect from 3 September 2018, Dr. Wang Yucan has resigned as a non-
executive Director.

4, With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David has resigned as
an independent non-executive Director.

5. With effect from 3 September 2018, Mr. Wong Tak Chun has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in replacement of Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David.
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The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating the overall
strategies and policies of the Company in order to ensure effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance with
good corporate governance practices and encourages and facilitates
active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The chairman also
ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Company and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the Company’s
management team in accordance with the directions set by the Board
and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is
in place and the Company’s business conforms to applicable laws and
regulations.

The Independent Non-executive Directors serve the important function of
ensuring and monitoring an effective corporate governance framework.
Their participation provides adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The
Board currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two of them have relevant professional qualification or accounting
or relating financial management expertise. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this
basis, the Board is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Independent Non-executive Directors will provide independent opinion
and share their knowledge and experience with other members of the
Board.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai
Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David, Mr. Wong Tak Chun and Mr. Xu
Jinghong, was appointed for a fixed term of three years commencing
from 21 November 2016, 11 February 2017, 3 September 2018 and 1
April 2017 respectively.
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During the Year, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and RAFE BEFHFEFEEZLREX
general meetings is set out as follows: GZHEERHNRMAT :

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITERHUE

Board Annual General
Name Meetings* Meetings*
HE ExgEe® BRERBFERE"
Executive Directors:
HITES:
Ma Jun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) 19/19 1/1

(resigned on 31 January 2019)

B (BEFgFEFTHKAS) (RZE—NF—A=1T—HHT)

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) 1Al -
(redesignated since 31 January 2019)

FPNE(EFEFSLERITHER)
(BZZE—hE—-A=+—BEHT)

Chen Wei 19/22 0/1
PR &

Non-executive Directors:

FHITES:

Wang Yucan (resigned on 3 September 2018) 1/8 0/1
TER(RZE—N\FNA=ZHEIT)

Li Yi Feng (redesignated as executive Director on 31 January 2019) 19/22 0/1

FNE(RZE-NF-A=T—HBRERPITESR)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

BYFHITES:

Hsu Wai Man Helen 22/22 11

REK

Chau Shing Yim David (resigned on 3 September 2018) 5/18 1/1

BEL (RZZE—N\FNA=ZHEIT)

Wong Tak Chun (appointed on 3 September 2018) 14/14 -

=5EE(RZE-—N\FALA=ZAEZHF)

Xu Jinghong 22/22 0N

FFES

* The denominator represents the number of Board meetings, annual general — * AREREE-T-NF=A=T—HIEHK
meeting or, as the case may be, special general meetings, held during the tenure FEZEESTHANRT ESE SR KRR
of each Director in the financial year ended 31 March 2019. BERGH (RBEAME) RREFRRE ZH

E



All minutes of Board meetings and general meetings are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and access to the advice
and services of the company secretary. In addition, the Company
enables the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with induction and information
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business as well as his/her responsibilities under the
relevant status, laws, rules and regulations.

The continuous professional development is provided to all Directors at
the Company’s expense to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to assist them in discharging their duties. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, a record of the training attended/received by each of the
Directors, is set out as follows:

FEEEESHRMAAS SN RE D
ARERE UREBBAHADBERET
THEAEFEH -5 EFHARENE
FEXHRAMEN LARRA AR E
ZRBREG U REAOERT A&
AABHESERTRBESRB IR
R

ARBRAEFEESTRHEBTNILEHR N
BMREBUERARR ZEERER N
RERBBER ER RAUKBHETZ
BfE-

ARBBBEHMAEERHUFAEZTEEI
NBERAFFEMNBEZRE BORERE
TRE UWBRRESAEFSFEHABR
2 B R

REFER EESEZHE BEXBIN
RCERFITRINE

Type of training

Name #E EINE R
Executive Directors: HITES:
Ma Jun (Chairman of the Board and SR (EFSETBFRTEAEZ) A&B
Chief Executive Officer) (resigned on 31 January 2019) (RZE—NF—A=+—HFEIE)
Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and TE (EFESF/ERTEAES) A&B
Chief Executive Officer) (redesignated since (BEZE—NF—A=+—HEHAE)
31 January 2019)
Chen Wei (Vice President) bR (B/4E%E) A&B
Non-executive Directors: FHITES:
Wang Yucan (resigned on 3 September 2018) TER(RZE—N\FNA=ZHEIT) A&B
Li Yi Feng (redesignated as executive Director =g (R-_ZE—AF—A=+—H A&B
on 31 January 2019) AERRITES)
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHTES:
Hsu Wai Man Helen REH A&B
Chau Shing Yim David (resigned on 3 September 2018) A& K (R - — \F LA =ZH#T) A&B
Wong Tak Chun (appointed on 3 September 2018) HEER (RZE-—N\FALA=BEZT) A&B
Xu Jinghong T A&B

Notes:
A attending courses/seminars/conferences

B: reading journals/written training materials/updates

B AT -

A HEREHESgE

B: BIEHTEmEIHRM EREH



The Company has established an Audit Committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting system and risk management and internal control systems;
making recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal
of the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim and annual reports
and accounts of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised all Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David (resigned on 3 September 2018), Mr. Wong Tak Chun (appointed
on 3 September 2018) and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is
the Chairlady of the Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended on 30 September 2018 and the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
of the Audit Committee

Name attended/held

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairtady) 3/3

Chau Shing Yim David (resigned on 11
3 September 2018)

Wong Tak Chun 3/3
(appointed on 3 September 2018)

Xu Jinghong 2/2

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
for Directors and senior management, and overseeing the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprises two Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Jun (resigned on 31 January 2019), and Mr.
Li Yi Feng (appointed on 31 January 2019), and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David (resigned on 3 September 2018), Mr. Wong Tak Chun (appointed
on 3 September 2018) and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is
the Chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the policy for the remuneration of Executive Directors,
assessing the performance of Executive Directors and approving the
terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
of the Remuneration

Committee

Name attended/held*

Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairlady) 2/2

Ma Jun 2/2
(resigned on 31 January 2019)

Li Yi Feng 0/0
(appointed on 31 January 2019)

Chau Shing Yim David (resigned on 11
3 September 2018)

Wong Tak Chun 11
(appointed on 3 September 2018)

Xu Jinghong 2/2

*

The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Remuneration
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Remuneration
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

The Company has established a Nomination Committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become member of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, assessing the independence of Independent non-
Executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprises two Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Jun (resigned on 31 January 2019), and Mr.
Li Yi Feng (appointed on 31 January 2019), and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David (resigned on 3 September 2018), Mr. Wong Tak Chun (appointed
on 3 September 2018) and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Dr. Wang Yucan is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assessing the independence of all Independent Non-executive Directors,
selecting and recommending the re-designation of Mr. Li Yi Feng as
Executive Director during the Year.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings
of the Nomination

Committee

Name attended/held*

Ma Jun 3/3
(resigned on 31 January 2019)

Li Yi Feng (Chairman) -
(appointed on 31 January 2019)

Hsu Wai Man Helen 3/3

Chau Shing Yim David 1/1
(resigned on 3 September 2018)

Wong Tak Chun 2/2
(appointed on 3 September 2018)

Xu Jinghong 3/3

*

The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Nomination
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Nomination
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.
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During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditors are set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

HK$'000

Audit services

1,350
Non audit services -

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code including:

° develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

° review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period and to ensure that the
financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material restatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 102 to 105.

The Board considers that sound risk management and internal control
systems can improve the operational effectiveness and efficiency of the
Group and help safeguard the assets of the Group and the investments
of the Shareholders.

The Board is well aware of its responsibility to maintain high standards
of risk management and internal control systems and to review the
effectiveness of such systems during the process of implementation.
The systems are intended to provide a reasonable but not absolute
assurance regarding operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliability of
financial reports and compliance with laws and regulations, with the aim
of managing rather than eliminating risks associated with failure to meet
business objectives.

The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining the nature
and extent of the risks to which the Company is wiling to assume
in achieving its strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
establishing risk assessment criteria, and supervising the design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems. Under the authority of the Board, the Audit Committee may
seek external legal, financial or other independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company if necessary (subject to prior discussion with
the Board on the relevant expenses).

The Company has developed and adopted a number of risk management
procedures and guidelines with well-defined terms of reference, which are
implemented through its major business procedures and office functions,
including administration and management, human resources, material
procurement, contract execution, project establishment, tendering and
bidding, project management, sales and leasing, financial reporting and
information technology.

The Company set up its internal audit function in 2014. Established
under the Audit Committee and being independent from other functional
departments, the audit department assists the Board in performing its
regulatory role in the internal control and risk management functions
of the Group, reviewing and assessing the overall effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems. The audit department has
been equipped with professional auditors for conducting internal audits
in accordance with the annual work plan, including regular or ad hoc
internal audits and special audits, as well as audits and assessment on
the operation and management, financial position and enforcement of
internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Company has set up risk management and internal control
systems to ensure that internal rules and systems are strictly enforced;
recruitment, remuneration and assessment systems are fair, impartial and
transparent; the Company operates in compliance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations; construction projects are carried out in conformity
to the relevant systems of the Company regarding project establishment,
tender awards, contract execution, procurement, construction,
acceptance inspection and settlement, etc.; shop management systems
for commercial projects are stringent with no loopholes; assets are not
misappropriated and embezzled; accounting records for providing reliable
financial information for business purposes or public use are properly
kept; access to and use of internal information without proper authority
are strictly prohibited; and reasonable assurance is provided against
major misrepresentations, losses or fraudulent activities.
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To safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Shareholders, the
Company handles and publishes insider information in accordance with
its insider information disclosure system to ensure that such information is
kept highly confidential prior to disclosure and issued in an effective and
consistent manner. The Board shall immediately convene a meeting to
discuss the relevant matter and, if necessary, seek advice from external
independent professional institutions.

Under the supervision of the Board, the internal audit department of the
Company had conducted an annual review on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2019. The scope of the review has been formulated and approved by
the Audit Committee, covering business operations, financial reporting,
and compliance with regulations and systems. Results of the review
and the areas for improvement have been reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee, with emphasis on staff performance appraisal,
standardization and execution of systems, enhancement of tendering
and bidding processes, financial budget management, project budget
management, as well as project and marketing contract management.
Besides, the Board had also conducted a review during the Year of the
effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance, as part of its review of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.

An introduction to the procedures used by the Company for identifying,
assessing and managing significant risks is given below:

Risk Identification and Assessment

° The internal audit department conducts regular annual audits or ad
hoc special audits to perform systematic analysis on the processes,
systems and significant events of the Company to identify possible
risks in the business process. The legal department performs
professional analysis on the proposed terms of contracts to identify
terms that may place the Company in a disadvantageous position,
with the aim of avoiding any potential risks.

° The identified risks are assessed based on the assessment
criteria set up by the management to determine the risk response
approach.
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Risk Response

o The risk management strategies and internal control procedures are
determined based on the category of the risks identified. For major
risks, the internal audit department shall prepare a summary and
report directly to the Audit Committee, and put forward solutions for
resolving the risks for the consideration of the Board.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° The relevant risks are continuously and regularly monitored to
ensure that they are under control through appropriate internal
control procedures. If any significant changes arise, the risk
management policies and internal control procedures will be
amended, and the results of risk monitoring will be reported semi-
annually to the management and the Audit Committee of the
Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the management has reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems based on the above internal
audit report. The Audit Committee is of the view that that there are no
significant deficiencies in internal control. The Group will follow up all the
recommendations of the internal audit department as appropriate and
ensure that they are implemented in due course. As a result, the Board
considers that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community through its mandatory interim and annual reports
announcements.
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General meetings of the Company, including annual general meetings
and, where applicable, special general meetings, provide a useful
forum for the Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
chairman of the Board as well as chairlady/chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
pleased to answer the enquires raised by the Shareholders. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantially
separate issue, including the election of individual directors. All the
announcements and circulars are published on the Company’s website
(www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com) and on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

There were no changes made to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and Bermuda laws, the Directors
shall, on the requisition of Shareholder(s) who, at the date of the deposit
of the requisition, holds not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, proceed duly to convene an SGM of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the SGM and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

The request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”). Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the SGM.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene an SGM themselves, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the aforesaid
date of the deposit of requisition.

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of
the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 506,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The Company will
endeavour to respond to requisitionists’ enquires in a timely manner.

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at the AGM/SGM
which is to be held, such Shareholder should submit a written notice of
the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong. The
request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the Branch
Share Registrar. Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the AGM/SGM.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at the AGM/SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, which is as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes an ordinary
resolution of the Company.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 20
business days and excludes the date of the notice and the date
of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in the SGM or an ordinary resolution of
the Company in the AGM.
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Other than a retiring director, any person who is not recommended by
the Board shall not be eligible to be elected as a director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) have been lodged to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Suite 506, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong
Kong at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting. As required
by the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws, the period for lodging
notices will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than 10 clear business days prior to the date of such
general meeting, the Company will need to consider adjourning such
general meeting in order to allow the Shareholders to have 14 days’
notice (the notice period must include 10 clear business days) of the
proposal.
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Richly Field China Development Limited (hereinafter referred to as
the “Group”, the “Company” or “We”) is pleased to present this
environmental, social and governance (ESG) report (the “ESG Report”
or the “Report”). This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the
disclosure obligations under the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” (‘ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the “comply or explain” provisions
contained therein. The purpose is to allow all stakeholders to learn more
about the Group’s progress and development direction in respect of
operation and sustainable development. The Group understands the
importance of the ESG Report and is committed to making continuous
improvements in corporate social responsibility during our course
of business in order to better respond to the changing needs of the
advancing society.

The Board takes overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
ESG-related risks and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place.

Unless otherwise stated, the Group, based on the identified ESG risks,
focuses mainly on the impacts of our Changsha Outlets Project (the
“Changsha Project”) in Changsha, Hunan Province, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”), Qinhuangdao Outlets Project (the “Qinhuangdao
Project”) in the core area of International Healthy City, Beidaihe New
District, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province, the PRC and the residential and
commercial complex (the “Yinchuan Project”) in Yinchuan City, Ningxia
Hui Autonomous Region, the PRC on the major ESG aspects.

This ESG Report covers the Group’s overall ESG performance and
selected key performance indicators (“KPI”) during the year from 1 April
2018 to 31 March 2019 (the “Reporting Period”). A complete index
is appended in the last chapter hereof for reading this ESG Report in
accordance with the ESG Guide.
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The Group attaches great importance to valuable opinions from all AEE + 59 ERZHEHENEE = R
stakeholders. If you are in any doubt or have any opinion for this ESG  fiti B T ¥ AESGIRE FEF A &k =

Report, please feel free to contact us via E-mail info@richlyfield.com to & + #5 | # Zinfo@richlyfield.com &2 F {1
share your opinions and suggestions. NEERLEZE-
Stakeholders engagement is essential to the formulation of strategies — #¥ Tﬁ%ﬂ’] SHEHNGEAFEEREKE

for sustainable development. It allows the Group to understand the risks B 28 & - 3% 7~ £ [F B f7 [ o F1 *A%L AN S
and opportunities. The Group has identified key stakeholders that are #EF 7 ﬂ AEBEBREHEENHERTHD
important to the Group’s business and established various channels for & @ W& 7 & & & @

communication.

Stakeholders Expectation

FHE 1

Government — Comply with the laws
R —EBFEE

— Tax payment according to laws

— KA

— Promote economic development
and employment in the region

SEES

—HEEE

4

TR

Communication Key Measures to

Channel Respond

BEAX EENEZER

— On-site inspections and The Group operated and
checks managed according to

- REmEk RE laws, strengthened safety

— Research and discussion management, cooperated with

through work conferences,  government’s supervision,
work reports preparation and inspection and evaluation (if
submission for approval any), and actively fulfilled social
— BB ITEZH  TIERSE responsibilities.
MEREXIE RAERT AEERELEMER R
KRR ZE2ER REBRNHEE.
— Publication of information on & M FF{& (0148 ) » W& &
HKEXnews website, such as &t & & (T -
annual reports, interim reports
and announcements
—BERERGEESE
mER  MFH- P E®
HEERE
— Company’s website

— XA 4k



Stakeholders
B0 E

Shareholders
and Investors

BREEZEEE

Expectation

HE

— Return on investment

— 1% & Bl @

— Information disclosure and
transparency

—EREERERAE

— Protection of shareholders’
interests and fair treatment

- BERAMERAFFBERE

— Business risk management

—RERREE

Communication
Channel

BEAR

— Annual general meeting and
other shareholder meetings

- BREREAFAREG REMBKR
N

— Publication of information on
HKEXnews website, such as
annual reports, interim
reports and announcements

- BARGFEESE LT
AR MFR P HB
HEhkrE

— Meeting with investors and
analysts

—HEEERSDNAEHE

— Company’s website

— X &) 48

Key Measures to
Respond
BENEERE

The Group has issued notices
of general meetings and
proposed resolutions according
to regulations, disclosed
information about the Group

by publishing announcements/
notices and periodic reports.
The Group has also carried

out investor activities in various
forms, such as results briefing,
with an aim to enhance
investors’ recognition. The
Group disclosed the Company’s
contact details on website

and in reports to ensure all
communication channels are
available and effective.
AEEERBREZFMBREKX
ERERIEZRER ABE
HRdG/ BENMEBHRERE
REBEER I XEED
FERAREANKREEES
PlanxEEm EERaRE
ERAE - REBRB UL &R
EFRBEQRBATE  BR
FrEBAEEBAR A&



Stakeholders

BOE

Employees

1’8

Customers

5P

Expectation

E

Communication
Channel

BEAR

— Safeguard the rights and interests — Conferences

of employees

— R (B B #0 4B R R Bl 3

— Occupational health and safety

- BEREERELTE
— Working environment
—TFIRE

_ &%
B AR

— Trainings and seminars
—Hl R E

— Cultural and sport activities
- XfERBEES

— Intranet and emails

— Career development opportunities — A &5 48 #& & &E &8

- BExuERER#Ke
— Self-actualization
—BRER

— Safe and high-quality products
and services

L2 BEERERE

— Stable relationships

- REBRER

— Information transparency

—BErFERE

— Integrity

— 1=

— Business ethics

-—HEEE

— Performance appraisals

— B

— Website, brochures and
publication of information on
HKEXnews website, such as
annual reports, interim
reports and announcements

-y EE5M - BAEXS
Frig & 5 Muh B mE R
MER PHPZERRSE

— Emails and customer service
hotlines

- BEHREPRBERE

— Feedback forms

- B REEE

— Regular meetings

— e

Key Measures to
Respond
BENEEREE

The Group aims to provide

a healthy and safe working
environment and develops a fair
mechanism for promotion. The
Group has established labour
unions at all levels to provide
communication platforms for
employees.
AEEFHERE—ERE 2
B TIERE - Gl E R T & #
fle REERKUERIE A
EERHEBBTE

The Group has developed a
customer feedback system
in order to evaluate services

provided.
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Stakeholders Expectation
BoE FE
Suppliers/ — Long-term partnerships

Business Partners — K EA B &R

HER,/ — Honest cooperation
EBRH —HEAE
— Fairness and openness
— ¥ A
— Information resources sharing
—DEBERKIR
— Risk reduction
— F& 1K R F
Peer/ — Experience sharing
Industry —KBRo=
Associations — Cooperation
DEy4 —afE
TEmE T — Fair competitions

—RFEBFE

Communication
Channel

BEAR

— Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

- ¥R HEFEE-
B Ha

— Regular meetings

—EHEHR

— Reviews and assessments

% A M RT

— Emails, circulars and manuals

— B ek K F

— Company’s website

— A B4k

— Industry conferences
S

— On-site visits
—BEF

Key Measures to
Respond
BENEERE

The Group selected best
suppliers/business partners
through public tendering,
performed contracts according
to agreements, enhanced

daily communications,

and established long-term
cooperation relationship with
quality suppliers/business
partners.
AEBLAABFHEEESRE
HEER EBRH  RRHE
BiTE&RE MEBFER I
HEEHESEBBEHEY
RASERIEK-

The Group has insisted on

fair competitions, cooperated
with peers to realise win-win
situations, shared experience
and attended various seminars
of the industry so as to promote
sustainable development of the
industry.
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Stakeholders Expectation
BHE &
Market Regulators - Compliance with laws and
MZEEE regulations
— 8RR
— Information disclosures
— B R T
Public — Community involvement
HEAR —fmam
— Social responsibilities
- HeiFE
— Employment promotion
— R ERE

Communication
Channel

BEAR

— Information disclosure
— &=

— Reports

—$RE

— Voluntary work

—RIIfE

— Charity and social
investments

—ERENMHERE

Key Measures to
Respond
BENEEREE

The Group has strictly complied
with regulatory requirements

and disclosed and reported

true information in a timely and
accurate manner according to
laws.
AEBEBRETEERTE R
BAEIK EBHKRELZ
HREEEH-

The Group has given priority

to local citizens for job
opportunities so as to promote
community building and
development, and maintained
smooth communication channels
between the Group and the
community.
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The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation
and development and operation of featured commercial properties
(such as tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus),
development of high-end residential properties as well as property
management. However, the Group believes that it is the social
responsibility of all corporations to ensure that emissions of
pollutants and resource consumption are minimised and carbon
emissions is reduced. As a responsible enterprise, the Group
develops and continuously optimises its sustainable development
policy as a part of its commitment to green construction practices.
It also ensures our construction works and operations are in
compliance with stringent national regulatory requirements. For
such purpose, the Group aims to achieve its established targets
by reducing carbon dioxide emissions, resource consumption and
waste generation.

Exhaust Emission

The exhaust emission of the Group mainly derives from the
fuels used by vehicles and, to a small portion, from the direct
use of gas. As at 31 March 2019, the Group consumed an
aggregate of 73,596 litres of gasoline for vehicles with the
driving mileage of 537,261 km in total and an aggregate of
35,677 cubic meters of towngas. Despite the frequent needs
for use of vehicles due to the business nature of the Group,
employees are encouraged to take public transport as much
as possible for visiting customers’ companies and vehicles
of the Group are used only in special cases. Meanwhile, the
Group encourages employees to take electric public transport
whenever possible for meetings or activities and reduce the
use of private cars. For activities at nearby destinations, the
Group encourages employees to walk as far as possible
instead of taking the transportation.
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During the Reporting Period, exhaust emissions were as

follows:

Type of Exhaust BEEE
Nitrogen oxides REiy
Sulphur oxides maiy
Particulate matter EER R

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group’s main sources of greenhouse gas emissions
are direct emissions from combustion of fuels in stationary
and mobile sources, indirect emissions from electricity
consumption for office operation and indirect emissions
from taking air business trips by the employees. The Group
attaches great importance to adopting the energy saving
initiatives as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources”,
and reduces the impact of these emissions on the
environment by monitoring energy consumption.

Greenhouse gas emissions are partly generated from
combusting gasoline by the vehicles owned by the Group.
Meanwhile, greenhouse gas emissions are also generated
from electricity consumption for the Group’s office operation.
The Group aims to reduce electricity consumption in
daily operation as the amount of indirect greenhouse gas
emissions depends on the units of electricity consumed.
Specific measures adopted by the Group to reduce electricity
consumption are set out in the section headed “Use of
Resources — Electricity” of this ESG Report.

During the Reporting Period, employees travelled by plane
100 times for business trips. Those trips by air generated
an aggregate of 16.9 tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions.
Employees only take air business trips when necessary
as the Group pursues the policy of emissions reduction.
Under normal circumstances, the Group will arrange for
conference calls or video conferences instead of face-to-face
meetings to reduce indirect greenhouse gas emissions from
transportation.
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During the Reporting Period, greenhouse gas emissions were REFEEHAN BREREBHERD
as follows: T

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Unit Amount
BERBEHER B ¥E
Scope 1 — Direct Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 291.09
HEN-EEBMN WE—EALIRE &

Scope 2 — Energy Indirect Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 8,350.15
# [E2— 88 IR 5 HE WE —SEALIRE 2

Scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 16.91
& B3 — A fth A 52 HF WE R LR EE

Total Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 8,658.15
wE Wi | LIRE &

Notes: Bt o -

Scope 1: Direct emission from the stationary and mobile combustion
owned by the Group

Scope 2: Indirect emission generated by consumption of purchased
electricity by the Group

Scope 3:  Indirect emission from air business trips by employees of the
Group

Waste

Solid wastes produced during construction process mainly
include sand, cement, wood scrap, waste cement, waste
fiber, broken glass, metal scrap and ceramic tile, with an
aggregate discharge of 1,607.1 cubic meters during the
Reporting Period. With regard to the same, we actively
implemented various measures, including a recycling plan
under which we recycled certain useful materials for backfill
and road construction to ease the burden on landfills.
Furthermore, the Group did not discharge any hazardous
wastes during the Reporting Period.
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Moreover, in active response to the “Implementation Opinions
on Strengthening Ecological and Environmental Protection
and Resolutely Fighting Pollution Issued by the Party
Committee and the People’s Government of Hunan Province”
((himAZAmE ARBNBEN 2 E MR ERRER
HERITI SRR BB BN B E R) ) (Xiang Fa [2018]
No. 20) and the “Notice on Printing the Three-Year Action
Plan of Implementing Environmental Control and Winning the
Blue Sky Defense War (2018-2020) of Changsha City Issued
by the Party Committee and the People’s Government of
Changsha Municipality” ( (R HEDPTZED T ARBITE
RENEE (R [58 W RIF AR IR BORT B 85 R IR AT EK
= #1785 21(2018-2020)) #YFEA) ), we made strenuous
effort in preventing dust, managing vehicles, controlling
emissions, prohibiting burning and reducing consumption of
coal and petroleum.

Non-recyclable materials are sorted properly and sent to
designated sites for further treatment in accordance with
the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC and the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes. For non-
hazardous waste from operations, such as domestic waste
and kitchen waste, they are mainly collected and disposed
of by relevant municipal government departments. During
the Reporting Period, the domestic wastes discharged by
the Group amounted to 237.6 cubic meters, and all solid
construction wastes generated have been properly treated
in accordance with relevant regulations. In addition, the solid
wastes generated by the Group are also produced from daily
operation of offices, including daily paper consumption, office
paper waste and food wastes made by employees, etc.

The Group is committed to reducing waste production
and encourages employees to implement garbage sorting,
recycle stationery and reduce waste with an aim to reduce
waste production from the source. Moreover, the Group has
adopted a digital operation model to centralise the handling
of documents and regularly convey environmental protection
messages to employees. Permission is also required for
printing in the office for statistics and adjustments in respect
of paper usage in order to enhance resource utilization.
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The Group has established appropriate measures for the
disposal of computer and related products, such as printers
and toner cartridges. In case it is necessary to dispose of an
item, the Group also encourages employees to collect and
sort out the waste before disposing so as to reduce negative
impacts on the environment.

Sewage

The sewage in our project is primarily attributable to water
consumption for domestic and commercial usage, fire-
fighting, cleaning of vehicles and equipment as well as
wastewater from construction procedures. During the
Reporting Period, the total water consumption of the Group
was 148,423 cubic meters, and the amount of sewage
discharged in aggregate amounted to 10,264 cubic meters.
All sewage is collected and subject to sedimentation
treatment before it is discharged to municipal wastewater
pipe network, so as to minimise negative impacts on the
environment.
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The Group attaches great importance to the efficient use of
resources, and is committed to reducing waste of resources
in daily operation. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has complied with relevant laws and regulations in relation to
the use of energy. Since the Group has not engaged in the
manufacturing business, no packaging materials were used.
Resources used by the Group were mainly electricity, water
and paper.

Electricity

The Group acknowledges the importance of electricity
and energy saving and the fact that reducing electricity
consumption will indirectly reduce greenhouse gas emissions,
so the Group has promoted various energy saving strategies,
including:

° Implementation of roof greening projects

° Adoption of green lighting, such as switching to
environmental-friendly and energy-saving bulbs and
using natural light in offices

° Encouraging employees to switch off lights and turn off
power-consuming devices when they leave office

o Turning off idle machinery and facilities

o Activation of “sleeping mode” when computers are not
in use

The Group encourages employees to set office air-
conditioners at a moderate temperature and switch them off
when they are not in use to reduce electricity consumption.

All electricity consumption by the Group was directly from
daily office operation. During the Reporting Period, total
electricity consumption of the Group amounted to 9,032,758
KWh.

$%I%Fiﬁ§ﬁmﬁﬁﬂ
B -BOIREEREEETRDE
BRE -MNBERR AEEE
BT ABEERERMBREAR
FER - BARNAEB L ELEH
EER MY BERENSEM
BH-AEBEMBERIEZRE
N KRR

==
=1
AEBHBHHNENERNER
- BERARAEESHERIR

ERENHME AAKEER
EEEMEERE B

e EREIR#I(LIIZ

e EHimERY BEREMR
TR 80 RE BB T & E A A
ERap

o Xalﬁﬁﬂ’iﬁu
AERAER R FEE

o AR IEME R R Ay KA ]
EMRE

e HEREATEAEME A
RO TER] R
MAEZFHITE AEEEE
ERMAEEAREEETRE
R0 EE{EBEE LD
B
AEENAEREEHEZRAN

WAEMAFEEE RBEHA
AEEMHAELE FI,032,758
T BB o



Water

For general project management, the Group constantly
consumes water for washing roads and buildings. In order to
better conserve and utilise water resources, we have been
implementing the following water-saving measures in the
Reporting Period:

° Installation of sensor faucets at operating sites

° Timely maintenance of leaking faucets and pipes to
reduce wasting tap water

° Recycling of wastewater for dust removal, street
washing, vehicle tires cleaning at construction sites

° Recycling of water for irrigation of vegetation
° Constant monitoring and tracking of water consumption

o Enhancing water conservation awareness through
water conservation labels at the workplace

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate water
consumption of the Group amounted to 148,423 cubic
meters. The Group did not encounter any issues in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose.

Paper

The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures to minimise paper usage at the offices. Employees
are encouraged to use both sides of paper, and the back of
single-sided documents is used for printing or as draft paper
to achieve paper recycling. If possible, employees may use
the suitable font size and indentation to minimise the pages.
Besides, electronic media is recommended for circulation
and communication so as to minimise paper usage. During
the Reporting Period, the total office paper consumption was
8.28 tonnes.
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During the Reporting Period, total resource consumption was
as follows:

Use of Resources Unit
ERRA® By
Electricity consumption kWh
TR FRE
Water consumption Cubic metres
K H 7 S OK
Paper consumption Tonnes

R E 148

The Group will keep recording its resource consumption for
reviewing effectiveness of its conservation measures in the
future and formulating more specific improvement measures
and objectives.

Regarding the operation of the Group, we were not aware of
any significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources. With the implementation of green office
measures, we strived to minimise impacts on the environment
and natural resources. Meanwhile, the Group enhanced
staff’'s awareness on environmental issues through education
and trainings, promoted environmental protection awareness
amongst its customers, business partners and shareholders,
supported community activities in relation to environmental
protection and sustainability, and regularly evaluated and
monitored business activities that had and has an impact
on health, safety and environmental matters. Leveraging on
the policies mentioned in the sections headed “Emissions”
and “Use of Resources” above, the Group will continue to
implement environment-friendly practices in the Group’s
operation in order to enhance environmental sustainability.
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The Group regards employees as the cornerstone of its corporate
operation and development. Therefore, the Group attaches great
importance to the training and welfare of employees, and is committed
to providing a working environment with job satisfaction. The Group
provides competitive remuneration and sound promotion opportunities to

facilitate career development of employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with labour
legislations and related regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. The
Group was not involved in any confirmed violation relating to employment
that have a significant impact on the Group.

B1.

Employment B1.
The Group aims to attract and retain talents, ensures a safe and
equal working environment for employees, provides development
opportunities and promotes employees’ health and well-being.
The Group has formulated the Staff Handbook according to
relevant labour regulations, covering the Group’s remuneration and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, leave and
standards of other rights and benefits. The Group strictly complied
with the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the

PRC and other applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 277 employees
including Directors, with the employee structure as follows:

Management

and technical

personnel

Gender and age % Bl & F iR BEERMAE
Male Bk

18-25 18-255% 0

25-30 25-30%% 4

30-40 30-40%% 14

40-50 40-50%% 7

Elder than 51 5158 A £ 5

Total &a&t 30
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General
production
personnel Total
EEEEAR &t
7 7
14 18
38 52
45 52
17 22
121 151



Management
and technical

personnel
Gender and age Bl & F iR BEERMAE
Female 7
18-25 18-2573% 1
25-30 25-307% 0
30-40 30-408% 16
40-50 40-508% 3
Elder than 51 515% A £ 1
Total &5t 21

Talent Acquisition and Retention

Our staff is the core assets for maintaining long-term
competitiveness and the key to business success. We have
a fair and equitable talent selection system, which undergoes
optimisation from time to time for talent recruitment. We have also
formulated annual recruitment plans and filled positions according
to the principle of “internal transfer before external recruitment”,
so as to provide internal promotion and transfer opportunities
for existing staff. The Group recruits external candidates through
the company website, recruitment websites, talent markets,
newspapers and media, headhunters and staff referral. We strive
to maintain fairness, openness and transparency throughout the
recruitment and promotion process, and select talents based on
candidates’ merits, such as their job experience, skills, educational
background, communication skills and personal qualities.

The Group adheres to the principle of employing talents with
both ability and moral integrity, and regards morality, knowledge,
ability and performance as the main evaluation criteria, so as to
put talents at suitable positions and retain talents. The Group has
formulated a set of staff performance appraisal mechanism, in
which appropriate remuneration adjustment is made annually based
on staff performance to reduce talent loss.

General

production
personnel Total
EEEXEAB &5t
2 3
34 34
40 56
17 20
1 2
94 1156
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Remuneration and Benefits

We offer reasonable and competitive salary and benefits to staff.
Employees are awarded a salary rise and promotion based on
their job performance, as well as regular results and performance
appraisal. We make timely contribution to five social insurances (i.e.,
pension, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity
insurance, and occupational injury insurance) and the housing fund
(HEB—%), mandatory provident fund and labour insurance in
strict accordance with the Social Security Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China. Apart from basic statutory holidays, wedding and funeral
leave, maternity leave, work-related injury leave, annual leave and
family planning leave, employees are also entitled to other staff
benefits including allowances for working luncheon, transportation
and communication. These benefits boost employees’ sense of
belonging to the Group, create a good working atmosphere and
enhance enterprise cohesion.

We have also set up canteens for staff. Food preparation staff is
required to submitted his/her health certificate and body check
report issued within three months before taking up duties, and is
subject to annual body check. The staff is required to wear chef hat,
mask, apron, plastic shoes and other protective gears in the course
of food preparation. We have obtained the Food Hygiene Permits
as required by local regulations and assigned dedicated personnel
to specially design nutritious meals with well-balanced proportion
of meat and vegetables for staff to enjoy in a clean and healthy
setting.
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Equal Opportunities and Diversity

As a part of our commitment to diversity, we are dedicated
to creating a diverse and inclusive workplace and protecting
employees from discrimination and harassment. We have
formulated employment policy in strict compliance with the Labor
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Labor Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China. Employees are offered equal
opportunities in terms of recruitment, training, promotion, transfer,
compensation, benefits provision and termination of contract,
regardless of their age, gender, physical state, marital status,
family status, race, colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation,
sexual orientation, etc. We require our staff to conform to our anti-
discrimination practices set out in the Employee Code of Conduct.

We also place high value on female employees’ career development
by ensuring that they have the same promotion opportunities as
male staff. We also comply with the requirements of the Law on
the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests of the People’s
Republic of China, which stipulates that female employees are
entitled to basic salary and their employment contracts will not
be released or terminated, without cause, during their pregnancy,
maternity leave or breastfeeding period.

FEEERZTIE
ER—EZ2TdZE HZMBANR/ETL
Bl % B A TIERE - (RE b M
R FUE AR R EEE - R B KR (P
EAREKMEALEHE) R(PEAR
HAEBEE R E) 6l FE EFBE -
Z—E?ﬁﬁﬁ =il I A A I
FMEKLLEEHNEETERETSOH
g EmRAAER - R FEMKR -
ﬁﬁﬁlflﬂﬁxﬁ REMMU - ZEk B B
?}5( BUOAREZMMEER M A 15
EXVERBHRe -BKMEEBEITA
SFAFIBAREREH WERKET
H=Fo

BPARBERLEE INREER
BMRAZMETIHERESETFSERK

WER (PEARXME G 2
BmREZX) B MBI TEHEE
Z2ER BIHEFRREWNERE
BB IIEDERALRELBESERN
TEMER-



B2. Health and Safety

In strict accordance with the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Law on Occupational Disease Prevention and Control of
the People’s Republic of China, we put employees’ health and
safety as the top priorities and are dedicated to providing a safe
workplace. A comprehensive Occupational Health Program is
implemented to identify occupational health hazards, assess risks in
the work place, adopt control measures and organize seminars and
workshops. We regularly designate officers to inspect construction
sites, and check whether employees are wearing protective gears
as required. Employees of special categories, such as electrical
technicians, must possess nationally recognised qualifications and
pass the examination before they are allowed to work. During the
Reporting Period, no serious work injury incident occurred within
the Group. For laws and regulations in Mainland China in relation
to the occupational health standards and safe production, there
was no violation of the laws and regulations regarding the provision
of safe working environment by the Group during the Reporting
Period. The Group has always maintained work-related injury
insurance for all employees in accordance with the Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China.

In addition, the Group has implemented a series of policies to

create and maintain a favourable, comfortable and healthy working

environment:

o to maintain obstruction-free emergency exits at workplace;

° to provide a workplace with adequate illumination and
moderate temperature;

° to prohibit smoking at workplace; and

° to conduct safety inspections and fire prevention training
regularly.

B2.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group has provided comprehensive trainings to employees,
including face-to-face trainings, sharing among departments,
online learning and internal and external trainings according to the
Group’s Staff Handbook and other related internal policies. The
Group has provided employees with diversified on-the-job trainings.
Orientation trainings were offered to new employees with respect
to skills and knowledge trainings and attitude building. Skills and
knowledge trainings and attitude building allow new employees to
be familiar with the corporate culture and the background of the
Company. According to job duties and company development, the
Group provides employees with skills and trainings. Continuous
assessments are conducted to keep track on the performance of
employees.

Trainings covered a variety of topics in order to cater for employees
from different departments, for instance, management skills and
trainings related to medical devices. The Group believes that the
development of employees are crucial to sustainable corporate
development. The Group will enhance the training system in order
to promote personal development of employees. Training courses
held during the Reporting Period primarily covered:

o New Employee Orientation

o Training on company policies and rules

° Financial training for management

° Training on administrative, financial and internal control
systems, etc.

° Training on the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange
° Training on property selling skills

o Training on bank mortgage policy

o Training on legal knowledge of property delivery

° Training on store management skills and salespeople
etiquette

B3.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RiG-HHBREGIKRS

° Business etiquette and business writing training
° Skills and safety training for maintenance staff

o Training on fire safety, security management system and
vehicle management system

° Production safety and relevant laws and regulations

° Training on quality and safety control of construction sites
° Training on points to note in tendering and bidding

o Training on emergency issues

o Training on individual career development
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Number of

employees

trained

Employees training 8 Tl T AE
Senior management SEREBEEAE 14
Administrative staff THRAE 67
Other staff HEMmAE 26
Total 48 = 107

Training on financial system conducted by the
Group for employees during the Reporting Period
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78 Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2019



B4. Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in the
PRC. The Group tolerates no child labour or forced and compulsory
labour, allows no employment of child labour or forced and
compulsory labour which are prohibited by international standards
and relevant regulations in the PRC. Before employment, new
employees shall show their ID cards to avoid child labour. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance regarding child labour, forced or compulsory labour in
its operation.

Upholding Employee Rights

The Group is committed to protecting human rights, and has
established a respectful, honest and fair working environment for
employees and customers and complied with all relevant laws
and regulations. Laws and regulations relating to employment and
labour which would have significant impacts on the Group include
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China. There was no
significant violation by the Group during the Reporting Period.

We do not encourage working overtime and employees should
not work over 40 hours in a week. In case of necessary overtime,
employees are required to submit the Overtime Application Form
and may work overtime only after the application is approved.
Overtime is compensated with day-offs within three months.
We established staff complaint management procedure, under
which, employees may file written complaint to the competent
department or through the trade union in case of forced labour
or unfair treatment. They may also make verbal complaints to the
management directly.

Operational Practices

The Group believes that the best operational practices are keys to
the realisation of sustainable development and long-term corporate
growth. Our qualities of integrity, honesty and fairness have also
been reflected in the Code of Business Conduct, Employee Code
of Conduct, supply chain management, environmental protection
practices and product assurance.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that establishing sustainable supply chain and
facilitating interaction and communication with suppliers and banks
could improve confidence of customers and other stakeholders
on the Group. We are dedicated to creating quality living style for
customers and building top-notch projects. We see product quality
as the key, and hence the selection of suppliers and construction
materials are crucial processes.

Our suppliers must be selected from our List of Qualified Suppliers
and we regularly monitor and review suppliers’ performance.
In parallel with a fair and open procurement system, we have
also developed the tendering procedure and the Tendering and
Procurement Management System for standardised procurement
process. Suppliers are required to comply with relevant laws,
regulations and contractual obligations. In order to regulate
suppliers’ practices in health and safety, human resources,
environmental protection and business ethics, we formulated
the Supplier Code of Conduct and make sure they have met
the requirements of the code before entering into cooperation
agreement. As a supporter of green procurement, we give priority
to the environmental friendly and energy saving products with an
aim of minimising environmental impact.

Through continuous monitoring and evaluation, we ensure that
our contractors and other suppliers understand their duties
and responsibilities, and conduct planning, management and
supervision of all employees’ works in a meticulous manner.
Appropriate instructions and regular trainings are provided to
workers. Only qualified, trained, skilful and experienced workers are
allowed to work at the construction sites. With full implementation
of the above measures, we have created a green, harmless and
safe working environment. Thus, we believe there are no significant
environmental and social risks for our management decision on
supply chain management.
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B6. Product Responsibility

Providing efficient and high-quality services to customers have
always been the utmost concern for the Group. The Group’s
objective is that customers have confidence in our services and
they are provided with sufficient information to make informed
choices. To improve service quality of the Company, the Company
launches its consumer complaint service hotline, sets up complaint
box and complaint service reception, and conducts site visits and
regular visits in order to have in-depth understanding on actual
demands and development targets of customers. By establishing
long-term and good cooperation with customers, the Company
has efficiently supported the economic development in the
regions of operation and indirectly facilitated employment in those
regions. Meanwhile, the Group has proactively acquired customer
feedbacks, including feedbacks from site visits and feedbacks by
phone. Therefore, the Group has a set of policies and procedures
in place to monitor and control quality, so as to ensure customers’
opinions are efficiently collected and handled.

The Group maintains strict compliance with national and industry
regulations to safeguard the information rights of our customers.
The Sales Management Handbook has been established to make
sure all our marketing and information materials comply with laws
and regulations such as the Regulatory Measures on the Sale of
Commercial Houses (& m /5 #HE BIEH)%E) , the Measures for
the Management of Pre-Sale of Urban Commercial Houses (¥
TEMEREEEIENZE), the Uban Real Estate Administration
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( Ff % A R MBI 1 & i
EEIEE), the Regulations on the Administration of Exploitation
and Operation of Urban Real Estate (3= I E M B KL E I8
1&11) , Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China (7 &
ARZMEEER) and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FFEARKMBE R TEEFHFE),
such that detailed information of our properties is given throughout
the transparent sales process. We also distribute handbooks to our
tenants during the leasing process, which sets out detailed fitting
and fixtures guidelines. Our business does not involve any labelling,
with no false advertisements published that harm the interest of
consumers.
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Quality Management

The Group collects customers’ feedback on services provided and
designated staff would report the same to the management. The
Group has also issued the Staff Operational Manual and organised
training sessions to familiarise employees with the standard
operational procedures. The Group is committed to providing
quality services to customers through enhancing the senior
management’s administrative ability and the strength of operation
employees.

Richly Field recognises that product quality is essential for
corporate credibility. It is always our goals to become a diversified
property developer that defines quality of life, construct state-of-
the-art buildings, offer superior property management services
and carry out routine maintenance for creating an integrated and
safe community. We aim to develop into a reliable and dedicated
property developer, and shoulder the responsibility to control and
ensure high business quality and safety. To this end, we have
built a well-established and comprehensive quality management
system to maintain strict quality control of completed units and
rigid acceptance standards, so that all units meet customers’
requirements. Meanwhile, we launch a consumer complaint service
hotline, set up complaint box and complaint service reception,
and collect feedback and suggestions from tenants and residents
from time to time, which we incorporate into our building quality
controls and assurance procedures. We continue to look for ways
to enhance our products and services in order to create five-star
lifestyle experience.

Major quality control and assurance procedures at each stage of
the project:

a)  Design
° Anticipate end-user needs in building design

° Respond to customer feedback
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Construction
° Select high-quality materials that meet the strict
requirements and standards

° Adopt the zero-tolerance policy on the use of
substandard materials

° Perform regular on-site progress and quality checks
by a team of representatives from engineering, design
and cost control departments and other related
professionals

° Ensure all progress and collection of data are in good
documentation for record and report

Pre-sale

° Examine the buildings by professionals to ensure
compliance with quality standards

° Perform quality checks to ensure there is no defect

Delivery

° Conduct final check against the checklist of indicators

by the handover team prior to delivery

° Disclose accurate and consistent information to

customers

After-sale

° Provide questionnaires to customers to gather
feedback

° Establish a maintenance schedule based on the
conditions and safety of all buildings to guarantee timely
responses to malfunction or defect
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B7.

Protection of Customer Data and Privacy

The Company handles significant amount of personal data and
credit information of customers. The Group upholds a belief that
information security and privacy are key principles for operation.
The Company’s employees are required to sign a confidentiality
agreement acknowledging receipt and agreement of their
responsibility and obligation regarding the protection and non-
disclosure of customer data. In addition, information can only be
used in authorised business activities. Employees disclosing such
information to other parties is considered as data theft. Related
employees shall bear corresponding responsibility.

During the Reporting Period, there was no noted case of violation of
relevant laws or regulations regarding product responsibility

Anti-corruption

The Company is committed to upholding ethics and integrity
during the operation process. No form of corruption or bribery
is tolerated. Sound judgements for transactions with customers,
suppliers, contractors, job seekers, colleagues or any other third
party should be ensured. All applicable laws and regulations
shall be duly complied with and the Letter of Responsibility for
Clean Governance was signed by the Company, so as to always
maintain the highest standard of integrity. During the Reporting
Period, the Company rigidly abided by the Anti-Money Laundering
Law of the People’s Republic of China ( RZE A R A E & 508
7%) and other laws and regulations in respect of anti-corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering and signed the
Letter of Responsibility for Clean Governance. Reference to the
aforesaid laws and regulations, the Company has developed
the “Anti-Money Laundering Policy”, which provided that staff
of the business department shall learn potential customers’
background completely through consulting documentation and
communicating with customers according to relevant internal
guidance before commencing business dealings with them. The
Company’s risk management department also collects information
of current customers in respect of uses of proceeds, sources of
repayment funding and operational conditions for the purpose of
risk management. The risk management department also acquires
their latest information from time to time and reports to the senior
management once abnormal situation is identified.
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B8.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Group’s relevant policies,
employees may question suspected misconduct or misconduct
orally or in writing. The Group will make every effort to treat all
reports in a strictly confidential way. The identity of the reporting
and complaining employee is not allowed to be disclosed without
his/her consent, unless the Group is legally obliged to disclose the
employee’s identity and other information. In case of suspected
corruption or other criminal offences, the Group will report to the
applicable departments.

The Group has always strictly complied with relevant laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, no corruption behaviour
nor litigation by the Group or employees of the Group has been
noticed.

Community Investment

The Group deeply realised the importance of returning to the
society and spared no effort in providing help to community. The
Group strongly encouraged its staff to participate in community
activities and contribute to the sustainable development of the
harmonious society. Looking forward, the Group will continue to
focus on community care and staff development with an aim to
improve the society through participation in the community.
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Mr. Li Yi Feng (“Mr. Li"), aged 56, was re-designated as an executive
Director, chairman of the Board, chief executive officer, chairman of
the nomination committee of the Board, member of the remuneration
committee of the Board and the authorised representative of the
Company under the Listing Rules on 31 January 2019.

Mr. Li has been engaged in construction planning, design, real estate
and commercial properties over 30 years and has gained extensive
experience in planning, development, operation and management.
He has a great wealth of experience in asset acquisition and mergers,
business negotiations and capital operations.

Mr. Li obtained his Master's degree in Architecture from Xi'an Institute
of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering (now renamed as Xi'an
University of Architecture and Technology). In addition, Mr. Li obtained his
certificate of completion from Ontario Real Estate College in Canada.

Since 1985, Mr. Li has been engaging in architecture teaching,
architecture study and design work. Since 2002, Mr. Li joined Homelife
(Canada) and RE/MAX (Canada), offering consultancy services on
residential and commercial property investments. Mr. Li joined the
Company in early 2009 as the chief design officer. Since 2011, Mr. Li has
served as the director of Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,

Ltd* (#E=ZES (L) REERABRAF) .

Following the Re-designation, Mr. Li has been appointed as a director
of each of the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely Chuang
Yu Holdings Limited, Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited, Globe Outlets
City Limited, Mile Gain Limited, Million Harmony Holdings Limited, Million
Harmony Limited, Pilot Will Holdings Limited, Pilot Will Limited, Profuse
Gain Holdings Limited, Profuse Gain Limited, Quality Depot Limited,
Richly Field Hainan Holdings Limited, King Future Holdings Limited and
King Future Limited with effect from 31 January 2019.
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Mr. Chen Wei (“Mr. Chen”), aged 47, was re-designated as an executive
Director and the vice president of the Company on 21 March 2018.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in aspects related to project
planning and construction management. Mr. Chen graduated from
Jinling Vocational University* (4 % Bt 2 K 22) studying in decoration
and construction management. He was accredited as an engineer by
Nanjing Construction Engineering Intermediate Professional Qualification
Assessment Committee* (FA R T 225 T TP REXHMERT
FZBF)in December 2012. During the period from March 2015 to
July 2017, Mr. Chen received further education in Zhongshan Vocational
College majoring in society related works and completed all the required
curriculums under the vocational teaching plan. He has been engaging in
construction management since 1996 and was the chairman of Nanjing
First Construction Engineering Group Company Limited* (7 ;= 5 — £ 5
TiREE AR A7) from 2008 to 2013.

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 November 2013 and has been
the chairman of the audit and remuneration committees of the Company
since 28 January 2014. She has over 20 years’ experience in accounting.
Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu had been working
with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner of Ernst & Young
before she retired from the firm in February 2011.

Ms. Hsu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Hsu is currently an independent non-executive director
of Perfect Shape (PRC) Holdings Limited (stock code: 1830) and China
Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited (Stock code: 334).
Beside, Ms. Hsu is also an independent non-executive director of Circle
International Holdings Limited (CCH) whose shares are listed on the
National Stock Exchange of Australia (NSX).
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Ms. Hsu served as an independent non-executive director of each of
Titan Petrochemicals Group Ltd. (stock code: 1192) from December
2015 to May 2016 and BC Technology Group Limited (KY) (Stock Code:
0863) from April 2012 to May 2018. All the aforesaid companies are listed
on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Tak Chun (“Mr. Wong”), aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 3 September 2018.

He is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries, and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
in the United Kingdom. He obtained a bachelor degree in Economics
from the University of British Columbia in 2005 and obtained a master
degree in corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2014. Mr. Wong has thirteen years of experience in
accounting, corporate governance, corporate finance, capital markets,
and investor relations. He worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from
August 2005 to May 2010. From May 2010 to June 2013, he served
as the company secretary and finance manager of Central China Real
Estate Limited (stock code: 0832). He served as the deputy chief financial
officer since February 2014 and the company secretary since April 2014
of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (stock code: 1107) until January
2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief financial officer
of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited* ( 137 8 F+ B
ByREZAR AT ) in Hunan, the People’s Republic of China, from
March 2016 to February 2017. Since February 2017, Mr. Wong has
worked as the chief financial officer and company secretary of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3688). Since 17 January
2017, Mr Wong has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (stock code: 8417).
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Mr. Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 April 2014. He graduated from Tianjin
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Tianjin Institute Of Textile
Science and Technology) with a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. In addition, Mr. Xu completed
a course of management science and engineering for postgraduate
research students in Nanjing University. Mr. Xu had served as the general
manager of Nanjing Yuexing International Home Square Limited* ( #&=
AEBBRREES AR AR and the general manager of the Furniture
Centre at Nanjing Golden Eagle International Shopping Centre Group
Limited* (FA R & BRI EYEEBR A REER L), and the chairman
of Nanjing Meitu Furniture Company Limited* (F REEB/FE AR A
A)) . Mr. Xu is currently the vice president of the association of home
decoration of the china federation of industry and commerce* (2 & T
ERERMHERE S ), the vice chairman of the Market Committee of
China Furniture Association* (R BIR BB EMHZEZE ), the honorary
president of Guangdong Furniture Chamber Of Commerce* ( &R & X8
FELEER), the chairman of Xiamen Meitu Mei Network Technology
Company Limited* (EFIEE ZEH LR ER A A) and the vice
president of the Xiyingmen Group* (E&FI£E) .

* For identification purpose only
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The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 2
November 2009, details of which were disclosed in the Company’s
circular dated 15 October 2009. Particulars of the Scheme are set out
below:

The purpose of the Scheme is to recruit and retain high caliber
Eligible Persons (as defined below) that are valuable to the Group
or any entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity
interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested Entities”), to recognize the
significant contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of the
Group by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership
interest in the Company and to give incentives to the eligible
participants to continue in contributing to the long term success
and prosperity of the Group.

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive
or officer, manager, executive director, non-executive director
(including independent non-executive director) of the Group or
any Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

The total number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue of the Company as at the date
upon which the Scheme takes effect in accordance with its terms
(“Scheme Mandate”).

The Company may seek approval by the Shareholders in general
meeting for refreshing the Scheme Mandate provided that the
total number of shares in respect of which share options may be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company under the Scheme Mandate as refreshed must not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue of the Company
as at the date of the Shareholders’ approval.
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The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from
time to time. No share options may be granted if such grant will
result in this 30% limit being exceeded.

As at the date of this annual report, no shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme.

As at 31 March 2019, no share options were exercisable.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of share options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue;

(i)  a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5 million in
aggregate value.

Any further grant of share options in excess of the above limit shall
be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify
at the time of grant.
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At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must specify the
minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of twenty business days from the date of offer and
consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

The exercise price must be at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in daily quotations
sheet on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days

immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a share.
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The Scheme has a life of ten years and will expire on 1 November
2019 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme.

A total of 283,200,000 share option had been granted under the
scheme in 22 December 2009

Notes:

The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the
Performance Target (as defined below) during the following period in the following
manner:

1. the first 25% of the share options granted were vested on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2011 in which
Performance Target was met and the exercise period for this tranche
is from the date of results announcement for the year ending 31 March
2011 to 21 December 2015;

2. the second 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2012 in which
Performance Target was not met;

3. the third 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ended 31 March 2013 in which
Performance Target was not met;

4. the final 25% of the share options granted were lapsed on the date
of results announcement for the year ending 31 March 2014 in which
Performance Target was not met;

5. upon completion of the open offer, the outstanding share options and the
exercise price was adjusted with effect from 11 August 2015; and

6. For the twelve month ended 31 March 2019 (including as at the
beginning and as at the end of such period), no share options had been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled and there was no share option
granted to eligible period under the scheme which was outstanding.
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The vesting of the share options is subject to the achievement
of the rate of return on equity of the Group of not less than 12%
(“Performance Target”) for each of the financial years ending 31
March 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 respectively based on the
reported figures as contained in the annual report of the Group
for the relevant financial year. If the Performance Target is met
in a particular financial year, the share options associated with
that financial year will be vested and can be exercised. If the
Performance Target is not met in a particular financial year, the
share options associated with that financial year will be lapsed
automatically.

The fair value of each share option granted was estimated on
the date of offer using the Binomial model with the following
assumptions:

Date of offer 22 December 2009

Share price at date of offer HK$0.425
Exercise price : HK$0.428
Risk-free interest rate : 2.017%
Expected dividend : Nil
Expected volatility : 76.46%
Expected life (year) 1.3t04.3

Based on the above assumptions, the computed fair value of each
share option was approximately within the range from HK$0.18 to
HK$0.27. The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price
volatility. Any changes in the subjective input assumptions may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of a share option.
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

ferkPFa
Shme‘zomg

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and

continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Richly
Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 106
to 243, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BHEETEBRRARLIRR

(RESHETMHLRRERENE
BEZHRAA])

EEREZENEZFEI106E243H FrE 14 A
FEERBRLAR ([E2R)])REMBA
Al (mEAIESRE]) 2aeWBmE I
ZHBHEROENR _E-AFE=A=+—
Az BRAREREBEEZEZBLEFEZ
GeEakEME2ERERE GEED
BFHYREGEReRER UREAYVB
®EMFT (BEERSTHEHRE) -

EEYAY BEEIBANBRRER
ER - BREZrRENERGERPE
E-GHMEE I EEN  TEALDA
AR BHERAEAEEREEA
MHHRE s BHEL Y EE RAEHM
FH EERA BAWEBREEREBA
TP RERE SR



As described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group reported net loss of approximately HK$268,297,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019 and as at 31 March 2019, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$831,156,000, which included
principals and interest payables of the Group’s certain bank borrowings
and notes payables that are in default and therefore the lenders have the
right to demand immediate repayment of the entire outstanding balances
as at 31 March 2019. Details of which are set out in note 2.1. As at
the same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$75,114,000 only. These conditions, together with other
matters as described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, and to
remediate the delayed payments which are set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, including the repayment of defaulted
interest before the date of this report. In addition, the Group has been
in active negotiation with the bank and notes holder for the renewal
or extension of the repayment terms of the outstanding principals and
accrued interests.

The consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these
measures, which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i)
the successful renewal or extension of the repayment terms of the
outstanding principals and interests of the bank borrowings and
notes payable, (i) the successful acceleration of pre-sales and sales
of properties under development and speeding up the collection of
sales proceeds and (i) continuous financial support from the related
parties. Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans
and measures, it might not be able to continue as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 % e R S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report, solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: PO6623
Hong Kong

28 June 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross (loss) profit

Write-off of completed properties
held for sales

Gain on revaluation of
investment properties

Other income and gain

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Share of results of associates

Loss before tax

Income tax expense
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income (expense)
Item that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of properties from
change in use, net of tax

Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Share of other comprehensive expense of

associates

Other comprehensive (expense) income
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Loss per share
Basic

Diluted

Notes
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2019

o
HK$°000
T
284,184

(307,917)

(23,733)

2,590
488
(11,571)
(88,645)
(138,001)
(1,982)

(260,854)

(7,443)

(268,297)

(28,842)

(1,924)

(30,766)

(30,766)

(299,063)

HK$ 78T

(1.15) cents &4l

(1.15) cents Al
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HK$'000
TAET

195,338

(157,862)

37,476
(171,066)

11,636

(381,761)

(9,869)

(391,630)

30,612

(4,335)

(4,335)

26,277

(365,353)
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(2.79) cents 1l



As at 31 March 2019
RZZE—NF=A=+—H

3,020,337

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B FHxT FHET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB M 14 31,095 34,996
Investment properties HEME 15 1,492,566 1,391,525
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT i E 16 644,699 709,186
Interests in associates /NI o 17 56,750 39,976
Available-for-sale investment AHEERE 18 - 2,724
Financial asset designated at BEAEATETAEM
fair value through other 2EE (HEAFE
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") AR EmKE]) 2
TRIEE 18 2,724 -
Prepaid construction costs SEAREES dn N 24 = 37,343
Goodwiil RS 19 116,650 124,878
2,344,484 2,340,628
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development Y 20 1,804,630 1,407,476
Completed properties held for sales FEHE R ITYE 21 98,556 441,433
Inventories BE 22 = -
Trade receivables JE Wi AR 3R 23 14,959 13,216
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE SR
receivables Hfth fE Y 3R IE 24 195,922 839,643
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEER 25 75,114 14,848
2,189,181 2,716,616
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FEAT AR X 26 701,384 472,914
Receipts in advance, other payables and & Uk 218 - H 4th e+ 2B K2
accruals fEEtE A 27 623,691 983,888
Contract liabilities aHamE 27 176,019 -
Amounts due to related parties JEAS B 5 7B 28 98,438 203,334
Interest-bearing bank and other ETERITREMMER
borrowings 29 1,192,819 174,470
Notes payable NS 30 93,471 88,114
Provisions B 31 6,745 7,221
Tax payable JERT IR 127,770 140,318

2,070,259



As at 31 March 2019
RZZE—NF=A=+—H

Net current (liabilities) assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income
Amounts due to related parties
Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves

Total equity

e (AR EEFE

REERABAEE

FRBEE
EFEW A
FE R T 50R
At BERTT R EAB AR

ELEBIAEAR

BEEFH

R
BERITHA
fré £5

A

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 243 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June

2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Li Yi Feng

ZhRERE
Director

EF

2019

—E-NEF

Notes HK$’000

B 5 FExT
(831,156)

1,513,328

27 65,004

28 683,576

29 279,792

32 100,057
1,128,429

384,899

33 1,166,834
(781,935)

384,899

2018

—E-N\F

HK$'000
FTAET

646,357

2,986,985

69,588
772,598

1,366,560
99,416

2,308,162

678,823

1,166,834
(488,011)

678,823

F106E243B v BREEN_E
—NEXNAZ+N\BEESSHEREE

T YR TINEERREE:

Mr. Chen Wei
PRET A&
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Notes:

@

The contributed surplus represents the surplus arising on reduction of paid-up
capital during the year ended 31 March 2004.

The reorganisation reserve represents the carrying amount of net liabilities
of subsidiaries, net of expenses, being disposed of under the schemes of
arrangement under section 166 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and section 99 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended time to time). Both schemes of arrangement
were sanctioned by the High Court of Hong Kong and the Supreme Court of
Bermuda on 27 May 2008 and 13 June 2008, respectively.

The statutory reserve funds represents 10% of the profit after tax of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries appropriate to the reserve as stipulated by
the relevant laws and regulations for certain subsidiaries in the PRC, until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital and thereafter any further
appropriation is optional.

Other reserve represents () the difference between the considerations paid to
obtain additional non-controling interests and its carrying amount of the net
assets on the date of the acquisition, which the excess of the fair value of the
consideration over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired has been
debited directly to equity; (i) the deemed contributions from shareholders that
arisen from the difference between the initial fair value and cash receipts on the
loans from related parties; (i) the deemed contribution from shareholder that
arisen from the excess of the net identifiable assets acquired over the fair value
of ordinary shares of the Company issued upon a business combination; and
(iv) the deemed contribution from shareholder that arisen from the excess of
the carrying amounts of indebtedness capitalised over the fair value of ordinary
shares of the Company issued.

GEE

BABBREHEZE _TTENF=A=+—HI
FEEIRCSURBAMES 2 8-

BHRFEEREEE QRGN (FBEPIFE32
B)F166EEARE-NAN—FRANE (K
REHER]) FOMRIR I 2 B EE L P8I
EZMBARZ AEFE 2 REE (R
X&) BERBEERRARERSERD 5
RIZBZNFAA-TEARZZEENER
A+=RBEBEHREERYE -

FERMBEIEREPEETHEQRBRE
BRERZRERARRHBENEB LR 25K
BIEBMZI0%RERE EEXREERT
MEARZ50% " M AR S E R E— 8
Bk

Hib @I () SEISRERINEEBER T N 2
REEEEFEAWBERHZEmMEERE M
REQAFEBREMUBNEEFEREEZ
ZR DEEREETHIR: (PREEERZ
ERZEEAFERREWAZ ZEMESL
FAR RIEROTE ¢ (i) 2k B PTURE 2 Al A E
FEBRAREBAHRARRMETERR
ZAHEZ ZRMEENBBRERTE  R(v)
KEBEBENMEMEBARNARMETE
BERATEZEZBEMEENERREIIE -



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income
Finance costs
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on revaluation of
investment properties
Amortisation of prepaid land
lease payments
Impairment loss of completed
properties held for sales
Write-off of completed
properties held for sales
Reversal of provision for compensation
Share of results of associates

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables
(Increase) decrease in properties under
development and completed properties
held for sales
Decrease (increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Increase in trade payables
Decrease in receipts in advance,
other payables and accruals
Decrease in contract liabilities

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

ReEs
B ¢ Al 5 18
NSRRI
RITH B UA
MEEH
HEVE BELREBZ
&1
WME BERRBITE

BREMFEZEH RS
B LB E R i

FIEHEZRIYMELZ
B BB
FEHE 2R T EMH

FESBEERD
FERERE N RIREA

BEESEBRCKLRENRE

FE Y BRFR (FB00) I
EREMENBIELREZ
BT () s

BNFIE e REM
FE M R IR > ($Eh0)
JE& A< R SRIE AN
TE R IE ~ H A IR K
FEET BRI
BHRERD

ReTHELE (FA)REFH

2019
ot
HK$'000
FERT
(260,854)

(86)
138,001

3,425

(2,590)

18,404

35,604

1,982

(66,114)

(2,671)

(113,704)

613,716
267,143

(71,685)
(133,701)

492,984

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
T
(381,761)

(71)
165,174

45

2,878

(11,536)

24,508

171,066
(5645)
2,516

(27,826)

12,210

79,380

(620,170)
39,483

(131,305)

(648,228)



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Construction costs for
investment properties

Advance to an associate

(Advance to) repayment from
a related party

Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment

Refund (prepayment) of construction
costs for investment properties

Bank interest received

Net cash inflow from acquisition of
a subsidiary

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advance from related parties
Proceeds from new bank and

other borrowings
Repayment to related parties
Interest paid

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Repayment of notes payable
Share issue expenses

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Note
BT

REEH

BEYEZEEKAR

REAPNCIE-TA
BETT (PR ) ER

NEWE BB NREEE

RO (AN ZREWME
FREERK R
2 WERTTHI R
WHEHI B A E 2
B mAFE 37
HEME BELREZ
P18 30R

REEFHFAZEEFE

BMEED

KERET 2B

HIZ IR T &E@Wﬁz
FrS5IR
MBETER
ERFE

IR ERTT M B A AR

BERNREE

D BITRX

BMEEE (A EE 2R FHE

BeRBEESEREMORD)

FHE

FUZRERREFEM

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 315 » & &) 3/ £ 558

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR, represented
by bank balances and cash

FRZATRBAEEEM

BIR1TAE SR IR &

2019

—E-hF

HK$’000
TR

(196,899)
(20,680)

(5,352)
(1,764)

35,356
86

(189,253)

341,567

48,730
(507,390)
(105,499)
(14,483)
(3,427)

(240,502)

63,229

14,848
(2,963)

75,114

2018
—/\#F
HK$'000
TAET

(55,090)
(42,492)

45,374
(253)

(37,343)
171

1,123

83
(88,427)

487,719
1,094,379
(201,712
(620,814

)

)
(30,000)
(5,810)

723,762

(12,893)

25,560
2,181

14,848



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER
Richly Field China Development Limited (the “Company”’) was WHARERER AR ([RAAF])
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability and ARFASHEFMALNERQF
continued as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda WRZZTEEWF_A+—HEHAS
after the change of domicile from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda HERMZEZaRER BREAFEZ
effective on 11 February 2004. The addresses of the registered BIFELE AR AR - ANDRMF
office and principal place of business of the Company are Canon’s M EEmI R FZEEHWE DR A
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda and Suite 5086, Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong, respectively. Hamilton HM12, Bermudal & &
IRMEEBEIF P B TRITANES6

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The KAFIMEZEBRIEEZER M B
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out below: REIMEZEBHINOT
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: RARIMBARGEHLT

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities

FMAL/ BRIRMR
A% SR EELY BA/ERBER ARREERERDLL TEER

Directly Indirectly
EE B

2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-hE ZZ-\F ZB-hE ZZ-)\£

Chuang Yu Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BIRERERAR Bk 1B RERR
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRI RTINS ERERAR Bt BT REER
Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited*  The People’s Republic of HK$596,400,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
(*Hunan Richly Field")** (note) China (the “PRC")/ 596,400,0007% 7T MERE
HERARERTEEXERAR Mainland China
(CRmwm]) # (M) FEARANE ([RE])/
FEIA
Jiangxi Richly Town Construction Projects Co., The PRC/Mainland China HK$10,000,000 100% 100% - - Construction and maintenance
Limited** FE/REA 10,000,000/ 7 BER&E
IERASEETRERAR
Mile Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BEERAA RBRAEE /BB 1ET RERR
Million Harmony Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = - 100% 100%  Inactive
BHERBRAR EE BT TEEH

—NEFH HWHIRRRARLF 113
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARAREEER (&)
(continued)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities

EREYL/ BETRARE
11 HAMREEHS BA/ERBRA FRARERERDL TEEH

Directly Indirectly
EE GF:3
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE ZF-\F ZB-AF ZT-\F
Milion Harmony Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERBARRA RBRIHS/EH 1= RAER
Pilot Will Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
RERRERAR Bk 1% TEEH
Pilot Will Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
REFRARA RBRIHS /5 1= RAER
Profuse Gain Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
ERERERAR Bk 1% TEEH
Profuse Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERERAR RBRIHS/F5 e RARR
Quality Depot Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
REEBRAA RBRAHE/FE 100%TT LEEH
Richly Field (Beiing) Investment Consulting The PRC/Mainland China HK$15,000,000 100% 100% - - Property management and
Co., Ltd.** FE/RER, 15,000,000% 7T investment holding

WHERH (ER)REBRERR T NEERRREER
Richly Field Hainan Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% = - Inactive
WHEEEERERAA Bk BT EEEB
ERBABREEEERAF" The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

FE/REA AR ¥1,000,0007C NEER
Changsha Yutian Outlets Business Administration ~ The PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management and

Co. Limited* R/ RE N AR %100,000,0007 trading of fashion wears and
ROMARBRTCEERERAF) accessories
NEERREBRERELH

EORARRENEERERNA The PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

FE/REA ARH500,0007C NEER
BREBEBELRERAA)" The PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management

RE/RER AR 20,000,007 NEER
Richly Field Kabuskiki Kaisha™ Japan JPY3,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
wEKA g BE 3,000,0008 B LEXB
King Future Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HRERBRAR Bk 1% RARR

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE_ZT-NF=A=T—HILFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

1. REIREBEE &)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of

registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities

EMAL/ BETRER
2B ERREEDLH BAE/ERRE FRRABERERDL TEXH

Directly Indirectly
HE Gk
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE ZF-\F ZE-AF ZT-N\F
King Future Limited BVI Us$10 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HRERAR EERIES 10X RARR
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Co., Ltd." The PRC/Mainland China S$20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
REBRNREEXARARY FE/REA 20,000,000% 7T HIEIES
Hunan Longsheng Decoration Engineering The PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive
Company Limited**# R/ REN AE#10,000,0007C BEE

HERRRERATRARRA™
TEHERRESERAA) The PRC/Mainiand China RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Inactive

RE/REA AR 500,007 LEXH
EESTBREAELERAR The PRG/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development and

HE/RE N AR ¥350,000,0007C management and home

furnishing
NEREREBNRERH
# Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law # RIEFBEEEEMAERA T
i Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law i BERBREEIMANIEEEL Y
## - Registered as a Sino-foreign joint venture under PRC law w AREREARSM AR ERLDE
* For identification purposes only * EHEHER
ZE-NFER MEATEBRRERATF 115



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for
per share data. Hong Kong dollar is the Company’s functional and
the Group’s presentation currency.

The Group reported net loss of approximately HK$268,297,000.
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$831,156,000 and total borrowings, including
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts due to related
parties and notes payable of approximately HK$1,384,728,000
will be due in the coming twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. As at the same date, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$75,114,000.

In addition, as at 31 March 2019, loan principal repayments
of RMB95,000,000 and interest payments of approximately
RMB57,633,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$67,189,000)
relating to certain bank borrowing of the Group with a principal
amount of RMB950,000,000 were not repaid in accordance with
the repayment schedule set out in the relevant loan agreement.
These constituted events of default and as stipulated in the relevant
loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), the bank (the “Bank”)
has the right to demand immediate repayment of the outstanding
principal and interests.

ZEGAVBRREBEARNDA RENH
Al(REAIAEE]) -

EETEERYBRRAMESZ
Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ BEEMEIERERER
2EE([eeEB)stE-KER
BB WEREWBERERTIABT
(ff’%ﬁj)fﬂ FYEmERAAERE
AT -BTRARB 2 AL
BZ25E%-

A& E 1518 )F 5 4268,297,000
BT - R_ZTE—ALEFEZA=Z+—
H A5 BERHAEFEY
831,156,000 T R g 5K B % (B &
SATERITREMER BNBEAIR
HREERMZER)#1,384,728, ooo,%
To MRS HRBET AR KR+ =@
Bl -RARE B ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%&fﬁ@
ZLEGHAT75,114,0000 7T °

Bz RZFE— L F=A
T+ -8B BRAEELAEBBAEAR
950,000,000 ) & T iR 17 &
M EFFEHNERALERA
R #95,000,0007t & F B 5% 4
AR #57,633,0007T (HERH
67,189,000/ 7T ) K 1% R 18 & 3%
FHMERGTEEE LB REK
BHOEH mBABEZRHE ([ERXWH
EIDFTEIH - EBEET([E1T))AE
EERABEERNAS R E -



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group had
repaid the interest that was in default as at 31 March 2019.
Furthermore, the Group is currently in the process of negotiation
with the Bank for the extension of the repayment of principal
amount of RMB950,000,000 and overdue interest of approximately
RMB19,156,000 that remained outstanding as at the date of
these consolidated financial statements, and the directors of the
Company are confident that agreements will be reached with the
Bank in due course. Based on the latest discussion between the
Group and the Bank, the entire principal amount and interests are
expected to be extended to June 2022.

Furthermore, as at 31 March 2019, notes payable with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$93,471,000 was in default and the
notes holder has the right to demand immediate repayment of the
outstanding principal and interests. The directors of the Company
have been taking proactive actions to liaise with the notes holder
and his authorised representative in relation to the settlement
arrangement of the outstanding principal and accrued interest.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

RBERRE AEEEEERZ
E-NAFZA=Z+—HEBEHZFH
Bolbdh NEBIRE R THITE
BoOUNTHEZERESES Y B R
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In view of the above, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s cash flow projections covering a period of twelve
months from 31 March 2019 which have taken into account the
followings:

U)

(i)

(i)

the Group’s property development projects had shown
steady progress with satisfactory results from pre-sales
activities and the Group is in the process of accelerating the
pre-sales and sales of its properties under development;

the continuous financial support from related parties;

the unutilised loan facility from a related company beneficially
owned by a controlling shareholder of RMB1,000,000,000
that will not be expiring before 31 March 2020 of which
approximately RMB947,235,000 remained unutilised as at 31
March 2019;

the extension of the repayment terms of other borrowing
of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$34,974,000) that were classified as current liabilities as at
31 March 2019 to June 2022;

the forecasted operating cash flows for the year ending 31
March 2020.
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Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to fuffill its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the coming twelve months
from 31 March 2019. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. These consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
carrying amounts and reclassification of assets and liabilities that
might be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”) and interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and related
Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration
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The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers have been
summarised below. The application of other new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and position for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 11 Construction Contracts, HKAS
18 Revenue and related interpretations and it applies to all revenue
arising from contracts with customers, unless those contracts are
in the scope of other standards. The new standard established
a five-step model for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. The Group has elected to adopt the
modified retrospective approach for contracts with customers
that are not completed as at the date of initial application (i.e. 1
April 2018) with the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS
15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated
losses, where appropriate, and comparative information is not
restated. Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations. Details are described
below.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, the
application of the HKFRS 15 have not resulted in any material
impact on the timing and amounts of revenue recognition in the
current year and accumulated losses at 1 April 2018.

RMEASMHERELEBFORSHMT
ARBEAVBRELNFIGHRETLA
HRBEZHEBEHER T -RAF
EEAEMM REETE BT TR
ERATEUAEEAFERBESF
BZHBERARMKAR K ELEE
MHEBRERMEZEBEERNEREAY
@,

EBEUBRELENFISHIMARE B
SHENFRELEADN BB G
ZRE18R W= M E@ERE BER
RATEREREFAEHMKE &S
BHTYBEMER @ AER® -
ZHENBRYRASER BUEER
CHREANZNEMERNZ 2B R
KE - ASECEERRERERAB
HM—_ZE—NFWA—B)HkK®
KZBEFANEMEETERE &
RERBBHBREEAFISHEZR
AEEZAEARY R EBE (WER)
CHNEHNAZ BV ESIHR
Bl ARERERDIRESR
et EANF18RRERAERER
B AETHRERATEEEELR F
BHEnT -

REARAEZFNG BRAFEMH
HELAFIGFARANER 2 Wk i
REBRERAR T N\FHEA—
B2t BRELAERERTE -
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are

disclosed in detail in Note 2.3 below.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15

2.2 BAFF REBITERUME
BREE ([ERYBREE
1)
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T XM FE2. 34 5 -
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EEzREfl

Carrying
amount Carrying
previously amount
reported as restated
at 31 March at 1 April
2018  Reclassification 2018
RZE-NF
=ZA=t-8 RZB-N\%
KHIEHRZ mA-HESZ
BEE ENNE W E
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(g BT TET THET
Current liabilities REBaE
Receipts in advance, other payables TBUGRIE - KB RIER
and accruals JEETE A @ (983,888) 326,261 (657,627)
Contract liabilties AKaRE (@) - (326,261) (326,261)
Note: B sk -

()] Advances from customers of HK$326,261,000 in respect of sales of
properties and previously included in receipts in advances, other payables
and accruals were reclassified to contract liabilities.

(@ EAETEFATBUEIE - H M EMRER
B EBRACHEHEMEZEFRPBENNR
326,261,000 TEF N EEEHAE
&o

“E-NAEER WHTEBRRARAF 121



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts
reported in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019 as a
result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018

The following table summarises the estimated impact of applying
HKFRS 15 on the consolidated statement of financial position at 31

March 2019.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position at 31

March 2019

Current liabilities REBEE

Receipts in advance, other payables BUEIE  EttEATIER
and accruals [EiTE R

Contract liabilties ANEE
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MBRRR P E

Amounts
excluding
Impacts impacts
of adopting of adopting
As reported HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15
THEHER
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BHHEER F15h P82
WEH F15hm e k-
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx THT THT
(623,691) (176,019) (799,710)
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HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate to the
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment
of financial assets and hedge accounting. The Group has applied
HKFRS 9 retrospectively to financial instruments that have not been
derecognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 April 2018) in
accordance with the transition provisions under HKFRS 9, and
chosen not to restate comparative information. Differences in the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities on initial
application, where appropriate, are recognised in accumulated
losses as at 1 April 2018.

The Group’s accounting policies for the classification and
measurement of financial instruments and the impairment of
financial assets are disclosed in detail in Note 2.3 below.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments
The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the Group’s
existing financial assets and liabilities as at 1 April 2018 based
on the facts and circumstances that existed at that date and
concluded that the initial application of HKFRS 9 has had the
following impact on the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as
regards their classification and measurement:

The Group’s equity investment amounting to HK$2,724,000 was
previously classified as an available-for-sale (‘AFS”) investment. It
qualified for designation as at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9 and thus,
the Group has elected this option as it is held for medium or long
term strategic purpose. It follows that the fair value gains or losses
in respect of the equity investment will no longer be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss upon derecognition. Upon initial
application of HKFRS 9, the directors of the Company assessed
that the fair value of the unlisted equity investment approximated
the carrying amount and therefore no adjustment was made to the
carrying amount and opening accumulated losses at 1 April 2018.
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Classification and measurement of financial instruments
(continued)

All other financial assets and financial liabilities that are within the
scope of HKFRS 9 continue to be measured at amortised cost as
were previously measured under HKAS 39.

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the Group’s accounting
for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing HKAS
39’s incurred loss model with a forward-looking ECL approach.
As at 1 April 2018, the directors of the Company reviewed and
assessed the Group’s existing financial assets for impairment using
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort in accordance with the requirement of HKFRS
9.

The ECL allowance is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is
then discounted at an approximation to the asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected
credit losses. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)
(continued)

Deposits and other receivables are assessed for impairment based
on 12-month expected credit losses: 12-month ECLs are the
portion of lifetime ECLs that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the asset is less than 12 months).

It is concluded that, as at 1 April 2018, no additional credit loss
allowance has been recognised against accumulated losses as the
estimated allowance under the ECL model was not significantly
different to the impairment losses previously recognised under
HKAS 39.

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from, investment
property necessitates an assessment of whether a property meets,
or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment property,
supported by evidence that a change in use has occurred. The
amendments further clarify that situations other than the ones listed
in HKAS 40 may evidence a change in use, and that a change in
use is possible for properties under construction (i.e. a change in
use is not limited to completed properties).

At the date of initial application, the Group assessed the
classification of the Group’s properties based on conditions existed
at that date, there is no impact to the classification at 1 April 2018.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases!

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business®

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material?
and HKAS 8

126 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2019
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015 - 2017 Cycle!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
5 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as described
below, the application of other new and revised HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the results and the consolidated financial
position of the Group.
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HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of
lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements
of both lessors and lessees.

In respect of the lessee accounting, the standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with the lease term of more than
12 months, unless the underlying asset has a low value.

At the commencement date of the lease, the lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset at cost, which consists of
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
plus any lease payments made to the lessor at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, the initial
estimate of restoration costs and any initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee. A lease liability is initially recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Lease
liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payment made, and remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to
reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments. Depreciation
and impairment expenses, if any, on the right-of-use asset will be
charged to profit or loss following the requirements of HKAS 16
Property, Plant and Equipment, while interest accrual on lease
liability will be charged to profit or loss.
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HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17 Leases.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating
leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of
leases differently.

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease standards including
HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. As
at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of HK$3,739,000 as disclosed in note 35. The entire
balance represents operating leases with original lease terms of
over one year in which the Group will recognise right-to-use assets
and corresponding lease liabilities unless they are exempt from
the reporting obligations under HKFRS 16. The Group intends to
elect the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK
(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
and not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and HK (IFRIC)-
Int 4. Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the contracts
are, or contain a lease which already existed prior to the date
of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS 16 as
lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial application
to opening accumulated losses as of 1 April 2019, if any, and
that comparatives will not be restated. Based on the preliminary
assessment, upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 16, the opening
balances of lease liabilities would be approximately HK$3,337,000
and the corresponding right-of-use assets would be approximately
HK$3,337,000.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except as otherwise set out in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial statements
using accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to
that subsidiary’s financial statements in preparing the consolidated
financial statements to ensure conformity with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (i) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, power over the investee may be obtained through: (i) a
contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (i) rights arising
from other contractual arrangements; (i) the Group’s voting rights
and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based
on all relevant facts and circumstances.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with
the share-based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

For acquisition of a subsidiary from a shareholder of the Company,
the excess of fair value of net identifiable assets over the fair value
of consideration transferred is recognised as deemed contribution
from shareholders in equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value is the recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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After application of the equity method, including recognising the
associate’s losses, the Group determines whether there is objective
evidence of impairment with respect to the Group’s investment
in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20% to 25%

15% to 33 '/s%
15% to 20%
20% to 25%

Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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The Group assesses the classification of leasehold land as a finance
or an operating lease based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
leasehold land has been transferred to the Group.

Interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid land lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis, except for those that are
classified and accounted for as properties under development for
sales or investment properties.

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction for
such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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If an item of prepaid land lease payments becomes an investment
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in respect of
that item will be transferred directly to retained earnings when it is
derecognised.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as
an income in the period in which they are earned.

In the event that lease incentives including rent free periods are
given to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as rent receivables. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental income on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing
costs, professional fees, payments for land use rights and other
costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale
of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in current liabilities.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
as the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete within the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sales.

Completed properties held for sales are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale of
completed properties held for sales are included in current liabilities.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs.
The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. The Group’s financial
assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and
FVTOCI.
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Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding
expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Other income” line item (note 6).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is
not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “Other income and gains” line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low
risk of default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of “investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two to three years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as
described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKFRS 9 (applicable on or after 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Classification as debt or equity (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual

interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).

Available-for-sale investment

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as loans and
receivables. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

° disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and other
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period or observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When a trade and other receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Under HKAS 39 (applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss. On extinguishment of a financial liability due to
shareholders through the issue of equity instruments, the excess of
the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised over the
fair value of consideration shares issued is recognised as deemed
contribution from shareholders in equity.

RESBEFTEAFER (R=F
—NEmMA—BZRER) (&)
HRIFFERR
BRAEERBRRESRENA LOEF
EmEg XM EREELREE
LREAEHRBEZBABDRERRER
B P ERIFERSREE-

—B2HRIBRATMEE BER
mEAEEREARKEREREME
ez A RE R I 0 B HE R REH R R AT
WaskBEZANEZEEERm NE

7
e

EHEEAKENEEHEE BUEX
AR - SRIIEREBAGBE - BIE
ERNEeREENREERSNRE
NRECHNEZESE R NER -
BRBTERATAERBEERARRZE
RAGE FARLERINEREBEZE
HEBBABETHRERDZAFE
ZEBNEZERASBRARRE
B o



For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit (loss) differs from “loss before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

EASEEABEETHUHARR OF
ERETE)EER  NEBAIEAF
ExEE BEZECBEEASER

At RIFERR A -

BEDRARABEETHRER LT B
PHRRRRBERREBERSAEL
PrRRENRERFE-EFRB
ERBETNEFREREFEER
B-AIEEmEAZFREREZR
BE(HERSHEENZEBEAN) °
EHEERERTOS A2 EBEEN
SmIEHA 8% =5 B KR E
EREEN R EWFIA SR
B ASEAFEERSEE-

PiT 15 15 B S 48 3R B B A A5 TR SR SE AR
R KR

3R B JE A B R JD IR A I AR B0 M ET
H-mRBEN (BE) EREMFE
ERRK AT HIRZ WA M HA
MR AR IR 2B - A B R AR
EEaEMEMEEARSRRTAER
ZIBRBAER] - AEBETIERR R
EHREEMRER LEEMZHE
AAEAHMREZAE



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the general principles above.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2019 (with
application of HKFRS 15)

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2019 (with
application of HKFRS 15) (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2019 (with
application of HKFRS 15) (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

Sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the physical possession or
the legal title of the completed property and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group typical receives a deposit on acceptance of sale order,
giving rise to a contract liability until the customer obtains control of
the goods.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exists regardless of whether the promise of financing is
explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms
agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2019 (with
application of HKFRS 15) (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the period between payments and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. This interest accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period between the
advance payments received and the transfer of the associated
goods and services, and therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the goods and services is transferred to
customers. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is eligible
to be capitalised under HKAS 23 Borrowing costs.

Contract Costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The Group
recognises such costs (i.e. sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2019 (with
application of HKFRS 15) (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)

Contract Costs (continued)

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration
that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Property management services

For property management services contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance
to date, on a monthly basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not to disclose the remaining performance obligations
for these types of contracts. The majority of the property
management service contracts do not have a fixed term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Policy applicable to the year ended 31 March 2018

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

(i)  from the sale of properties, when the risks and rewards of
the ownership of properties are transferred to the purchasers,
which is when the construction of the relevant properties
has been completed and the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers pursuant to the sales agreement, and the
collectability of related receivables is reasonably assured;

(i)  rental income from properties, in the period in which the
properties are let and on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms;

(ivy  management fee income, on an accrual basis and recognised
when the services are rendered; and

(v) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal governments. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and, their statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average exchange rates for
the year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2.3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2019
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The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgements by the management, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The conditions set out in note 2.1 indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concerns and therefore, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections in the next twelve months taking into account the major
events or conditions which may give rise to business risks and
concluded that the Group has the ability to continue as a going
concern.

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the investment
property portfolio of the Group and concluded that all of the
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore,
the directors of the Company have determined that the “sale”
presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” is rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred tax on changes in fair value of investment properties on the
basis that the Group is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
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Classification between investment properties and owner
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services or the
portions that are used for different purposes are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Contingent liabilities of the delay in project construction
works

Certain projects’ construction works were delayed compared
with the original time schedule agreed with local government due
to various reasons. The Group’s management determines the
contingent liability in relation to the penalty arisen from the delay in
completion of construction. The determination requires significant
judgment. In making this judgement, the management evaluated
the possibility of penalty happened. The management reassesses
the contingent liability at the end of each reporting period and no
contingent liability was recognised as at 31 March 2019. Details of
which are set out in note 31.
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The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales
Properties under development and completed properties held for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion, which were
derived at after considering recent local economic developments,
recent sales transactions, recent construction costs of the Group
and other similar properties in the surrounding areas and internally
available information.

The Group’s management reviews the properties under
development and completed properties held for sales periodically
and carries out an impairment review on a project-by-project basis
at each financial year end. The budget cost and development
progress of the project is reviewed by the Group on a regular
basis and adjusted as appropriate. Where there is any decrease
in the estimated selling price or increase in estimated construction
cost arising from any change in local economic or property
market conditions, there may be written down on the properties
under development and completed properties held for sales.
As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales are
approximately HK$1,804,630,000 (2018: HK$1,407,476,000) and
HK$98,556,000 (2018: HK$441,433,000) respectively. During
the year ended 31 March 2019, impairment loss of completed
properties held for sales of HK$35,604,000 (2018: Nil) was
recognised.
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Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction, are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their fair value, details of which are disclosed in note 15. The fair
value of the investment properties was determined by reference
to valuations conducted on these properties by an independent
qualified valuer using property valuation techniques which involve
certain assumptions and inputs as set out note 15. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in changes
in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties included in
the consolidated statement of financial position and corresponding
adjustments to the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of investment properties
is approximately HK$1,492,566,000 (2018: HK$1,391,525,000).

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires the determination of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. The recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use
and fair value less costs of disposals. Estimating the value-in-use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and apply a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 March 2019 was HK$116,650,000 (2018:
HK$124,878,000). Details of which are set out in note 19.
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Impairment of prepaid land lease payments

The Group adopts the cost model for subsequent measurement
of prepaid land lease payments. Management performs review
for impairment of prepaid land lease payments whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
of prepaid land lease payments may not be recoverable. In such
case, the recoverable amounts of prepaid land lease payments are
estimated with reference to recent market transaction prices and
other internal and external information available to the Group. For
the purpose of assessing impairment, management had grouped
prepaid land lease payments at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash-generating units. As at 31 March
2019, the carrying amount of prepaid land lease payments is
approximately HK$662,476,000 (2018: HK$728,216,000), net
of provision of impairment loss of approximately HK$20,021,000
(2018: HK$21,433,000).

Current tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions, files tax reports and makes tax provision in
accordance with the prevailing tax regulations and prescribed
timeframe. However, the implementation of tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and the
Group had not yet finalised certain calculations with local tax
authorities. Judgement is required in determining the Group’s
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which such determination is made. The
carrying amount of income tax payable, carried as a liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019
was HK$127,770,000 (2018: HK$140,318,000).
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Current tax and deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. There was no deferred tax recognised with respect
to tax losses at 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2019 was HK$736,255,000
(2018: HK$587,971,000). Details of which are set out in note 11.

Over 90% of the Group’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are generated from the Group’s property development and
investment projects in Changsha, Hunan Province (the “Changsha
Project”), Qinhuangdao of Hebei Province (the “Qinhuangdao
Project”) and Ningxia, Yinchuan City (the “Ningxia Project”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The chief executive
officer (the chief operating decision maker) makes decisions about
resources allocation and assesses performance of the Group
based on the operating results and financial position of the Group
as a whole, as the Group’s resources are integrated and no other
discrete operating segment information is provided to the chief
operation decision maker. As much, no segment information is
presented.
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Accordingly, the chief executive officer is of the opinion that the I THREHRRE URPE 2K
Changsha Project, Qinhuangdao Project and Ningxia Project in the WIEE REBSHBEREEEE AR
PRC is a single reportable operating segment of the Group. EEEBUZREEDE -
An analysis of the Group’s revenues from external customers for REMEUEMERRBARNMS A&
each group of similar products and services is disclosed in note 5. INERE P EE A 2 W Es o AT R EE BB
55 e
The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely from AEBHNTEP 2K REREPE 2
its operations in the PRC, and all non-current assets (other than KeE MAKSBERMEERDEE (2
financial assets) of the Group are located in the PRC. BEERIN BURPE -
During the year, the Group had no transactions with external FR-AEEEINE S EETHE
customer which individually contributed over 10% to the Group’s PIMEAEBERKHB10%HMRH (=
total revenue (2018: Nil). T—NF:E)-
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REBRZZ2HDWWAT :
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Types of good and service under
HKFRS 15 (the amounts for
the year ended 31 March 2018
were recognised under HKAS 18
and related interpretations)

— Sales of properties
— Management fee income

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

Revenue from other source
— Gross rental income

BB B HRELERFE155EET
B MRS 2B (HE
—E-NE=ZA=+—H
IEFEZeBERE
BB GFTERIE189 R
R EER
—MEHEE 235,062 149,102
—EBBIA 20,379 19,609

BEPAHNWEEE
255,441 168,711
H A ARORIA
—HeW AL 28,743 26,627

284,184 195,338
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Timing of revenue recognition Wy 2 e 50 5
At a point in time R—FREE
Over time i By ]

Total revenue from contracts with customers BEA W

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on customer’s specifications with no alternative
use. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedent,
the Group concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to customers. Revenue from sales of residential
properties is therefore recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of
the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 20% to 100% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period.

2019

e
HK$’000
FHR

235,062
20,379

255,441
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Property management services

Revenue from property management services is recognised
over time, and the progress measured using the output
method. The property management service fees are billed to
the tenants monthly.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March
2019 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as
follows:

Within one year —FR

More than one year but not more than two years BB — F18 BB G
More than two years B 48 R

Total revenue from contracts with customers BEFREH

All property management and other services are for periods
of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

The effects of significant financing component arising from
advanced receipts from customers and incremental costs
of obtaining contracts were immaterial and therefore no
adjustment was made to opening accumulated losses at
1 April 2018 nor recognised in the year ended 31 March
2019.
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203,274
22,890
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 6. Hth ARz
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Interest income on bank deposits HITHE A EHA 86 171
Net exchange gain & 5 s 55 63 -
Sales of fashion wears and accessories e € K Ao g 8H & 50 153
Others HAit 289 212
488 536
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEEHRA
An analysis of the Group’s finance cost is as follows: REBZREEZRSTAT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Interest on bank and other borrowings IRIT R HMERF A 225,960 233,438
Interest on notes payable R EEFE 8,784 7,251
Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of B EREEREEKATF
qualifying assets ERbz &% (96,743) (75,515)
138,001 165,174
The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of borrowing HE_ZT—hLGF=-A=Z=+—8BLHF
costs eligible for capitalisation for the years ended 31 March 2019 E AREETNERAELEERNERS
was 8.87% (2018: 8.60%). BrBEREEETR887T% (ZZT—N
F:8.60%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging (crediting):

Staff costs: @ EBImAK:
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITEREMER
Contributions to defined contribution A EH-FORIRET 2R

retirement plans

Other items: (o) HAIER :

Cost of inventories recognised as BRAMI 2
expenses® FE KA

Impairment loss recognised in MFELEZ
respect of completed properties BTYERERZ
held for sales* BEEE

Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment* B pd 2icu

Depreciation of property, W HE &
plant and equipment* HEITE

Reversal of provision for HEcRERD
compensation*

Amortisation of prepaid land lease N LtHEERZ
payments* B

Auditors’ remuneration* ZE AN I 5

Direct operating expenses incurred RERNEERS WAL
for investment properties that WEMEMEEZ
generated rental income during HELERX
the year*

Minimum lease payments under BT REF Y
operating leases in respect of land KEHEBET 2
and buildings* SEEER

This amount is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

This amount is included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

AEBEBRBABREENEK (GFA)T

P& I8 -
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 7 FHET FET
29,315 20,865
3,123 2,645
32,438 23,510
259,086 146,852
35,604 -
- 45
14 3,425 2,878
31 - (545)
16 18,404 24,508
1,350 1,280
7,321 8,023
1,906 1,899

ZeREt AR BRERAMEEKER
RZHERAK] A

ZE AT AGFA RS M EMEE W SR
=2 TR A



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2019

BEEBSBHAXIHAERAE ([BR
Frl)&4s EmAE ([ EWHA]) &
EBE QDB IENFEIIMNIER AT (H
REENZER) KO E2H R E
ERTHRAEFRAMESDT

BE-_Z-hE=A=+—HLEE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

RHEES (THELALARENELR) REAAREMEXSRERZHE

Fees
we
Notes HK$’'000
P ax TET
Chief executive and TBBRERDTES:
executive directors:
Mr. Ma Jun BHEEE (a) 825
Mr. Li Yi Feng EEEE (b) 260
Executive director: HTES:
Mr. Chen Wei BREEE 930
2,015
Non-executive directors: FHTEE:
Dr. Wang Yucan TEREL (© 91
Independent non-executive directors: B FEHITES
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen ®"EGuT 199
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AREKLE (© 85
Mr. Wong Tak Chun HEELE (d) 115
Mr. Xu Jinghong TEREE 199
598
2,704
Notes:

()] Resigned on 31 January 2019.

(b) Re-designated as an Executive Director on 31 January 2019 and
appointed as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on 31 January
2019.

Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
kind retirement plans remuneration
REMR
e 2R RNGEZ
BOHE BEMHR HehsE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER
- 15 840
- - 260
- - 930
- 15 2,030
- 4 95
- - 199
- - 85
- - 115
- - 199
- - 598
- 19 2,723
B 5 -

@ R-E-AFE—-A=+— BRI



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)
© Resigned on 3 September 2018.

(d)  Appointed on 3 September 2018.

Year ended 31 March 2018

BEERTHARB ZEHE (&)

fisE: (&)
© RZIE-NFAA=HEIE-

d RZE-NFAA=BREZ{EF-

BE_Z-N\F=ZA=+—BILFE

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

REEES (TRBARESAMBA ) REEARBMEXSRER 2B

Employer's
Salaries, contributions
allowances to defined
and contribution
benefits in Discretionary retirement Total
Fees kind bonuses plans remuneration
REHK
Fe MR BRI EIZ
we Efla ez EEHR BemE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FER FHT FHEL T FHET
(note €)
(Hise)
Chief executive and THBHEFATES:
executive directors:
Mr. Xin Songtao ERELE (a) 33 - - 2 35
Mr. Ma Jun B o) 1,178 - 100 18 1,296
Dr. Wang Yucan TERET (©) 77 - - 17 734
Executive director: HTES:
Mr. Chen Wei BRExE (d) 30 - - - 30
1,958 - 100 37 2,095
Non-executive directors: FRITES:
Dr. Wang Yucan ITEBEL (© 6 - - - 6
Mr. Li Yi Feng EY) -5t 168 - - - 168
Mr. Chen Wei ks (@ 163 - - - 163
337 - - - 337
Independent non-executive directors: B JFHTES:
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen ®REHLL 199 - - - 199
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David AEK R E 199 - - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong TEBRELE 199 - - - 199
597 - - - 597
2,892 - 100 37 3,029
TE-NFFR HWHEPEREERALAE 181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

wh 1

9.

10.

182

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(@ Resigned on 27 April 2017.

(b) Re-designated as an Executive Director on 9 September 2016,
appointed as the Deputy Chairman on 27 April 2017 and appointed as
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on 21 March 2018.

(¢ Appointed as an Executive Director and Chairman on 27 April 2017,
resigned as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and re-designated as a

Non-executive Director on 21 March 2018.

d Re-designated as an Executive Director on 21 March 2018.

e Discretionary bonuses were determined with reference to the Group’s

operating results and individual performance.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
two were directors and the chief executive (2018: two) of the

10.

ESRITHREIZME (8

B 5 -

@ —+EMA -+ HEE-

) M-ZZE—RNFNLANAERATAENTE
ERT—LFMA-+LBEZRT
BRIERE YR-_Z—NFZA=-+—
AEZ(EAERBRITEEE

© RZE—+FWNA-_+TtHEZTA

HOIESREIR ER-F—/\F=A
T+ - BB ERERITRERALER T

BIEWITES

@ R-Z—)/\FZA-+—HEFATAH
fTESE-

) EIBIATIDBAEBCEEE KL ES
KIRMET -

& & ¥

RAKEESFMALES BELX
RAMABAEERITHRAH (ZFT—N

Company whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in F:-ME) EBen LXHFIRE

note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2018: three) B HEBR-F(ZE—N\F:=&)A
individuals were as follows: T2HMAT

2019 2018

—E-NE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind T R REYAS 1,962 1,804

Employer’s contributions to defined RER-FRIKETEZ
contribution retirement plans BEHK 54 53
2,016 1,857

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2019



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

FMEB T EEZFEE RIFTHRE
BezeEmmMERE Z ABMT:

No. of employee

EEAR
2019 2018
—2-nE  —TNF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £1,500,000/% 7T 1 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the
Company or five highest paid employees of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the subsidiaries registered in the PRC is 25% (2018: 25%)).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2019 as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2018: Nil).

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties developed
by the Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, which under the applicable
regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

Deferred tax EETIE
Current year RFE

BHez_E2—haFkZE—-—N\F=A
T+ —BLEFE - AEEVTERAR
AEMEEIASE G &S MHE
EXfNE EAMARMARE
B 2R NERBER 2 BEE -

REBRERAURER AKEHA
BT BEREMGR-

BIEPEAREIME S EME R L
(IEEMBRZE]) REPEMBKRZE
B RPEFMzZWBEARZ
HEE25% (ZE—NF:125%)

AEBRFEEEELEELEME
RBOEN (ZF—N\F: &) EHIEK
REE-_T-NF=ZA=+—HILF
BzBBFEHAREE-

PRz LHIRER DA KRB ERE
HEZME REITHZ AENRE
B EI0%E60%H U HTIIREE
HE A E M E TS SR AR
Mx (BRLHERERES EEK
AEFBMEZERAX)FESL -

2019 2018

—E—hE —T-)N\F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Likss FHT FAT
32

7,443 9,869



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

ZliiftTZﬁﬁ’E'ﬂjLEﬁ?ZEﬁif/\T@ s R E
ftb 2 TH U5 55 Rk 2 BR B AT B 18 BR 1A
T

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx T
Loss before tax B 15 Al T 48 (260,854) (381,761)
Tax at the applicable tax rates REAMETEZRIE (65,214) (95,440)
Tax effect of share of results attributable to ~ Bf& N BB EE 2 FHGFE
associates 495 629
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBIA 2 B = (136)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR X 2 B2 10,345 11,981
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences 7k &2 2 7] +0 sl B b = %E 2
not recognised Tig & 8,901 42767
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZMIBBB MG E 57,819 55,454
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FABEARBERZHIBEEE
recognised (4,903) (5,386)
Income tax expense for the year KEEFEZHERAYS 7,443 9,869

At 31 March 2019, the Group has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of approximately RMB631,545,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$736,255,000) (2018: RMB471,131,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$587,971,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 March 2019, the Group has deductible temporary differences
of approximately RMB166,574,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$194,192,000) (2018: RMB137,074,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$171,066,000)). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it
is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

W-_ZE—-—AE=ZF=Z+—H K
CEEEFPREAMEEREBIEBLY
AR #631,545,000t (HERH
736,255,000 L) (=& — )\F:
AR 471,131,000 (HEER D
587,971,000 L) ) " BR—ZERF
A JE i DA A R 3 88 R R B ER A 0m A o
HRZEBEERADHSEE —BRED
ZHMBAREES  WRAT KA
FERR T s A AT K S B IR B 48 - L
ARZEFEBERELCHBEE -

W-—_E—-—AF=Z/F=+—H8"
AREBBAUMBBEREZEOA
R#166,574,0007t (M ER Y
194,192,000 L) (ZF — \F:
AR 137,074,000 (HER D
171,066,000/ 7L) ) - BT KA 8
HIES B AR ERE WY
JERTEA - ML EpZ S ] R
BEERRECHBEEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

BE_Z-NWF=A=+—HILFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
following data

12. EREE

EREAEBEIDRIATNBIEFE

2019 2018
—E-hE A%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Loss attributable to owners of RRFHEA ANELEE

the Company (268,297) (391,630)
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F

Weighted average number of Limis s METI98 (ER)
ordinary shares (basic) 23,336,687,255  14,048,679,656

For the year ended 31 March 2018, diluted loss per share
does not include the effect of the notes payable (note 30)
since the assumed conversion had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic loss per share.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, basic loss per share is
the same as diluted loss per share as there are no potential
ordinary shares outstanding for the year.

13. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
Nil).

BE_ZT-N\F=ZA=+t—H1Lt
FE ARNRIREBEBUTERER
HEREAEEAARESZN
B HERETERL TR
NEE(ME30) 2FE-

BE-_T-NAF=ZA=1+—HL
ir HRERTERBEINZ
BELTBR #SRENEBER
ﬂﬂxﬁ&féﬁi‘ﬁa*ﬁﬁf’

13. BB

ARAEEITEZENBE_T—NF
A=t -RALEFEREECMAKRE
(ZF—N\F:8|)-

“E-NAEER WHTEBRRARAF 185
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

BE_T-NF=A=T—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

186

14. X BERSKRE

Leasehold Office  Furniture and Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment fixtures vehicles Total
Y
BF HENELHE BARE EEHE RE L
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ik THER THEn THER TR TR TR
31 March 2019 —E-NEZRA=1+-H
At 1 April 2018; RZB-N\EMA—-A:
Cost R 39,388 2,808 6,359 1,129 7,075 56,754
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (7,887) (1,000) (5,390) (791) (6,690) (21,758)
Net carrying amount EEFE 31,501 1,803 969 338 385 34,996
At 1 April 2018, RZE-NEMA-A"
net of accumulated depreciation NB2:HE 31,501 1,803 969 338 385 34,996
Additions NE - 501 494 545 224 1,764
Depreciation provided during the year ~ F T & & & 8 (1,905) (814) 413) (189) (110) (3,425)
Exchange realignment %A% (2,010) (108) (58) (35) (29) (2,240)
At 31 March 2019, RZZ-NE=ZA=+-8"
net of accumulated depreciation B 2:E 27,586 1,382 992 665 470 31,095
At 31 March 2019: RZZ-NF=A=+-B:
Cost R 36,794 3,108 6,441 1,585 6,849 54,772
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (9,208) (1,721) (5,449) (920) (6,379) (23,677)
Net carrying amount FAFE 27,586 1,382 992 665 470 31,095
31 March 2018 —E-N\E=fA=1-H
At1 April 2017: RZE—tEMA-H:
Cost KA 35,550 834 6,281 1,195 6,515 50,375
Accumulated depreciation ZiTE (5,341) (834) (5,015) (881) (6910) (17,981)
Net carrying amount FEIE 30,209 - 1,266 314 605 32,304
At 1 April 2017, RZE—tEMA-R"
net of accumulated depreciation NBRE:E 30,209 - 1,266 314 605 32,394
Additions RE - - 163 0 - 253
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-BHBAR 37 - 1,861 46 85 8 2,000
Disposal e - - (122) - 6) (128)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRITERE 8 (1,879) 72 480) (181) (272) (2.878)
Exchange realignment ERAE 3,165 14 9% 30 50 3,355
At 31 March 2018, R-E-NE=ZA=+—-8"
net of accumulated depreciation MR ZATE 31,501 1,803 969 338 385 34,996
At 31 March 2018: R_E-NE=ZA=1+—-H:
Cost XA 39,388 2,803 6,359 1,129 7,075 56,754
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (7,887) (1,000) (5.390) (791) (6,690) (21,758)
Net carying amount FRFE 31,501 1,803 969 338 385 34,996

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. REWYZE

Under
Completed construction Total
BEK it @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TR
FAIR VALUE AYE
At 1 April 2017 R-E—+FWA—H 656,732 148,347 805,079
Additions NE 50,258 4,832 55,090
Transfer from prepaid lease payments mENEEFAER
- 93,073 93,073
Revaluation upon transfer REREE - 40,816 40,816
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y- B AE 293,494 - 293,494
Increase in fair value recognised in BaEPRERATEEN
profit or loss 8,657 2,879 11,536
Exchange realignment ERTIEE: 76,395 16,042 92,437
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=F=1+—H 1,085,536 305,989 1,391,525
Additions RNE 93,395 103,504 196,899
Increase (decrease) i fair value RERFRERZ
recognised in profit or loss AEEEMCRD) 6,255 (3,665) 2,590
Exchange realignment B 5 A% (74,894) (23,554) (98,448)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H 1,110,292 382,274 1,492,566
Note: BT -

()] Pursuant to a business plan approved by management during the year
ended 31 March 2018, certain land use rights previously held for self-
use will be developed into investment properties for earning long-term
rental. The costs of these land use rights were previously included in
prepaid land lease payments. As a result of the above change in use,
approximately HK$93,073,000 of prepaid land lease payments were
transferred to investment properties. Revaluation gain arising from the
transfer of approximately HK$40,816,000 was recognised in other

comprehensive income.

@ BEEEERBE_Z-NF=A
=t—RIFEEZEBHE LA
FEa M2 E T LibEREHER AR
BREREESZREME - ZFIEM

RERR A FERT AT ATAR L3 7E

e

b at ek & - £993,073,000/8 7T 2 T8
NS RER I E Y - EEE
H 7 #940,816,0007 T2 B U TR

H ity 2 H R S 73R o

“E-NAEER WHTEBRRARAF
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland
China.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating lease
to earn rentals and for capital appreciation are classified and
accounted for as investment properties and are measured using fair
value model.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2019 and 2018 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited
(“Avista”), independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. Avista are members of the Institute of Valuers.

The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices and rentals for similar properties in the similar
locations and conditions. Details of valuation techniques and
assumptions are discussed below. There has been no change from
the valuation technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair
value of the property, the highest and best use of the property is its
current use.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

AEBZAEREMEFALURFTER
b

A G RS ST B A LB RUR
SRIEERBEREZ WEERDH
RAES AR E S ERATER
R THE

FEBEREMVENR_Z-NFR-ZF
—NFE=ZA=Z+—HZRAFETIAY
FHAGEAERAR ([XEM])
(BEASEYEBEBCBYIAERSE
EHEMNZAETZIHERESE
MEH - NEBAGEMBEKE -

SEEDESE R RARR Y
AU ERHERAS 2 TS EE
B o 1 (B K R R AR B A T S
o b — R AE R 2 M8 R R
FoRTENEIATES YL
YRERBEERFATDRE 20
R

REFEEXRENRAFE - AKH
BAREREAMIS A BERE - HAREE
BEF-—RBaAZRE AEESXE
FZTRAEARMAEMETHRE A&
BEEERAERINBEEMEZ DA
E-AREGENBEDERELE
ANBUR



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value grouped into fair
value hierarchy level 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
fair value measurement is observable and the information about
how the valuation has been reached and the use of significant
unobservable inputs are as follows:

Valuation
Fair value Fairvalue asat 31  technique
hierarchy March 2019 and key inputs
RZB-n%
AVHEER SAZt-AZAYE HEFERIERAE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$791,695,000 (2018:  Income Approach
Property A (completed) HK$789,236,000)
- by reference to forecasted
net income discounted using
a market discount rate and
capitalised income beyond the
forecast period
BEREMEA(ERI) £=8 791,695,008 WA

(Z5—/\% 789,236,000
Br)  -2REBTHENRERIENE

ARAFERBARASNE
RMeBA
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$161,930,000 (2018:  Market Comparison Approach
Property B HK$172,100,000)
(under construction) - by reference to recent selling

price of comparable properties
and adjusted to reflect the time,
size and location of the property
BERENEB (hR) FZH& 161,930,000 MELEE
(ZZF—\F 172,100,000
BL)  -SRANENEIHERY
fEERUARENECRR 5
B RS

AEBRNLHARRERATEFEL
BEAFEAENGARBAIBEER
EORATEEBRE=R2RENMH
ZOMEEBUAERGENALEH
ERBEATNABRERAREZERN
T~

Relationship of
Significant Range of significant
unobservable unobservable unobservable
inputs inputs inputs to fair value
EXFUBE TIER EXTUBERAUE
LDN ¢4 BAREBEE BATEZBE
Discount rate 7.5% (2018: 7.5%) The higher the discount
per annum rate, the lower the fair
value
Capitalisation rate 4.5% (2018: 4.5%) The higher the
per annum capftalisation rate, the
lower the fair value
FR% BF7.5% FRERS  ATERE
(Z2-N\F:75%)
ERLE FF45% ERfEdm ATE

(Z2-NF:45%) HiE

Adjusted market price RMB908 - RMB1,734 The higher the adjusted

(2018: RMB923 - market price, the
RMB1,681) per square higher the fair value
metre

il BEFKARSB08T ERETSERES
EARME 7347 RTESR
(ZB-NE:
ARHB93TE

ARE1,6817)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s investment properties with a net
carrying amount of HK$1,381,655,000 (2018: HK$1,095,225,000)
were pledged to secure certain bank and other borrowings (note
29) and amounts due to related parties (note 28) of the Group.

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2019

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REW= (&)
Relationship of
Valuation Significant Range of significant
Fair value Fairvalue asat 31 technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy March 2019 and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
RZB-hE BEXTURE TARE EXTIERGARE
NTEER ZAZt-BAZATE HEFERIEAAEE BABE BABEEE BATEZEE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$318,597,000 (2018:  Income Approach Fair market rent RMB4 - RMB110 (2018: The higher the fair
Property C (completed) HK$296,300,000) RMB6 - RMBT71) market rent, the higher
- taking into account the current per square metre the fair value
rents of the property interests
and the reversionary potentials ~ Term yield 5% (2018: 5%) The higher the term
of the tenancies per annum yield, the lower the fair
value
Reversionary yield 5.5% (2018: 6%) per The higher the
annum reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value
BEREMEC(ERI) £=# 318507,0008  WA% PR ik BEHRARRIT PSRk ziikaitsR
(=Z—/\F 296,300,000 ZAREM0T NTERS
BL)  —AADERERZEANEER (ZZ-N\F: AR¥6
HEZEHEN TEAREMT)
e FE5% BRREEEE
(Z2-N\%:5%) ATHEWE
EHRaE 5F55% EShERER
(ZB-N\F:6%) RHEMIE
Commercial Investment Level 3 HK$220,344,000 (2018:  Market Comparison Approach Adjusted market price  RMB1,284 - RMB1,768 The higher the adjusted
Property D HK$133,889,000) (2018: RMB993 - market price, the
(under construction) - by reference to recent selling RMB2,201) per square higher the fair value
price of comparable properties metre
and adjusted to reflect the time,
size and location of the property
BEREMED (BR) E=f 2203440008 THLEE GREDE BEARARK 84T KBEETEERES
(ZF—/\%F 133,889,000 ZAREA768T ATHERS
Br)  -2RULENECHEET (ZE-N\F: AR¥
YU EPd 993 E AR 2,201
BRE )

R-ZZE—NAE=ZA=+—HBH K&H
8% ® ¥ {8 A&1,381,655,0008 ¢ ( =
T — )\ :1,095,225,000/870) 2 &
BEYMECIERAEBRZETHRITRE
HEE (M F29) AN ENEE R X
E (M sEe8) 2 G-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

16.

17.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. AL FHER
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT FEx FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year REY 2 BREE 728,216 911,261
Amortised during the year RE RN (18,404) (24,508)
Transfer to investment properties BTN EME 15 = (93,073)
Transfer to properties under development — BE & = 7E i3 - (162,583)
Exchange realignment b 5 (47,336) 97,119
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEEE 662,476 728,216
Current portion included in prepayments, st ATE FIE 124 R H A
deposits and other receivables JE Y5k 08 2 B ERER & 24 (17,777) (19,030)
Non-current portion JERNHRE o 644,699 709,186

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s leasehold land with a net carrying
amount of HK$662,476,000 (2018: HK$680,453,000) was pledged
to secure certain bank and other borrowings (note 29) and amounts
due to related parties (note 28) of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, certain land use rights
previously with undetermined use with a carrying value of
approximately HK$162,583,000 were reclassified to properties
under development as a result of finalisation of development plan.

R-E—-—AE=ZA=+—H A&EH
3R ¥ {E 5662,476,00008 5T (- &
— )\ 4 : 680,453,000 )z &
THEEARNERSE TRTREME
B (KM aFeo) EMEES HE (K
FI28) 2 EH -

Bz -_Z—N\E=ZA=Z+—B1t#HF
B AREEERE LEAIRAT
A% ZzREELNA162,583,0008 7T
JETIHEREBEREEME -

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. REEE RN Bl 2 %=
2019 2018
—E-nF  —FT)\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B & T FAET
Share of net liabilities EliEBEFE (39,753) (35,847)
Amounts due from associates JE U B & 2 B ROR @) 127,767 107,765
88,014 71,918
Provision for impairment Ve REREE (b) (31,264) (31,942)
56,750 39,976
“E-NEFEH HATERERERAT 191



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interest in the
following immaterial associates:

Name

&8

Champ Wisdom Limited
(“Champ Wisdom”)
BEERRA ([FE])

Champ Wisdom Holdings Limited
(Subsidiary of Champ Wisdom)
BRERERAR (BRZMBAR)

Huailai Dayi Wineries Company Limited
(Subsidiary of Champ Wisdom)

BRA-BEREEERAR
(BRZHBRF)

Chuang Yao Limited (‘Chuang Yao”)
glRaR AR ([8R])

Chuang Yao Holdings Limited
(Subsidiary of Chuang Yao)
BIBEREBRAR (RIEZMBAR)

Globe QOutlet Town (Jilin) Limited
(Subsidiary of Chuang Yao)

EMREERITE AT ER AR
(BIBZHBRR)

Cosmos View Holdings Limited
(“Cosmos View”)

FERERARAR ([ER])

Richly Field Nanchang Holdings Ltd.
(Subsidiary of Cosmos View)

HWEAEERERAF
(BERZHBRA)

Jiangxi Globe Qutlets City Co., Ltd.
(Subsidiary of Cosmos View)

IRRRRS AR RER AR
(RRZHERA)

Form of entity

BERR

Limited liability company

Limited liability company
BEREMRT

Limited liability company

Limited liability company
BREFAH

Limited liability company

Limited liability company

BREMEAR

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
operation
HEMKL RILR
R

BVI

RRRLEE

Hong Kong

BE

The PRC/
Mainland China

B/ R ER

BVI

RRELEE

Hong Kong

BE

The PRC/
Mainland China

/R

BVI

RRALEE

Hong Kong

&

The PRC/

Mainland China
RE/ AR

N
”

S,

BERAR AEEBRATTERE
7N

NEEE R

Proportion of nominal value of

paid-up capital by the Group

activities

TEEK

Investment
holding
BAER

Investment
holding
REER

Property
development

NEER

Investment
holding
BEER

Investment
holding
REER

Property
development
MERE

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
BAER

Property
development

Class of and portion of voting power Principal
equity held held indirectly
i AEEREHERAEELHIR
EEE5 BEEEZREELD
2019 2018
“E-AE  ZE2)\F
Registered 50% 50%
capital
Ballfie 50% 50%
Registered 50% 50%
capital
BRI 50% 50%
Registered 50% 50%
capital
A 50% 50%
Registered 42% 42%
capital
Ballfie 42% 42%
Registered 42% 42%
capital
Ballfe 42% 42%
Registered 42% 42%
capital
M AR A 42% 42%
Registered 50% 50%
capital
FEM AR A 50% 50%
Registered 50% 50%
capital
Ballfie 50% 50%
Registered 50% 50%
capital
BRI 50% 50%

ELGES



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:

Aggregate carrying amount of individually FEMBmEAANENTERXR
immaterial associates in the consolidated R l/NC o s = K |
financial statements

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of ARNEEELZZHE NG 2

those associates’ EhEa
Loss from continuing operations REFELEEB BB
Other comprehensive expense Ht2mEAX

Total comprehensive expense >HMZBE

Notes:

(a) Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no

fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
these balances are considered as quasi-equity investments in the
associates.

Globe Outlet Town (dilin) Limited (“Globe Outlet”) is principally engaged in
a property development project in Changchun, Jilin Province, the PRC.
At 31 March 2019, the Group had an amount due from Globe Outlet
of HK$99,864,000 (2018: HK$79,862,000). Although Globe Outlet had
been making losses and recorded net liabilities at 31 March 2019 and
2018 in view of the completion of excavation work for the basement of
the property project carried out by Globe Outlet during the year ended
31 March 2019 and the future prospects of this project, no further
impairment loss (2018: Nil) was provided for the year ended 31 March
2019. At 31 March 2019, an aggregate impairment loss on investment in
Globe Outlet of HK$9,611,000 (2018: HK$10,289,000) was recognised.

BRI TEKREERNR 265G ER:
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
56,750 39,976
(1,982) (2,516)
(1,924) _
(3,906) (2,516)

i :

fEd 2 AR 2 RAREEM 28K
BETERY ARREERR ZF
FERRBUR A E N A Z LR

H RS HET R BRI HIN AR A )
(IEMBRERGTDEZRTPRAEMNE
EEMREVERREE -RT—N
FZA=Z+—B AEEERKENRER
5 3 HT FIE99,864,00058 7T ( = — )\
F 179,862,000/ 7T ) ° EE T MNBEFH
H—EHREREERE IR T NF
F—E-NFZA=Zt+—HHEEE
HECENEE_ZT-NEZA=T—
BItFESEMBERITETZYEE
B T E L FREZEIRE R T RZIA
BRI REBEE-_Z—NLF=A
:JrfElJtﬁJ*jiﬁi&fH% BEE
B(ZZ—N\F &) RZZTE—NF=
B=+—8 B EEHER ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ZRIEEEA /49,611,000 (= F
— )\ : 10,289,000/ 7T ) °



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Jiangxi Globe Outlets City Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Outlets”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Nanchang, Jiangxi
Province, the PRC (the “Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Project”). At
31 March 2019, the Group had an amount due from Jiangxi Outlets of
approximately HK$11,067,000 (2018: HK$11,067,000) and an aggregate
impairment loss on investment in Jiangxi Outlets of approximately
HK$4,817,000 (2018: HK$$4,817,000) was recognised as at 31 March
2019.

Huailai Dayi Wineries Company Limited (‘Huailai Dayi”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Huailai, Hebei Province, the
PRC (the “Huailai Dayi Project”). At 31 March 2019, the Group had an
amount due from Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$16,836,000 (2018:
HK$16,836,000) and an aggregate impairment loss on investment in
Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$16,836,000 (2018: HK$16,836,000)
was recognised as at 31 March 2019.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity
shares held by the Company.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
losses of associates, Champ Wisdom, Cosmos View and their
subsidiaries, because the share of losses of the associates
exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate. The amounts of
the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of these associates for
the current year and cumulatively were approximately HK$9,000
(2018: HK$25,000) and HK$6,520,000 (2018: HK$6,511,000),
respectively.

MisE: (M)
) (&)

THBEERTZERTNEAER AR
(DIARERGDETZRFBEIASA
ﬁem%imﬂ%ﬁa (TR
TR BITINWIER]) - RZE—NF
—A=+—H FAEEEREVIARY
BRAN FE 4911,067,000/8 7T ( ZZF— )\
111,067,000 7T) * WERZZT—
FZA=Z+HERREN TR
Hr 2 B R B 4REE 414,817,000/ 7T (=
T — \4F 4,817,000/ T ) °

ERA-BEEABRERLR ([EKXK
A=) EERFEFILBIZRIEEY
¥3mBE ([ERK—BE]) K=
TE-NEZA=+—HB AEEERK
123K K — 5K IE #916,836,000/8 7T (==
—/\£ :16,836,000/67C) - WE R —F
—NE=ZA=+—BBERZLENIER
K — 2 BB R 18 4258 4916,836,0007 T
(—Z—\4 :16,836,000/ T ) °

REEBRBE QR ZREHRHARF
FrAZ iy X e

AEBERIEREGHZEAAT
B -EskENBRARZEE RAA
EEZEHRE Ao BHEEBBEASE
BrEzSMeE  acEm RFER
Erﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁwrﬁ“fauﬁﬂﬁmﬂﬂz%
BREFFES B A49,0008 T (=
T N\F: 2500&%75)&6520000
B (ZE—/\F 6,511,000
JL) °



For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Unlisted equity investment FELTARERE

The above unlisted equity investment represents investment in
unlisted equity securities issued by a private entity incorporated
in Hong Kong which is engaged in operation of trampoline park
business in the PRC. At 31 March 2018, there was no open market
for such investment and the directors of the Company consider that
the marketability of the Group’s shareholdings in such investment is
low. Such investment was therefore stated at cost less impairment.

The investment was reclassified to financial asset at FVTOCI upon
adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018. The investment is not held
for trading. Instead, it is held for medium to long-term strategic
purposes. Accordingly, the directors of the Company have elected
to designate the investment in unlisted equity investment as at
FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in
the investment’s fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent
with the Group’s strategy of holding the investment for long-term
purposes and realising its performance potential in the long run.

The fair value measurement of the investment is disclosed in note
40(e).

2019 2018
—2-nE  —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi# T
2,724 2,724

PRFETRERESRERB BT
A 2 ABEETZIFE LM
AELS ZEBETERFERAAER
XBEE-R_T—N\F=ZA=1—
H ZEREXTE|ERAFADS AR A
EERRAKEARZREREZREZ
BERENBE Bt ZFRELK
AR PRSI BR ©

RZE-N\FOR-—BRMATEHH
BELERNFIORK ZRBREEH
BERAVFEFAREMEZAKREZNE
BMEE-ZEARBELHFFEE M
R-ETFRERREREE ARG - Bt
ARREZFCEERIFELTRAES
KRERER/BAFEFALMCEZE
@ TTEREERENBEREAX
REAFEZEHRHIFEAEE
EHRBEZEREARRBMERZA
BRERBR ZKRE -

ZEEENAFETEHEERKF
40(e) °



For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Cost: P -

At beginning of the year REF
Exchange realignment ME H JE B

At end of the year RER
Accumulated impairment losses: ZFTREEE
At beginning of the year NG
Impairment loss FIEEE

At end of the year RER

Net carrying amount REFEE

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the cash-generating unit of Qinhuangdao Project for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined based on value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering project life of a five-
year period approved by board of directors at a pre-tax discount
rate of 10% (2018: 10%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3%. Based on
the impairment assessment made, no impairment on the goodwill
as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 is considered necessary.

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
124,878 112,710
(8,228) 12,168
116,650 124,878
116,650 124,878

BREBAFBAZHEEOEER
EEBERAZHSELEM LETH
(ER

REELEMN s KRB SEDIBREER
REESREBANGFE 2 FREEE
E-mMBESRERADRELESS
BEMrEEFTHATHYBEE &
BATIIRE10% (ZFE—\F 10% )
ER - BERAFH2AESREFEAI%
ZIFTEREREE - BIBIEL 2 RE
FE RZE—NEFRERZE—N\F=
A=+—8B BEFEHEERE-



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The following describes the key assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risk relating to the cash generating unit.

Budgeted selling price and construction costs — The basis used
to determine the budgeted selling prices and construction costs
is based on the latest market information and expected market
trends.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate and
budgeted gross margins are consistent with external information
sources.

Properties under development eRE Ly ES

Properties under development expected to be 7£ 2 1) 2 78 HA #5

completed within normal operating cycle: EREEFABATA:
Within one year —FR
After one year —Fi&

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$272,660,000 (2018:
HK$146,614,000) were pledged to secure for certain bank and
other borrowings (note 29) and amounts due to related parties
(note 28) of the Group.

Xt IR E AREEETRENR
MEHRSRERUMKENETEZM

.
B

HHRF-FERAZIFBEXRBEBAAL
RBBAETELEVZABETERR -

BEEERZEZK A -RARBEERE
EEREERANZEET AR TS
EMREHRMEBE /RE-

FRERBEENETZETZHRIHE
B SN EE BB AOR — B e

2019 2018
—2-nE  —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi# T
1,804,630 1,407,476
434,759 329,271
1,369,871 1,078,205
1,804,630 1,407,476

R-ZE—-AE=ZA=+—H A&EH
48R {E /272,660,000 T (=&
— )\ 4 :146,614,0008 T) 2 & &
MECIEARAEBERSE THRITAE
e (K sE29) MEMNEER 2K
E (MfsEe8) 2 G-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES

21. HFEHENZRTYE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E—N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FAET

Completed properties held for sales BEHERRTYZE 98,556 441,433

During the year ended 31 March 2018, an one-off write-off of costs
capitalised as completed properties held for sales of approximately
HK$171,066,000 was recognised as the relevant properties were
demolished for redevelopment into properties with a higher sales
potential that are expected to generate better results to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a write-down on completed
properties held for sales to their net realisable value amounted to
approximately HK$35,604,000 (2018: Nil) was recognised.

Bz - Z—N\E=ZA=+—HB1t#
E-BAREFBRBEEMEANEFEE
BEARSHEEBENUBHREAELAE
EHERRELDR o ME WEREDE
TMeABERENBR I MEZ — XK
8 B AR #9171,066,00058 7T ©

REZE2-_FT—NAFZA=Z+—HILF
B EERBIELDENETYERR
FEH 35 %E#35,604,0005 T
(ZE—NF: &) -

22. INVENTORIES 22. &
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Finished goods — fashion wears RIPK o — R R i £
and accessories - -
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. FEUWBR X
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Rental receivables FEU I & 1,128 1,288
Rental recognised using the straight-line FREHFEIERZES
method 13,831 11,928
Total BET 14,959 13,216

The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade receivables.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of the rental receivables as at the end of the

23. EUWBRFX (&)

NBEZAMAERE BREASRES

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HRZERDTWT
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 234 352
More than one year —F Y+ 894 936
1,128 1,288

As at 31 March 2018, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$936,000 which are past due as at the end of
the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss because there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and they are still considered as recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually

RZE-NF=ZA=Z+—H &
BREKEREREBEARTED
936,000/8 7T 2 FE Y 5K 18 - B B 5K R
R RE B REH - WA K E IR B
BEERELEEG EREEERTE
BABAREFH ANERATKE K
SETERZSZEHRTHETMER

nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows: BRRERE DT
2018
—E-)N\F
HK$000
FET
Neither past due nor impaired I f 80 B KORU B 352

Past due but not impaired BHRERRE

More than 12 months past due BH+ @A L 936
1,288

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

I 4 80 B SR (B 2 R UGRIR B % 25
HYBENCBR2EPAR-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. No impairment on
trade receivables had been recognised as at 31 March 2018.

From 1 April 2018 onwards, the Group measures the loss
allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using a provision
matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and
an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on a provision matrix grouped by the past due status of these
receivables. However, no loss allowance was made on these
receivables as the identified impairment loss is immaterial.

80 8 12 R OR (8 2 R KB B B £ B
SEFAM RERFANEE B
ERRBERIT - REBEESR B
BERA MRERERTEEAS
B EABDEAATEHKE  ®
HERERBAFLRERE AT
—N\EZ A=+ 3 R
T8 LM

B-Z-\FOA-AE AEEK
HEREHEREEERENSRAE
FEW AR R 2 BE AR - BRSO TR
HEEBBRERBEREEY2ERS
AHBEHE RS MEB AN B B
B DM AR A AR EBHA
MEERR BEHEAKEMETED
EREEBARERBEAHNER
18 00 Be 3 2R 2R 15 0 TR 19 7T 1 4F AR
o

HRREAKEEZEEEEBRL
B IAEALEFERBELBEZE
NBEREZE HAHERNBEBHE
HeBRBBEIRE-—FEDAKHE
ZTREPERE-

REBRBRERERERER (1R
ZERW AN A RARETYE)
BRzHUEREEBER-AM AR
E@nl ZRERBRBRY NEKX  BIE
PZ FRUCGRIAF LB REE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE-_ZT-hF=—A=+—HIFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

24. AR RERHEMBER

RECEIVABLES IE
2019 2018
—E-hE ZZT—N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B &E FET FEIT
Other receivables H b & YRR @) 19,303 13,770
Less: impairment of other receivables R E M R UG IR 2R E (4,494) (4,811)
14,809 8,959
Other prepayments H b BT RIE 16,069 22,024
Prepaid construction costs TETREX AR (b) 114,551 800,065
Deposits e 2,545 2,089
Amount due from a related party JE UL B8 5 SRR © 30,171 24,819
Prepaid land lease payments FEfT i E R 16 17,777 19,030
195,922 876,986
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHET
Analysed for reporting purpose: RERBNSNE:
Current portion BNERE 75 195,922 839,643
Non-current portion JEBNEREE 2
Prepaid construction costs SELNEES d %N (b) = 37,343
195,922 876,986

“E-NAEER WHTEBRRARAF 201
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

202

Notes:

@)

24. ANRE RERHEMBER

FIE (@)

/

B 5

At 31 March 2018, included in the Group’s other receivables are @ R-ZT—N\FZA=+—H AEEH
individually impaired other receivables with an aggregate balance of fthy JIE U 5K T8 B 1 48 4 64 754,811,00078
HK$4,811,000 which the Group does not hold any collateral over these TCZ BRRE 2 EAth R UGRTE - A SR
balances. The individually impaired receivables mainly related to debtors 0 MR S SRR ARG - A
that are in financial difficulties. BB 2~ FE WK TE == 22 SR 70 B 7 TR £

ZEEANER-
Starting from 1 April 2018, the Group recognised ECL for other BTN \FNA—HE AEERE
receivables based on individually significant debtor or the ageing of ERIEXEWRFERERNATERNZE
balance collectively that are not individually significant as follows: BEAE AR BRI R 2 ELfth FE UK IE 2 TE A

EEEEET:

Average Gross

expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
AR R HEREE EERE
% HK$ 000 HK$'000
% FHET FHT
Other receivables — Performing At FEUGRIE — FE 4V * 14,809 -
Other receivables — Default EmElRIE—ELD 100 4,494 4,494
19,303 4,494

For the remaining balance of other receivables of approximately
HK$14,809,000, it has low risk of default or there has not been
significantly increase in credit risk since initial recognition and

therefore no impairment has been recognised.

Richly Field China Development Limited

Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

@)

(continued)

The movement of impairment of other receivables is as follows:

24. AR RERHEMBER

I (@)

BaE: ()

@ (8

/

Epth R IE 2 BEZ BT -

12-month Lifetime ECL -
ECL credit impaired Total
ZHTE
128 A7 EEEE
FEEE —EERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FHET
At 1 April 2017 (under HKAS 39) R-E—tFWWA—B (RE N/A N/A
EE G ERIE35%) @A NEA 4,343
Exchange realignment FE X N/A N/A
TNiE A TiEA 468
At 31 March 2018 (under HKAS 39) RZZE—-N\F=A=+—AH N/A N/A
(IRBEE G AR ZE399%) TiE A TiEA 4,811
Impact on adoption of HKFRS 9 RNBE B G RREAFESRH
2E - 4,811 =
At 1 April 2018 (under HKFRS 9) RZZE—N\FHEA—AB (RBi&
BB HRE R EIR) - 4,811 4,811
Exchange realignment [ 5 AR - 317) 317)
At 31 March 2019 WZZE-hF=R=+—H - 4,494 4,494
* On transition to HKFRS 9, no additional loss allowance was * RBEZBBMBHRELEREQ
made at 1 April 2018 as the loss allowance under the ECL model R -RZT-N\FHNA—BIL
was not significantly different to the impairment losses previously EIHIRBINEBEE RAARTE
recognised under HKAS 39. HEEBEREAE TEERER
SRTIRAR B B & 5T 4RI 3990 i
RZBEBBTEEEEZR-
TE-NFFR HWHEPEREERALAE 203



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Notes: (continued)

(b)

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the balance represented prepaid
construction costs to subcontractors for the development of property
projects in the PRC. Pursuant to a business plan approved by
management during the year ended 31 March 2018, the Qinhuangdao
Project commenced pre-construction work and approximately
HK$37,343,000 of the prepayments was expected to be capitalised as
investment properties and was therefore classified as a non-current asset
as at 31 March 2018.

At 31 March 2018, included in the balances were prepaid construction
costs of HK$736,320,000 which were with guarantee provided by certain
related parties. Such balance were refunded during the year due to
changes in subcontracting arrangement.

At 31 March 2019, included in prepaid construction costs are balances
due from related parties of approximately HK$1,220,000 (2018:
HK$44,931,000).

The balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Mr.
Wang Hua (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial shareholder of the Group, is also
the controlling shareholder of the related party.

The directors of the Company consider that there is no significant
expected credit losses associated with the amount due from the related
party as there is no recent history of default or there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and no impairment
loss has been recognised.

fisE: (4&)

(0)

RITE-NER_T—N\F=A=+—
A AHERFAETREMEEE MAD
BEEMZEERA - BETEENE
E_E-N\FE=ZA=+—HBILEFEE#H]
EZEKE FE2S5HECEHREL
A5 B 78 B 4937,343,00058 7T 2 Tt
FEHFERLARENE AR =%
—N\FZAZ+—BHBEEERHE
Eo

R-ZE—N\F=ZA=1+—8 &
18 1 2 B 5 K 736,320,000 7T E
i TRESREER ZEHTFRA
DEETHREFHMRIE-

R-ZEBE—-hE=ZA=+—H0 %[
CPEENAPREBEFER 2B
#: 491,220,000 0 (=T — )\ F:
44,931,000/ 7T ) °

BHRRERR 2R NAREREE-
FEBZIEZRRERFEEE([EE
S MBZEETT 2R R -

ARAEERR BRI EE DR
o EE R B AR AR B
- UL RRE DT SRR 2 TREE
EBEINEAX - i I R EE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The interest rates on the cash at bank ranged from 0.01% to
0.385% (2018: 0.01% to 0.42%) per annum.

At 31 March 2019, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to RMB63,097,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$73,558,000) (2018: RMB11,346,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,159,000)). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within one year —FR
One to two years —EWF
Over two years 481 W

The Group has financial risk management policies to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.

RITBEES2Z2FMNEENTFT0.01%=E
0.385% (ZZE—NHF:0.01%=
0.42% ) ©

R-ZE—AF=A=+—H "EBMK
AREINBEZRE RIBITHEGBARE
63,097,0007T (#8 & M 473,558,000
Bor) (ZE—NF: AR
11,846,0007T (#HE 7 414,159,000
BL) ) c AREBEREEmRALBAEM
g (B AR B i 2 HMNEE B TR (S A
MEE - SERNEEERE AEH
BEFSBRELEIINELEL 2RITH
ANRESBAEMEE -

NBEZEHMAEE BNRIANHS
HIRZERE®DITT -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHxT FHT
520,324 415,192
127,345 875
53,715 56,847
701,384 472,914

AREEC B 7] B E IR BRI
RAERNREOREERRAE

sty
H o
Ean



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

27. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE, OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

27. AW FK1E -

Hib B REBER
EHER GHAEE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx FHT
Receipts in advance AU IE @) - 230,718
Deposits received from the pre-sale of  FBEEWE 2 2 WiEd
properties (@) - 95,543
Other deposits received HEiBE Wiz e 20,203 31,146
Other payables H{th fE S 5008 137,581 216,055
Interest payables FERFE (b) 80,918 -
Deferred income EEUTA (© 434,490 465,126
Accruals JEEtEM 15,503 14,888
688,695 1,053,476
2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Analysed for reporting purpose: BERBNDONA:
Current portion BN EA =B 75 623,691 983,888
Non-current portion FERNEREL 5
Deferred income EFEWA (© 65,004 69,588
688,695 1,053,476
31/3/2019 1/4/2018
—ZE-hEF —ZE-NF
=A=+—H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHIT
Contract liabilities AHAE (@) 176,019 326,261
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Notes:

Upon adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018, the Group’s deposits
received and receipts in advance in relation to the pre-sale of properties of
approximately HK$326,261,000 in aggregate were reclassified to contract
liabilities. As at 31 March 2019, the Group received deposits and receipts
in advance from the pre-sale of properties in aggregate of approximately
HK$176,019,000.

Contract liabilities include advanced receipts and deposits received from
customers to transfer completed properties to them.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019 that was
included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April 2018 amounted to
approximately HK$233,027,000. There was no revenue recognised in the
current year that related to performance obligations that were satisfied in
prior year.

Included in interest payable was accrued interest and penalty interest
payable of approximately HK$75,131,000 in relation to loan in default as
further disclosed in note 29(c).

Balance represented government subsidies of HK$434,490,000 (2018:
HK$465,126,000) received from the Finance Bureau of Changli County,
Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province to support the development of the
Qinhuangdao Project.

Pursuant to a business plan approved by management during the
year ended 31 March 2018, the Qinhuangdao Project commenced
pre-construction work and approximately HK$65,004,000 (2018:
HK$69,588,000) of the deferred income is expected to offset future
construction costs of investment properties and is therefore classified as a
non-current liability.

i :

RZZE—NFOA—BRMNEEH
BHEEBFISHE AEBHUBE
MEWRRZZSRERRBE ED
326,261,000 TEEHM D EEENE
B R-T—-AF=A=+—0 K&
B IR B TEEMEZIES RTERFIE
4 $£49176,019,0007% 7T °

BHABERERRAEP ZBRFAR
BE NARSFEBRTYE-

REE-_Z-NF=ZA=+—HILFE
EERIHA—ZT-N\FOA—HZAE
H 8 EH A K 4233,027,000% 7T ©
RESHERANE - FEERNED
BEEBHEA -

e FI B BIEM T2 —FHFENE
BHERERNETFEREMSIELN
75,131,000 7t °

HEHRBREBETIEERES BB
B 2 BT # Bh434,490,000 7T (=&
— J\4F :465,126,000/8 7T) ' AT =
EREEERE-

REEEERBEEZ-_FT-N\F=H
St-BUEEE#HEZEBHE
ZEERACERMABEIMNERAETR
Hi 4965,004,000% 7T ( =& — )\ & :
69,588,00078 7T ) 2 4E FE Y A #5 1 35 12
EMHE 2 RRBRERAE AL D BRI
mEEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

28. EREEEHFHE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FEx T
JeShing Real Estate Group Company @B B XIREEBAER AR
Limited (“JeShing”) (I&B&E%]) @), (v), () 206,463 275,447
TEREEM B ERA A (VIER AR TE MBI AR A A
(DI#REHE]) (b) 22,941 23,625
MRE—EEIREEBRAF MRE—RETREEE
(‘FAmE— BRAFR([MRE—]) (b) 252,767 257,074
LEREEREEN () BRAR LEREERERN (LE)
(‘B [E]") BRAR (T#E]) (d) 1,837 1,966
BReBRERREMGEEEIE BReBREREREMS
ERAR (ARERBBERE LEERERAA]
(I(EReBREERE]) () 298,006 417,820
Total HmEt 782,014 975,932
Current portion BIEAER 75 (98,438) (203,334)
Non-current portion JEBNHAEE 683,576 772,598
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHET
Carrying amount repayable (based on ATEENEREE (REERGH
scheduled repayment dates set out Fr& v TEEERBEMmME)
in the loan agreements)
Within one year —FR 98,438 203,334
In the second year g F 683,576 772,598
782,014 975,932

Richly Field China Development Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Notes:

On 28 June 2017 JeShing entered into an agreement with the Group and
had granted a discretionary right to the Group to determine the timing
and methods of repayment in relation to drawn facilities amount as of
that date and restored the undrawn facilities amount to RMB400,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$450,560,000).

On 29 September 2017, JeShing entered into a loan capitalisation
agreement with the Group and Mr. Wang, to capitalise outstanding
loan principal and related loan interest amounting to approximately
RMB510,937,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$631,876,000) by
issuing 7,010,533,301 ordinary shares of the Company to Stimulate
High Investment Limited, an entity wholly-owned by Mr. Wang, and the
completion date was on 28 February 2018.

On 1 September 2017, JeShing entered into another loan agreement
with the Group, pursuant to which JeShing granted a loan facility of
RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$348,740,000) for a
term of 2 years. The balance is unsecured and interest bearing at 5% per
annum.

On 28 June 2018, JeShing entered into a supplementary agreement with
the Group and had granted additional loan facility of RMB700,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$816,060,000).

During the year ended the 31 March 2019, the Group had signed an
extension agreement with JeShing to extend the repayment date to
beyond 31 March 2020.

As at 31 March 2019, HK$61,514,000 (2018: HK$152,199,000) was
utilised by the Group.

GEE

R-ZE—+FA-+\B 2BE%
HALEERIY — D WRAEERER
PREEETEEEZAZCRIEE
REBBHERER LA L RE
H gl & 08 k18 = A R 400,000,000
7t (H8E R #9450,560,0008 7T ) ©

R-E—+FAA-_TILE £BE
EEAEBETAETVERERL
W FERAIREREERAR (L
CERERBZER)RTARA
7,010,533,301 % & 8 A% LA & A (b 14
KEBZERACHAERBBEERF
B4 AR #510,937,0007T (HER 4
631,876,000/ L) * Mk A =T
—NFE=-A=+NH-

R-Z—tFNA—A &BREEEAK
EEYS—DERmBE L &%
BEEEHEZRH#HE A RB300,000,000
7T (8 & 7 #9348,740,0005 7T ) © A HA
M AF o Bk A 4 I R IR F B R5%5T

=
T

R-ZZE—-N\FANA-+N\B &BEB%
HAREET I e BINEEER
Bh& A R #700,000,0007 (8 & R4
816,060,000/ 7T ) °

HE-_ZT-NF=ZA=+—HILFE"
AEBHESREXEFELER RS KE
FAHERE—_E-_EE=A=+—H
&

R-ZZE-AE=A=1+—8 K&£H
28 H61,514,0008 7 (— & — N\F:
152,199,0005% 7T ) °



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Notes: (continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2018, an entrusted loan agreement
was entered into among JT#RZL & (as the entrusting party), JeShing
(as the entrusting party), ® R4 — (as the entrusting party), a lending
bank (as the lender) and the Group (as the borrower). Pursuant to the
entrusted loan agreement, a loan of RMB301,800,000 (equivalent to
HK$351,838,000) was provided to the Group with maturity date on 30
May 2019. Mr. Wang is also the controling shareholder of JT &5 £,
JeShing and F R 28 —. During the year ended the 31 March 2019, the
Group had signed an extension agreement with )T #k 2% &, JeShing and
) 5 25 — to extend the repayment date to beyond 31 March 2020.

The balance is secured by the Group’s prepaid land lease payments,
investment properties and properties under development in Qinhuangdao
with a carrying amount of HK$441,924,000, HK$220,343,000 and
HK$76,809,000 respectively (2018: HK$487,868,000, HK$133,889,000
and HK$82,224,000), carrying interest ranging from 5.7% to 6.19%
(2018: 5.7% to 6.19%) per annum.

Included an amount due to JeShing of HK$1,320,000 which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand as at 31 March 2019
and 2018.

Amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand as at
31 March 2019 and 2018. Mr. Wang is a controling shareholder of this
related company.

On 2 December 2016, AR & BB KE entered into a loan
agreement with the Group, pursuant to which B R & B ERERE
granted a loan facility of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$349,740,000) for a term of 3 years. The balance is secured
by certain of the Group’s investment properties with a carrying
amount of HK$674,478,000 (2018: HK$670,851,000) and interest
bearing ranging from 8.5% to 9.5% per annum. Mr. Wang is also the
controlling shareholder of B R & B BIFXZKE. During the year ended
31 March 2019, the Group had signed an extension agreement with
RS EEERE to extend the repayment date to beyond 31 March
2020.

fisE: (4&)

(0)

HE_Z—N\F=ZA=1+—HLFE"
TEREET (1EAZTH) ©REX (1F
BETH) BRE—(EAZFEH)
BERBT (ERER A)Eﬁﬂ:%l(f‘&
BERNETVEZAERMZ - REZ
RERE —z/\EmonBoo,ooo
7 (& 7351,838,000/ 7T ) 2 ERE
REFAEE JHRA-T—NFA
A=+8- I%iﬁﬁ%méﬁéﬁfﬁ T
BENERE—ZIERKRE -HE

—WEZA=Z+—B8LEFE" ZIK%IEE
TTEREE A - éﬁiﬁi)&rﬁ?“—” E

HipE SEFAPERE-_T -TF
—HA=+—Bz%-

*ﬁ%ﬂaz}&%lﬁ”ﬁe EZENMN L
HER REDERBEFRYWER
¥ BR E B 5 Bl 5441,924,0007% 7t
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BERZZE-—NFRERT—-N\F=
A=+ HENSREXZ2HHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. STEBITRHEMER
BORROWINGS
2019 2018
“E-NF —E-N\F
Contractual Contractual
interest HK$'000 interest HK$'000
ERFE TET BHF= TR
Current B
Bank loans - secured BOTER-FEA (note ¢) 8%-10% 1,107,510 8% 118,560
(MizEe)
Bank loans - unsecured BOER—EEA 6.53% 11,658 5.66% 14,976
Other loans - secured HinEHR-FHEA (note d) 1% 34,974 11% 37,440
(Wizkd)
Other loans - unsecured HiER—EiEgH 6.4%-36% 38,677 6.4% 3494
1,192,819 174,470
Non-current FEEE
Bank loans - secured RITEHN-HEA - 8-10% 1,067,040
Other loans - secured HipER-BHA (note d) 11%-11.5% 279,792 11% 299,520
(MizEd)
279,792 1,366,560
Analysed into: BUATER
Bank loans repayable based on ~ ZBIREFRBE 2 EEER
scheduled repayment dates in AHEEZRITER:
loan agreements:
Within one year —ER 1,119,168 133,536
In the second year FF - 118,560
In the third to fifth years F-EERF - 948,480
1,119,168 1,200,576
Other loans repayable based on AR E X Hi 2 ETER
scheduled repayment dates in AHER EMmER:
loan agreements:
Within one year —FR 73,651 40,934
In the second year F_F 279,792 299,520
In the third to fifth years EZEERF - -
353,443 340,454
TE-NFFR HWHEPEREERALAE 211



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR R IRZRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Certain bank and other borrowings of the Group are secured by

29. it ESBITREME

=h /=
FA (48)

AEEETRITRAEMERAANEE

certain assets of the Group with net carrying amounts as listed ETHEEFENO N 2EERME:
below:
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Investment properties A 486,834 290,485
Prepaid land lease payments B L HER 220,552 192,585
Properties under development TR 195,851 64,390
903,237 547,460
Notes: B 5

(@  The Group’s banking facilities amounting to HK$1,119,168,000
(2018: HK$1,200,576,000), of which HK$1,119,168,000 (2018:
HK$1,200,576,000) had been utilised as at 31 March 2019.

(b) As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s bank facilities were further

secured by:
o a corporate guarantee executed by JeShing;
o a personal guarantee executed by Mr. Wang; and

o a corporate guarantee executed by B R &K BEBRKE, a
company which Mr. Wang is a controlling shareholder.

212 Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

Notes: (continued)

©

During the year ended 31 March 2019, in respect of a bank borrowings
with a principal amount of RMB950,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,107,510,000) as at 31 March 2019, the Group breached the
repayment terms of which RMB95,000,000 was in default since
December 2018. Pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement, the
bank had a discretionary right to demand immediate full repayment of
the outstanding principal of RMB950,000,000 together with any unpaid
interest. The directors of the Company had commenced negotiation of
the repayment terms of the loan with the relevant banker since then. Up
to the date of these consolidated financial statements, those negotiations
are still in progress and had not been concluded. However, the Group
had obtained an indication from the bank that the repayment term of
entire principal and interests will be extended to June 2022. The directors
of the Company are confident that their negotiations with the lender will
ultimately reach a successful conclusion.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in respect of an other
borrowing with a carrying amount of RMB270,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$314,766,000) as at 31 March 2019, the Group
breached the repayment term of which RMB30,000,000 was in
default since April 2019. On 24 June 2019, the Group entered into a
supplementary agreement with the lender to extend the repayment term
of the entire outstanding principal of RMB270,000,000 as at 31 March
2019 and all relevant accrued interest to June 2022.

fisE: (4&)

©

HE-_ZT—-—hEF=A=+—81t=
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

On 30 October 2015, the Company, Mr. He Dazhao (“Mr. He"), a
former substantial shareholder of the Company (the “Subscriber”)
and Mr. Wang (the “Guarantor”) entered into the agreement in
relation to the issue of the convertible note in the principal amount
of HK$130,000,000 with 7% coupon rate. The whole or part of the
convertible note shall be redeemed by the Company in stages with
a final maturity date on 30 April 2016 (the “Initial Maturity Date”)
(or such other date as the Company and the Subscriber agree in
writing).

Convertible note in the principal amount of HK$130,000,000 was
issued by the Company to the Subscriber on 13 November 2015.

In the event that the Company defaults in redemption on the
relevant redemption date or events of default occurs, the
Subscriber will have the right to convert the whole or part of the
principal amount of the convertible note into conversion shares up
to a maximum of 1,300,000,000 shares, and any remaining balance
of the convertible note will be redeemed by the Company.

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible notes
was calculated using cash flows discounted at a rate based on
the interest rate of 7%. Upon initial recognition, the fair value of
liability component of the convertible notes is HK$130,000,000 and
attributing to the equity component the residual amount of nil.

The Group had not redeemed any of the convertible note up to
the Initial Maturity Date. On 13 January 2017, the Group and Mr.
He entered into a deed of amendment to extend the maturity date
to 31 March 2017 and limit a fixed period of time for conversion
between 1 April 2017 to 31 December 2017 in the event that
any outstanding principal amount of the convertible note is not
redeemed by the Company as at 31 March 2017. The amendment
of the terms of the convertible note had been accounted for as a
continuation of the original convertible note. As at 31 March 2017,
convertible note with principal amount and accrued interest of
HK$110,863,000 remained outstanding.

R—E—RAF+A=Z+H ARQA-
RABIRIEERRMAMABEE ([H%
D) (TRBEADREXRA ([ER
A BEEITAR L% A130,000,000/%
TREEEXRET%Z A BREERI L
oA BT BRREEEAR
RADBEEBELD ENPFRAE-Z
—RNFNA=Z+H([MHEIEBE])
(A RBERBASEHTEZ2EH
HEMHE) -

ARAR _FE—RAF+—A+=HMH
REBANEITAEE /130,000,000
TTZ A BB ER-

WARBARENBREERRHEDL
HWHRENEF BBASBEEKA
BRERZE2HFABIASEERR
& %1,300,000,000 # Ik ik 15 - B
AMRRRZ EASRESHARQRE
[B] o

AmEEEaERs 2 A FENER
BEMNERTRTR RS REFTE - 4
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A F1{E A130,000,000/8 7T © & &L
BmHdn s BERAET-

EEVRBE AEEWEBERLE
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T=B AEB RMEEFTLIER
ZEUNERIBEE-_TE—LF=
B=+t—H8B ¥TER-_ZT—+tF=A
=+t—H EEAUBRREEREZ HKRE
EACHENAEARQRAEBER ZBR
T BEBRERARER T —tFH0
A—HZz-ZZ—+F+-_A=+—H
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FIEIERAIBREBRZ2TEE - K=
T—+tF=ZA=Z=+—H Xx2BELE
A B A110,863,000/8 T 2 A # %
EBEHAREE-
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During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group had redeemed
convertible note of HK$30,000,000 and no convertible note were
converted into ordinary shares of the Company. In addition, no
further amendments to the convertible notes had been made. As
at 31 March 2018, the notes payable is due for repayment and
conversion right has expired.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had
made a repayment of approximately HK$3,427,000 (2018:
HK$30,000,000). As at 31 March 2019, notes with principal
amount and accrued interest in aggregate of approximately
HK$93,471,000 (2018: HK$88,114,000) remained outstanding.

The movements of the carrying amount of the notes payable for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 were set out below:

BHz-_2-N\NF=ZA=Z+—H
EFE - AEEHEBDRDKBRKEIER
30,000,000/ 7T & I & 7] # Ig F I&
B ARAB 2 E@BK- I W
ERAMBREBRIELHE—FPIEFT R
—E-NFZA=Z+—8B ENEE
BRHEERERED D H-

HE - Z—-—hAhF=A=+—HItF
[ AEBEELEMRLS3,427,000
B (ZZE—/\#F:30,000,000
BL) RZE—NALF=ZA=+—
H ZEBEASBEREGFNEGHA
93,471,000 . (=& — )\ & :
88,114,000 70 ) 5 KRB & -

BHz_Z—-—NEFrk-_ZF—-—N\NF=H
—t Bl FEZEMNEEZER@EE
ZEEET T

HK$’'000

FHET

As at 1 April 2017 RZE—tFHHA—H 110,863

Repayment during the year FRER (30,000)
Effective interest charged during the year FAREZ EERE 7,251

As at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZTE—N\F=ZA=+—HK

—E-N\FWMA—H 88,114

Repayment during the year FAER (3,427)
Effective interest charged during the year FAUWE 2 BEBEFE 8,784

As at 31 March 2019

RZE—NF=ZA=+—H 93,471
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At 1 April AmA—A
Reversal of provisions B RO
Exchange realignment [ 5 a2

At 31 March R=A=+—H
Notes:

@)

From 2011 and 2012, the Group entered into a number of lease
agreements (the “Tenancy Agreements”) with its tenants in relation to the
lease of certain shop premises developed under the Changsha Project.
Pursuant to certain Tenancy Agreements, the shop premises shall be
ready for lease during the period from August 2011 to May 2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the PRC government launched
a series of adjustment measures and policies to control the property
market. These regulatory control measures and policies caused the
slowdown in the presale of the properties under development of the
Changsha Project, which in turn added pressure on the Group’s capital
requirement and further resulted in the slowdown in the construction
progress of the Changsha Project. As the results of the pre-sale of the
properties under development of the Changsha Project were below the
expectation of the Group, during the year ended 31 March 2012, the
Group made certain adjustments to the original design of the Changsha
Project, which included among others, adjustments to the floor design
of a certain residential portion, and the allocation of the floor area among
the residential portion, the commercial portion and the facilities, to meet
the local demand. These adjustments, which required the approval from
the relevant local government authorities, also affected the construction
progress of the Changsha Project. As the construction of the Changsha
Project was behind the original schedule, during the year ended 31
March 2012, the Group was not able to deliver the shop premises to
a number of tenants according to the agreed timetable set out in the
Tenancy Agreements. Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreements, the tenants
could terminate the agreements and/or claim against the Group for the
delay in the delivery of the shop premises on the basis of loss incurred or
the number of days delayed.

i

(@)

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T
7,221 7,035
= (545)

(476) 731

6,745 7,221

B ——Fk-_T——-F AEEH
HEFREASEEEIERRZETH
UzHENVZERERZ ([HER
#]) BEATHERZ BEMHLA
R_ZE——FNAE-_ZT——FHAH
M HEE -

REBEE_T——F=A=+—HLHF
B FBRBAHEL T RN ARER
BRI EEMS - WERER
MMEBREKEDPBEEEMEZTE
ERE  BAEBE ST RILRE DT
E—SEHRRPEENIRERME-
HRERDPHEEEMEZEERER
RAEEES REE2-_2——F=A4
=—+—HIFEE AEEHHRDIER
CERBRMERETHRE  EhaiE-
ARETEEBONFRRTAREE
o AEBS MR EEDEEN
RE NHBEEMWER - FRAREE
BB BT E  FER R IE
EMIREE -BHRRDPEE IEER
REFIRER REE-_FT——F=A
=+—HLFE AEEEERBER
EAEZEMERMAERAZEZRLRN
WA C-RBEHERZ BEURERR
AL AR I s & SIRFTE £ 2 18
K EHZ BHMAEEREER-
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Notes: (continued)

@

(continued)

The Group has been in discussions with the tenants regarding the delay
in the delivery of the shop premises. Some of the tenants have terminated
the Tenancy Agreements with the Group with the initial deposits being
refunded by the Group. For those tenants who are wiling to continue
their leases, the Group has been in discussions with them regarding
the revised terms of agreements by offering them certain discounts on
the leasing fees or a rent-free period as compensation for the delay. As
at the date of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has
not received any claims for compensation from its tenants against the
Group, and no estimation can be made on the amount of this potential
compensation. With respect to the terms of the Tenancy Agreements,
a reversal of provision of RMB459,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$545,000) for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2019: Nil) was made
due to certain tenants forfeited their claims.

During 2013 and 2014, the Group has signed pre-sale agreements
regarding the sale of residential properties with buyers. However, the
Group failed to deliver the residential properties according to the pre-
sale agreements. As at the date of these financial statements, the Group
has not received any claims for compensation for the delay. With respect
of the terms of the pre-sales agreement, no provision (2018: Nil) was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019.

BaE: ()

(@)

(#8)

REED T ER MM AR ETE
e En MR RILEANERZ HER
HOMAEENREVRIEE - ANEH
CHEE#ELTHE - ERBLE
M 2 GRETTER  RE— TS
sk e AEBIEATHZBE - RS
AT REBH AREBY EWEIE
MEREHEBEERAERRLAR B
AR EERESBEL G - HHE
ERZ2GRME  BRE THERE
HEZ REBE-Z—-NE=/A=1+—
H IEF[E B 0 # i A R #459,00070
(HER#545,0008T) (ZZE—H
FmE) o

RIZE-—=FR-Z—NF AEHE
HRHEETEMERETRITAEHH -
A AREBERGEZEEHBREINET
ME-RREHHRERAY KREEL
EEEE BT ERR - RIBER
BZERME RBE-Z-NF=H
=t-HLFE TEEREE(ZF
—N\FE) -
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33.

32. DEFERRED TAXATION 32. JEFEBIE
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the year are FRCEBEEHREB (BE)BEZ2ZHM0M
as follows: T:
Fair value
adjustment  Accelerated
arising on tax  Revaluation
acquisition depreciation of properties Total
BEEEZ EBIE
DNREFE neE MEEMHE st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B st FET FET FET THET
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+FMHA—H 8,021 59,5634 (42,355) 25,200
Charged to profit or loss RiE&= PR - 6,985 2,884 9,869
Charged to other A E A 2 W  HIBR
comprehensive income - - 10,204 10,204
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—FENB AR 37 50,453 - - 50,453
Exchange realignment P& 5 1,327 6,787 (4,424) 3,690
At 31 March 2018 and R-ZZ—-\F=A=+—H
1 April 2018 kZF-\FMNA—H 59,801 73,306 (33,691) 99,416
Charged to profit or loss i Eeaak il - 6,795 648 7,443
Exchange realignment BE 5 A2 (3,939) (5,300) 2,437 (6,802)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NEF=ZA=+—H 55,862 74,801 (30,606) 100,057
L
SHARE CAPITAL 33. BA&
2019 2018
“E-hE —E-)N\F
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
RO#E 8 BRINEE i
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iz THT T
Authorised: BE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &R E{E0.05/% 7T
ZEBR
At 1 April REA—H 40,000,000,000 2,000,000 20,000,000,000 1,000,000
Increase in authorised AT RASIE AN
share capital (@) - - 20,000,000,000 1,000,000
At 31 March R=A=1+—H 40,000,000,000 2,000,000 40,000,000,000 2,000,000
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2019 2018
“E-NE —ZE-N\F
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
BROHE 8 B! ki
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
izt TER THT
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each & X E{E0.05/E L2
TiEk
At 1 April RMA—H 23,336,687,255 1,166,834 13,186,619,070 659,331
Issue of new shares BITHRG (b) - 3,139,534,884 156,977
Issue of new shares ESirilvan) © - 7,010,533,301 350,526
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 23,336,687,255 1,166,834 23,336,687,255 1,166,834
Notes: B 5
@  During the year ended 31 March 2018, the authorised share capital was @ ®BE_T-N\F=ZA=+—HL*#F
increased from HK$1,000,000,000 to HK$2,000,000,000 by the creation = 3E 1@ 1 3R 38 920,000,000,0000%
of an additional 20,000,000,000 new shares of HK$0.05 each. f%0.0578 JT B9 #T A% 10 & B IR A
1,000,000,0007% JT 1 Z2,000,000,000
HITe
(o)  During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company allotted and issued ) BE_Z-N\F=ZA=+—HLFE
3,139,534,884 ordinary shares to Stimulate High Investment Limited RATAIRERE B R A 7 AL EE R
as the consideration for acquisiton of ZEE 4 BIRE B X B R A A 173,139,534,884 % & @M - LAVEABULE
(“Ningxia Jinguan”). The market price of the Company’s share at the date EESHBREBEERAA(IEES
of completion is HK$0.078 each. &) Z2RIE - AR ERMD T ERTTA
HE R EAR0.078# T
©  During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company allotted and issued  #HEZZ-—N\F=ZA=+—HLHF
7,010,533,301 ordinary shares to Stimulate High Investment Limited for B - ARRRMIRHFIREFR A AR E R
settlement of certain indebtedness in aggregate of HK$631,876,000 due %% 177,010,533,301% & @ A% - LAE 1
by the Group to JeShing. The market price of the Company’s share at the AEBERSREEC A TERKES
date of completion is HK$0.078 each. 631,876,000/ 7T, ° 2 R & iR 17 K 1 (B
R5ER B B A S AZ0.0788 T
Details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 28 February FBEERARATBRR T —\F=A
2018. ity AN = P/ =
All the shares issued rank pari passu with the existing shares in all FrBEEHTRNHNE T EERE KRG
respects. ZBREMA -



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to related parties, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and notes payable, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The Group leases its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from six months to twenty years (2018: six months to twenty
years). These properties are expected to generate rental
yields of 2.79% (2018: 3.47%) on an ongoing basis.

Certain of the Group’s existing operating lease arrangements
are with terms of contingent lease payments and are
calculated based on a percentage of relevant performance of
the tenants, ranging from 5% to 10%, pursuant to the rental
agreements. Contingent rents recognised as income for the
current year amounted to approximately HK$13,480,000
(2018: HK$14,972,000).

AEBEREEN UERANEEHN
ERBEARELE RABEEEL

=
Jm

B RBRAFE BERRERZAD
R-AEENERRRE FEFEH

$Elm%$m% mEBER
BEMNBEETR ?Eﬁﬁ&ﬁm
%ﬁu&%ﬁﬁﬁ W EMFRRE R

REFEERARKNDAIEE AEMHGE
é(@%ﬁ%ﬁ%$~%ﬁ&%ﬁ%
B/) e

AEBERBEEHELHHMEE
KEME KEHELHZEK
ZHENTFABEAZE-+F (=
T-—NF:ANEAAzE=-1+F)-
ZEYMEERSEE£2.79%
(ZE—NF:347%) 2 8%
W % o

AEBEETRAELEHERH
WA AMTERE I RIE
ﬂ%%-&mﬁZﬁﬁ%ﬁ
D (N F5%FE10% )5t E - K
FERABEUANIAEAS LD
£18,480,0008 Lt (ZZE — N
14,972,000 L) °
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued) B

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

EHERH ¢

R-ZE—NARE=ZA=+—H8 &
EEEWRAE A HEKEEHE
HIAKRREHAERBEREZE
IR AR T -

2019 2018
—E-nE -4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within one year —FR 26,253 13,555
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFOLF (BHREREMF) 63,874 36,029
After five years hFiE& 47,910 56,803
138,037 106,387

As at 31 March 2019, the Group leases certain of its office
properties, staff quarters and shop under operating lease
arrangements. The leases for the office properties are
negotiated for terms of one to two years (2018: one to two
years).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling
due as follows:

RZZE—AhF=ZA=+—HB &
EEREBEKCEHETHEARHE
ETHAEYE BIBERE
oM AEMEHRELHHEMNK
ZHBAE—FEMFE(ZZT—N
Fr—FEWEF)

RZE-NF=A=+—HB XK
SEAAHELEHERATZR
REEAERAEINEA N
T

2019 2018

—E-AF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx FHET

Within one year —FR 2,361 1,131
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZEERF (BEMFEELA) 1,378 -
3,739 1,131

—E-NEER WETERREARAT 221
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36.

37.

222

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

. BRI

RBmERAR AEEERAENT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE—N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Construction of properties included R WEREHE T2
under property, plant and equipment MERIEEYE
and investment properties 690,926 760,698

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

Ningxia Jinguan

On 28 February 2018, the Group acquired the entire equity
interest in Ningxia Jinguan, a company controlled by a substantial
shareholder of the Company by the issuance of 3,139,534,884
ordinary shares at the completion date. This acquisition has been
accounted for using the acquisition method. Ningxia Jinguan is
engaged in the property development and management and home
furnishing. Ningxia Jinguan was acquired so as to continue the

7. WEE— KB LA

BESTH
RZE—NF_AZ-F+NB - EFBR
SR B HI % 173,139,534,884 0% i3
R-AEBKEEFE2E (—HABAR
NAEBREZHNAE) 2K
E-ZBRECRBKBEAK =
E¢BREMEREREENRE L
fi-WEEESHEETHERRAS

expansion of the Group’s property developments. BHEREER-
HK$’ 000
Consideration transferred FrEZENRE FHET
Ordinary shares of the Company, RATH LB BRANTK
measured using the published market price HERZEAMMEE
at the completion date 244,884

Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2019
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37. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

Ningxia Jinguan (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition

EFER (%)
RKBEHCKRBEERCHRAR

37. WE—REHB AR (&)

are as follows: m

HK$000

FET

Property, plant and equipment Wz WE REE 2,000
Investment properties A 293,494
Cash and cash equivalents RekRESEER 1,123
Trade receivables JE U BR SR 320
Prepayment and other receivables TE A SR8 K B b W SRR 81,648
Amounts due from related parties FEU B8 i 75 BIE 70,193
Properties under development TEEME 321,258
Trade payables JE 1T BR 3R (156,362)
Other payables and accruals H b I R ERTE A (18,640)
Amounts due to related parties FEfS B 5 5 (46,726)
Receipts in advance SELEeE (21,943)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE (50,453)

475,912

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately
HK$1,797,000 have been excluded from the consideration
transferred and have been recognised as an expense in the
current year, within the administrative expenses in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

“E-NAEER WHTEBRRARAF

FrEERET e ERBEREEKERY
1,797,000 0 B AR ANFE
BRARZ JAREEEREME
M ERETHA S -
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Ningxia Jinguan (continued)
Excess of fair value of net identifiable assets over the consideration
transferred

EHEE (8)
TSI EE L BB TR
#yE

HK$’'000

FHET

Consideration transferred FragE M (B 244,884

Less: net assets acquired BB EEFE (475,912)

Deemed contribution from RERERORARR ZBIELE

shareholders recognised in equity (231,028)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of Ningxia Jinguan WEEE B H T A FEE

HK$’000

T

Cash consideration paid BENRERE -

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired B PTENIR S RIS SEMEH (1,123)

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition WEEANRSMAFE 1,123

The fair values of investment properties and properties under
development are determined by reference to valuation by Avista
Valuation Advisory Limited with key inputs including fair market rent,
term vyield, reversionary yield, fair market price, adjustments made
to account for differences in time, size and location, estimated
development cost to completion, developer’s profit and internal
business plans, together with other externally available information.

Included in the loss for the year for the year ended 31 March
2018 was a loss of approximately HK$978,000, attributable to the
additional business generated by Ningxia Jinguan. Revenue for the
year for the year ended 31 March 2018 included approximately
HK$845,000 generated from Ningxia Jinguan.

REMERBERYWEZLAFEDS
ENFEAFTEFAERARZMGEE
B TZ2H AEEREATMSHE
T HHKkEX ERRaX 2F
mE RERE RERWIBTEZ
ERAERMELZAE TR ZMAEE
PR BB m M R BB X 15 AT
g BEREMINBAESER-

Hz_Z—\F=ZA=1+—HILFE
JEBEREEESEHEENEI
EISEMEE 78,0008 T =
—E-NE=ZA=+—-BILEFEEZ
WABRREEZESTMEENRED
845,000/ JT °
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Ningxia Jinguan (continued)

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Ningxia Jinguan (continueq)

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2017, total revenue
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 would have been
approximately HK$203,212,000, and loss for the year ended 31
March 2018 would have been approximately HK$405,086,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 April 2017, nor is it intended to be
a projection of future results.

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during the

BEESHW (&)

WEEE 2T HE e T AFE (B)
WREEBEER T —+tFMA—
Bk AEEBHE -_ZT—N\NF=
A=+ BHILEFEZBRAENB
203,212,000 L HEZZ — N\ F
ZTAZTHULEFEZ2EBEENR
405,086,000 L - BB & & B 12
HB2E R RAVABRITWESED
RZE—+tFHA—BZXNBERT
AEBEBRAMBRAREEEEDN
BE - MABUBERBREEENE
Bl o

BEEMBHRREMBOBEZ
R AEBRFRABNLTE
RAETRS -

years.
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ihg=3 FET FET

Related parties: RS -

Interest expense FMERX @), (i) 78,680 97,902
Rental income from £4[&] REZEZHERA (i) 1,861 1,830
Management fee income from %48  RE%E 2 B E2UA 285 280
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These transactions were conducted on terms and conditions
mutually agreed between the parties.

Notes:

0

(i

(i)

Included in the balance is imputed interest of HK$21,294,000
(2018: HK$31,726,000).

Being interest expense to JeShing, JT#R#E&H, A& — and
MREEBEIBRKE where Mr. Wang has control over these
entities.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had future minimum lease
receivables from #4[&| in respect of premises under non-
cancellable operating leases of Nil (2018: faling due within 1 year
of HK$1,526,000). Mr. Wang has control over 44[&].

JeShing has provided certain undertaking to the Group in respect
of the recoverability of the Group’s total interests in associates of
approximately HK$56,750,000 (2018: HK$39,976,000) as at 31
March 2019.

In addition, as at 31 March 2018, certain related parties
controlled by the substantial shareholder had provided
guarantees of approximately HK$736,320,000 in favour of
the Group over certain prepayments for construction works
and the guarantees were released during the year ended 31
March 2019.

ZERHWETHER B Z HR
RARIFHETT

B3

M

(i)

)

S

EHEBRBERERLHERNE
21,294,000 L (ZE — \F :
31,726,000 70) °

BlMeRER THEM BX
E-RERSBRBEBRREELD
MERZ FTREHZEERA
BRI

R-E-AF=A=+—H &
EEBATATHECEREETY
¥REKLBARRFEAERER
T (=ZF— )\ :1,526,000/% 7T
PMEREIE) - THAEHELBEA
BRI

R-E—-NF=A=+—80 %
BREXERAEERBENRZ
48 1 25 #956,750,000 7T ( = =
— \4F : 39,976,0005 7T ) 2 AT U
Bl M A B R & TG

RZE-—NF=ZA=+—

A - TEREEH 25 TEE
FUNAEEAZTHSARERT
BzETHEMNRERHBERY
736,320,000/ 7T ° i A B8 & %
REE-_ZFT—NF=ZA=1+—H
ITFEDERR -
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3. BEFRTG (&

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) )
(b) Compensation of key management b) AEEXTEEBAEZME
personnel of the Group
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHxT FHET
Short term employee benefits HHEERA 2,704 2,992
Post employment benefits BEREER 19 37
2,723 3,029
(C) The remuneration of key management personnel is () XEEBABZME&DEBALEE
determined by the Group with reference to the performance K2EZERAARBRMSBEME
of individual and market trends. E °
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. REME s 2EWMT A
Categories of financial instruments eI A5
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised costs/loans REERAGEC S REE,
and receivables (including cash and cash BRI EGRIE
equivalents) (BEReARSEER) 137,598 63,931
Financial asset at FVTOCI EAFEFAEMZEYRE
CREE 2,724 -
Avalilable-for-sale investment AHHERE - 2,724
Financial liabilities EA =R
Amortised cost HESER AR 3,303,685 3,340,079

“E-NAEER WHTEBRRARAF

227



For the year ended 31 March 2019
HEZZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to
related parties, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and
notes payable. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (note 29), amounts
due to related parties (note 28) and notes payable (note 30).
The Group aims at keeping borrowings at fixed rates in order
to reduce cash flow risk. The Group’s exposure to changes in
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s amounts
due to related parties with floating interest rates. The Group
does not have any interest rate hedging policy, and will
consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the need
arise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings). The analysis
is prepared assuming the variable-rate financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year.

2019 —Z-hEF
Increase of 100 basis points 38010018 £ 24

Decrease of 100 basis points o 1001 £ 24
2018 —E-N\F

Increase of 100 basis points 3 HN1001E £ 24
Decrease of 100 basis points Bk 100 1E & 24

The Group’s businesses mainly are carried out in the
Mainland China, all transactions including major revenue and
cost items are denominated in RMB and the Group has no
material transactional currency exposure. The RMB is not a
freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies
and in certain cases the remittance of currency out of
Mainland China.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

HREDSN
TRETNESGERIEEEE (F
BHEMEHARTE) BAKH
BrRUAT B IR 2 U (BIBF B
MEBRZFZE) DM DHER
PR E B W R TT R 27 B A R
ERIAREFHHRITE

Increase (decrease)
in loss before tax
RRB AT B 1B

i OR2)
HK$’000

FHET

1,303
(1,303)

1,396
(1,396)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial position and condition are performed on each and
every major debtor periodically. These evaluations focus on
the debtor’'s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the debtor as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. No credit
terms are granted to the debtors of the Group’s property
development and investment business. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from its debtors.

As at 31 March 2018, impairment loss was recognised when
there was objective evidence of impairment loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Starting from 1 April 2018, for trade receivables, the Group
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines
the ECL by using a provision matrix, estimated based on
historical credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

For other non-traded related receivables, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its
management to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk
grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of
risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by the
management uses the Group’s own days past due to rate its
major customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously
monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded
is spread amongst approved counterparties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

Category
HEhl

Performing

FE#)

Doubtful

ﬁtv

Default

i
2

Write-off

A

Description
A

For financial assets where there has low risk of default
or has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition and that are not credit
impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

SREE 2 BHRBREIESEE R B VAR AR
WEAEEME W ELREERE (BAE —HR)

For financial assets where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that
are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

TREERFERRB VAR ARKEEINER LR
EERE(BRE_RBR)

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have
occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

E-ENFEYZEEC M AKRBEEREELEE
HEZEHRER eREERTEREREER
B(HAF=RE&)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

EEBRTNEBABARENBREEAEERST
A gE Y[ A B s0A

AEEERZEERE (&)
AEEE A 255 R ARER

BEATEE:

Basis for recognising ECL

BREHCEERBZEE
Other
Trade financial
receivables assets
FE U BR X HhEmEE
Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
(simplified
approach)
FHEAEE 12 AFEHEE
B8 (%) BB
Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
not credit not credit
impaired impaired
HEAEE 2HTEEEE
BE-REE EBE-REBELE
FEERE FERE
Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —

credit impaired

2HEMEER
BE-D#E
= ERE

Amount is
written off

WEEHETR

credit impaired

2HMEMER
BE-D#HE
= ERE

Amount is
written off

WEEHETR
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The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s TRAFMAEBRSMEE 2B f)f
financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to BERAEERE ZEREE
credit risk. % o
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-ZE—-NE=A=+—H8HL
FE
Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
12@A=5E
AEEETR HEHEEER RE#AE ERERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Trade receivables  Note i Lifetime ECL 14,959 - 14,959
(simplified approach)
FE MR IR B i 2HEBEESE
(F1E%)
Deposits Performing 12-month ECL 47,525 - 47,525
and other
receivables
e REAM B4 128 AT Bz E &R
J& W R IR
Deposits Default Lifetime ECL — 4,494 (4,494) -
and other credit impaired
receivables
e REAM EH 2HIBAEEBE—
J& W R IE BEEEERE
(4,494)
Note: B 5
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified i. RERERME AEBEEER
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime BB B HRELERER 2 B
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on these Fo IR EEEEEEHE
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due status. The EiEEE AEBSBRAERE
identified impairment loss is not significant. FEEFZEFEA CEREES

B YREEHAKRETSE-
EHA 2R EBERL TEK-
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The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group reported
net loss of approximately HK$268,297,000. As at 31 March
2019, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$831,156,000 and total borrowings, including interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts due to
related parties and notes payable of approximately
HK$1,384,728,000 which will be due in the coming twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. As at the same
date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$75,114,000. In order to improve the
Group’s liquidity position, the directors of the Company
have been implementing various operating and financing
measures, details of which are set out in note 2.1. Based
on those measures, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Company and the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet its financial obligations as when they
fall due in the coming twelve months from 31 March 2019
and it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to the parent
company’s board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions and related parties to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and bank balances and available funding through (i)
refinancing of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
when they fall due; and (ii) obtaining new financing to
strengthen the liquidity position of the Group and to meet the
Group’s commitments for properties development projects
and other business operations.

HRAEEHRSBBEBFEY
268,297,000 T AN £ B E
RS EeRB - R-_F—NF
—A=+—HB XEBEBRHEAE
&% %8 41831,156,00078 T
BEReBE(BREFTEBERITRE
&R BN EERRIBEREN
Z %) #71,384,728,000/% 7T
BREREBRREF AR+ =@
AEIH -REB AEBHNRS
MR eEEMBLT5114,000
B BREAEBNTRHE S
M ARRBEERTZEEE
LB RE  BEFBENME
21 - ERZFEE ARAE
EREB ARBRAEEKER
WEEESRBRTEN - —NF
A=+ —HBRKR+=ZEARN
BB BET BRBELE
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B e
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group

can be required to pay.

40. T RIEREEREMIA

DFEE)

T%ﬁIJ%zZK%IZQ@EE\ ERNE
HRZHTEHER %Ei%

= n’]*ﬁﬁfﬁiﬁimg( BiEEE

MR X HMETER

HRERMNEAEZNE

ﬁ'Jé‘z:zi&ft

] TD)\)

ERARBEAETXNZEFAH-

Total
On demand or undiscounted Carrying
less than 1 year 1o 2 years 3to 5 years cash flows amount
RERS RERRES

-FZR -ZRE ZZRE HELH REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEm T T T T

2019 ZE-hE
Trade payables ERER 701,384 - - 701,384 701,384
Other payables and accruals EENFERENER 254,205 - - 254,205 254,205
Amounts due to related parties EREELFE 147,864 720,645 - 868,509 782,014
Notes payable ENRE 93471 - - 93,471 93,471
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & 8517 & Eftt 3 1,242,901 311,968 - 1,554,869 1,472,611
2,439,825 1,032,613 - 3,472,438 3,303,685

2018 “E-0\F
Trade payables EER 472914 - - 472,914 472,914
Other payables and accruals HW’@ NHBEREAER 262,089 - - 262,089 262,089
Amounts due to related parties EEERTE 268,779 795,900 - 1,064,679 975932
Notes payable eSS 88,114 - - 88,114 88,114
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings hﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁf 307,455 514,426 1,112,290 1,934,171 1,541,030
1,399,351 1,310,326 1,112,290 3,821,967 3,340,079
TE-NFFR HWHEPEREERALAE 235
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

BE-Z-NWF=-A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 40. cRiEREEREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) YNRZE=NE )
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREHENSRERRLZQFER
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each ECERTESTAHETER
reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped into FrE HIRZATEANTFTERE 2 RE
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is BEAEEZETBEIBE—Z
observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting policy. E=-

31 March 2019
—E-hE=A=1+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& E-R E=R @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEx FEx FEx
Financial asset at FVTOCl &2 F{Ei A
Ht2EBEzcemEE
Unlisted equity investment FEmRERE - - 2,724 2,724
During the year ended 31 March 2019, there were no BEZZT-NF=A=1+—HILHF
transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy. T RAVEERSER 2HEBES
B
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair

value on a recurring basis

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instrument on a recurring

40. TRIAREEREMIAZ
D¥E (&)

REBHEENUQATVEHFEZ

ERMEEZLTE

TREJINLFUEREEFERRS
MTAEZAFEMERZGES X

basis are set out below: K 8 N\ B -
Relationship of
key inputs
and significant
Valuation Significant unobservable
Fair value Fair values technique and unobservable inputs to
Financial instruments hierarchy as at 31 March key inputs inputs fair value
TEHAHER
EXFABR
BAHER
RELER EXFABE ATEZEN
¢WMIA ATERR R=ZA=+-HBZATHE EX:1PN ¢ BARE Bi&
2019 2018
—2-hE —T-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FEL
Financial asset at FVTOCI Level 3 HK$2,724 n/a  Market approach Marketability The higher the
- Unlisted equity investment - by reference Discount marketability
to pricing discount, the
multiples of lower the fair
similar business value
enterprises
Minority Discount ~ The higher
the minority
discount, the
lower the fair
value
BOTHEF AR ZERR F=H 2,724 7T TER  WmRE-EBRZ2 mERPE kbt lkd i)
SREE ZRUEBRL HR% e ATE
—FEmRERE ELihat {4 gy
DERERRE  SYRBEERE

w5 ATE
i

—E-NEER WETEARREARAT 237
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 40. cRiEREEREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) YNRZE=NE )
Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair BREREMEEUANTEFERZ
value on a recurring basis (continued) STREEZAFE(E)
Recondiliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial B EERE =R AT ETE
assets on recurring basis are as follows: ZEMEBEEZHENT:
Unlisted
equity
investment
¥ L
RERE
HK$’ 000
T
As 31 March 2018 RZZE-NF=A=+—H -
Adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 RZFE—-NFWEOA—H
RNB B G ER B9 2,724
As at 31 March 2019 RZZE-—hFE=A=+—H 2,724
The management of the Group considers that the carrying AEEEEERE  HIHK A
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities BrEMmeREERCRBER
recorded at amortised cost approximate to their fair values. mMESREAFEMAS-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries
Interests in associates
Available-for-sale investment
Financial asset designated at FVTOCI

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Amount due to a related party
Notes payable

Net current liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Issued capital
Accumulated losses

Total equity

FRBEE
ERN N
NGl UNCIPA
N NI
A ERE
BEREAFHEFAREMER
etz eREE

RBEE
BN e A EREOR

RehBeEHEMR

RBAEE
H o & 30BN e R E A
FE A< BfY /B8 X B R IR
FES R 77 BUR
RN RE&

RBEEFE

BEEFHE

S
BERITHAR
ZEtEBR

A

2019
—®-h%E
HK$’000
T

87
457,982

2,724

460,793

3,018
821

3,839

16,242
9,849
1,320

93,471

120,882

(117,043)

343,750

1,166,834
(823,084)

343,750

ARABRBEMRZ M BEARRKE R
mr

2018
—E-N\F
HK$ 000
FHT

141
772,284

2,724

775,149

2,333
124

2,457

27,380
8,296
1,320

88,114

125,110

(122,653)

652,496

1,166,834
(514,338)

652,496
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. AT BARR R #EEE B K
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARFEEZHERNT :
Capital
Share Contributed redemption  Reorganisation Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
RAEE BB EAEOREE BEERE HitwE it ER @t
(note)
(i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TRT FRT FAT FAT FAL TAL
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+EMA-A 572,070 69,476 109 287,004 6856 (1,672,687 [737,172)
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ AEEBER2HEEELE
for the year - - - - - (65,558) (55,558)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 37) I — M1 B A 7] (FI7E87) 87,907 - - - - - 87,907
Loan capitalisation (note 28a and 33) &3 & At (Hi328ak%33) 196,295 - - - - - 196,295
Share issue expenses BHBETHY (5,810) - - - - - (5,810)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 Apri 2018 RZZE—N\F=A=1t—H}k
“E-\fWA—A 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 (1,728,245) (514,338)
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ AFEBER2HEBELE
for the year - - - - - (308,746) (308,746)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=ZA=1+-H 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 6,856 (2,036,991) (823,084)
Note: MsE:

Reorganisation reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of
the shares issued and the net asset value of the subsidiaries of the Company
upon a group reorganisation.
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The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include any
directors, including independent non-executive directors, and other
employees of the Company, any subsidiary or any invested entity
which the Group holds any equity interest. The Scheme became
effective on 2 November 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
All options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

Share options granted to a director or chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general mesting.

Apal&xB - BHERES ([&E
) BEERYAKELERMIEL
ERZABER2EERTREB LD
Bzt zABER2EERTEAR
B AKEEFAETARREDOTMA
MEARKEMREEBNEMNES
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Mo BRITHIERETIN HhxA
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BATRIEZA A FREZKRTTERE
hEsxsBBEEN (WETE)RN
RAMEA A HITRM10% ° % &t
ERAAER2EEEEM121E A HE
TTEBEREIREZETZ&SRMHEE
TRBEAARREMNEEHEETHRN
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The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 20
business days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a vesting period of one to three years and ends
on a date which is not later than the expiry date of the Scheme.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the highest of () the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (i) the nominal value of a share. Share options
do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31 March
2019 and 2018.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2018: Nil).

RbBrgeZ I aRhAEERA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
5Ol IR ZE Mt

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HILFE

43.

44.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 43.

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

Acquisition

1 April Financing of
2017 cashflows  a subsidiary
ZE-tE [i-vd K-8
A-H ReE il e
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TEL

MERBELE2EEYHK

TRAVNASERERDELZ AR
2 BRASKIFRSEYH -BE
APELAZABNEERSRELR
KREeRECNGEARERERT D
BrRmERYREREZAE

Deemed

Finance  contribution
costs from Loan Exchange 31 March
incurred  shareholders  capitalisation ~ realignment 2018
Ef2 —E-NF

BBRA  RRRREIE  EREAL EX#E ZA=t-H
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TEL TER

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 83517 R E fAEH 924,549 338,029 - 135,536 - - 142,916 1,541,030
Notes payable ERZE 110,863 (30,000) - 7,251 - - - 88,114
Amounts due to related parties ERBERZE 938,993 421543 46,726 97,902 (21,236) (631,876) 123,880 975,932
1,974,405 729,572 46,726 240,689 (21,236) (631,876) 266,796 2,605,076

Deemed

Finance  contribution
1 April Financing costs from Exchange 31 March
2018 cash flows incurred  shareholders Accruals  realignment 2019
—2-N\F v Bt Z2-NF

A-H RehE
HK$'000 HK$'000

HEHAE  BRRREIE Lo G EXfE =ZA=1-8
HK§ 000 HK§000 HKS 000 HK§000 HK§ 000

T TEL T TEL AL FiEn AL
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 88847 Rt £ 30 1541,030 (29.262) 147,280 - 83,771) (102,666) 1472611
Interest payables (ncluded inreceiptsin -~ FEFTFIE (ATEMGE  EHER

advance, other payables and accruals BRIEHER (W27))

(note 27) . . . . 8771 2,853 80918
Notes payable EMZE 88,114 (3.427) 8,784 - - - 93,471
Amounts due to related parties ENEERFE 975,932 (207,813) 78,680 (5,139) - (59,646) 782,014

2,605,076 240,502) 234,744 5,139 : (165165) 2429014
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 4. TEFRERH

During the year 2018, the Group acquired a subsidiary by issuance
of the Company’s shares and settled certain amount of loans due
to a related party also by issuance of the Company’s shares. Details
are set out in notes 37, 33 and 28(a) respectively.

RZE—N\F BRETARARG
BT ARRNRRGD 2 ARG RNER—%
BEFETERSE AEEKRE—
FMB AR - 5159 RIE A HI37 -33%
28(a) °
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFIsRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the published audited financial statements is set out below.

ATRAEENRZEERMBRR A
SEBRERIEMBEEZXENREE A
BEJFIEREEHE -

RESULTS 4
Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZE-hE -\ ZE—t+F ZT-RF ZZ-1f
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FEL FEL AL AT
(Restated) (Restated) (Note)
(g=5)  (EEF) i3
Turnover ¥ 284,184 195,338 60,596 95,867 54,096
Loss attributable to: ITALEEER:
- Owners of the Company —KRAREBA (268,297)  (391,630)  (324,554)  (302,581)  (207,565)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+-H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZE-hE —EF-\F ZE—+tF TR F —T-1F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET AL AL AL
(Restated) (Restated) (Note)
(gE5)  (EEF) i3
Total assets BEE 4533665 5057244 3323597 3563155 3,654,464
Total liabilities BEE (4,148,766)  (4,378,421)  (3,402,635)  (3,503,172)  (3,526,264)
384,899 678,823 (79,038) 59,983 128,200
Equity attributable to: AR AL
— Owners of the Company RAYNGIE 2PN 384,899 678,823 (79,038) 59,983 128,200

Note: For presentation purpose, these information were not restated in respect of the
change in accounting policy of investment properties.
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